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CERTAIN DEFINED TERMS 

As uscd in this document, unless the context otherwise requires, references to: 

“BAC” means brominated powdered activated carbon. 

“EGUs” means clectric gencrating units. 

“EPA” means the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. 

“ESP” means clectro-static precipitators. 

“Hg” means mercury. 

“MATS” means Mercury and Air Toxics Standards. 

“Midwest Encrgy Emissions Corp.,” “ME2C Environmental,” the “Company,” “we,” “us,” and “our” mcans Midwest Encrgy Emissions Corp. and its wholly owned, 

consolidated subsidiary, or cither or both of them, as the context may require; 

“MW” means megawatts. 

“NOX” means oxides of nitrogen. 

“PAC” means powdered activated carbon. 

“REEs” means rare carth elements. 

“SCR” means sclective catalytic reduction. 

“SEA” means the Company’s proprictary sorbent enhancing additive. 

“SOX” means oxides of sulfur. 

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains “forward-looking statements,” as defined in Section 27A of the Sccuritics Act of 1933, as amended, and Scction 21E of the 

Sccuritics Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, that are made pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of the Private Sccuritics Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and reflect our 

current expectations regarding our future growth, results of operations, cash flows, performancc and busincss prospects, and opportunitics, as well as assumptions madc by, and 

information currently available to, our management. Forward-looking statements arc generally identificd by using words such as “anticipate,” “bclicve,” “plan,” “expect, 

“intend,” “will,” and similar expressions, but these words arc not the exclusive means of identifying forward-looking statements. These statements involve known and unknown 

risks, uncertaintics and other factors that may causc actual results or events to differ matcrially from thosc anticipated in such forward-looking statements. Such risks include, 

without limitation, the following: 

the loss of major customers; 

dependence on availability and retention of key supplicrs; 

changes, or lack of changes, in environmental regulations; 

risks related to advancements in technologics; 

lack of diversification in the Company’s busincss; 

risks related to intellectual property, including the ability to protect intellectual property and the success of any patent litigation; 

compctition risks; 

changes in demand for coal as a fucl source for clectricity production;



ability to retain key personnel; 

absence of a liquid public markct for our common stock; 

share price volatility; 

the potential that dividends may never be declared; and 

other factors discussed in this report under the caption “Risk Factors”. 

Further, any forward-looking statement spcaks only as of the date on which it is made, and we undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statement to 

reflect cvents or circumstances after the date on which the statement is madc or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events. New factors cmerge from time to time, and it is 

not possible for us to predict which factors will arisc. In addition, we cannot asscss the impact of cach factor on our business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of 

factors, may causc actual results to differ matcrially from those contained in any forward-looking statements. We qualify all of the information presented in this report, and 

particularly our forward-looking statements, by these cautionary statements. 

Except to the extent required by applicable laws or rules, we undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statement, whether written or 

oral, that may be madc trom time to time, whether as a result of new information, future events, or othcrwisc.



PARTI 

Item 1. Business. 

Gencral 

We are an cnvironmental services and technologics company developing and delivering patented and proprictary solutions to the global power industry, specializing in 

mercury cmissions rcmoval technologics. 

Products and Services 

We provide mercury capture solutions driven by our patented two-part Sorbent Enhancement Additive (SEA®) process using a powerful combination of scicnce and 

enginecring. Our Icading-cdge services have becn shown to achicve mercury cmissions removal at a significantly lower cost and with less opcrational impact to coal-fired 

power plants than other used methods, while maintaining and/or increasing power plant output and preserving the markctability of byproducts for beneficial usc. We design 

systems and matcrials tailored and formulated spccifically to cach customer’s coal-fired units. Our mercury removal technologics and systems will achicve mercury removal 

levels which mect or exceed the 2012 Coal- and Oil-Fired Electric Utility Steam Generating Units National Emission Standards for Hazardous Air Pollutants, as revised, known 

as the MATS, requirements with lower cost and plant systems impacts than typical PAC or BAC sorbent injcction systems. Our products have been shown to be successful 

across a myriad of fucl and system types, tunable to any configuration, and cnvironmentally fricndly, allowing for the recycling of fly ash for bencticial usc. 

Our SEA® technology providcs total mercury control with solutions that arc based on a thorough scicntific understanding of actual and probable intcractions involved 

in mercury capture in coal-fired fluc gas. A complete understanding of the complexity of mercury-sorbent-fluc gas intcractions and chemisorption mechanisms allows for 

optimal control strategy and product formulation, resulting in cffective mercury capture. Combined with a thorough proprictary audit of the plant and its configuration and 

instrumentation, we belicve our complete science and cnginccring approach for mercury-sorbent-fluc gas intcractions are well-understood, highly predictive, and critical to 

delivering total mercury control. 

The SEA® approach to mercury capture is specifically tailored for cach application to match a customer’s coal type and boiler configuration for optimal results. Our 

two-pronged solution consists of a front-cnd additive(s) put on the coal or directly into the boiler in minimal amounts combined with a back-cnd sorbent injection solution to 

cnsure maximum mercury capture. We belicve our two-part process uscs fewer raw materials than other mercury capture systems and causcs less disruption to plant opcrations. 

We belicve our additives and sorbents, which arc designed to mect or cxeced the mercury mitigation requirements of our customers, offer supcrior performance and the lowest 

possible fecd rates when compared to other solutions on the market. Our processcs also preserve fly ash which can be sold and recycled for beneficial usc. 

In order to evaluate cach customer’s necds, we fincly tune the combustion chemistry using our technologics and spccially formulated products. In order to achieve 

optimal results, we bring mercury cmission analytics to the ficld for our demonstrations as opposed to collecting samples for laboratory analysis while our team analyzcs the 

entire plant’s performance once compliance testing has begun. As a result, we arc able to offer customers: 

Asscssment of cxisting systems and suggested improvements; 

Asscssment and guidance of mercury capture and cmissions; 

Optimal design of the injection strategy and appropriate equipment layout and installation; 

Sorbent optimization using flow modcling for a customized, low-cost plan for cach unit; 

Emission testing for mercury and other tracc metals with our mobile laboratory; and 

Ongoing rescarch toward improved technology for mercury capture and rapid-responsce scicntific support for cmission or combustion issucs as operations and 

regulations change. 

We arc in the process of developing and testing other business opportunitics which include the extracting and processing of rare carth elements (REEs) in North Amcrica, 

remediation technologics for wastewater and coal ash trom coal-fired power plants, as well as drinking water treatment technologies. Scc “Description of the Business - 

Additional Business Opportunities” bclow.



Patents and Trademarks 

Our SEA® technology was originally devclopced by the University of North Dakota’s Energy and Environmental Rescarch Center. It was tested and refincd on 

numcrous operating coal-fired EGUs, with the founder of our wholly owncd subsidiary participating with the Energy and Environmental Rescarch Center on these tests since 

2008. The Encrgy and Environmental Rescarch Center Foundation, a non-profit entity, obtained patents on this technology. Between 2009 and 2017, we maintained an 

exclusive worldwide license with respect to this patented technology, which applicd to various domestic and forcign patents and patent applications. Such formed the basis of 

our mercury control technology. On April 24, 2017, we acquired from The Encrgy and Environmental Rescarch Center Foundation all such patent rights, including all patents 

and patents pending, domestic and forcign, rclating to the foregoing technology. 

We have a patent portfolio consisting of 36 active patents throughout the U.S., Canada, Europe, and China and 2 patents pending applications. We bclicve that our 

patent position is strong in the U.S., Canada and Europe. 

Industry Background 

The market for mercury removal from power plant cmissions have largely been driven by fedcral regulations. 

On December 21, 2011, the EPA announced MATS for power plants in the U.S. The MATS rulc is intended to reduce air cmissions of hcavy metals, including 

mercury ("Hg"), from all major U.S. power plants burning coal or oil, which are the lcading source of non-natural mercury cmissions in the U.S. Existing power plants were 

granted three years (plus a potential onc-ycar extension in cascs of hardship, ruled on by state EPAs where the plant is domiciled) from April 16, 2012 to comply with the new 

cmission limits. The MATS rulc applics to EGUs that are larger than 25 MW that burn coal or oil for the purposc of generating clectricity for sale and distribution through the 

national clectric grid to the public, and includes investor-owned units, as well as units owned by the federal government, municipalitics, and coopcratives that provide clectricity 

for commercial, industrial, and residential uscs. At the time of MATS bcing promulgated, there were approximately 1,250 coal-fired EGUs affected by this rule. Many EGUs 

have since shut down as a result of regulation and compctitive disadvantages to newer or gas-fired EGUs and renewable energy sources (c.g. wind, solar). We belicve that at the 

end of 2023, there arc approximately 210 coal-fired EGUs remaining in the power market which make up the large mercury-cmissions control market into which we scll. 

The final MATS rule identifics two subcategorics of coal-fired EGUs, four subcategorics of oil-fired EGUs, and a subcategory for units that combust gasificd coal or 

solid oil (integrated gasification combine cycle or “IGCC” units) based on the design, utilization, and/or location of the various typcs of boilers at different power stations. The 

rule includes cmission standards and/or other requirements for cach subcategory. The rule sct nationwide cmission limits cstimated to reduce mercury cmissions in coal-fired 

plants by about 90%. 

In addition to the U.S. federal MATS rule, morc than 20 states currently have regulations that limit mercury cmissions and arc similar to or more restrictive than the 

MATS tule. There are several choices of pollution control technologics available to reduce mercury cmissions, but they do not all work consistently or cost-cffectively for every 

plant design or for all of the various types of coal. The most common technology employed to reduce mercury cmissions is a sorbent injection system which provides for the 

injection of PAC or BAC into the fluc-gas of an EGU after the boiler itself but in front of the ESP. Such injections have proven effective with many coals, especially at 

reduction levels of 70% or less. At required mercury reduction levels above 80%, these injection systems require substantial injection rates which often have severe operational 

issues including over-loading the ESP and rendcring the fly ash unfit for sale to concrete companics, and at timcs even causing combustion concerns with the fly ash itself. 

Mercury is also removed as a co-bencfit by special pollution control equipment installed to remove SOX and NOX. To achicve very high levels of SOX reduction, 

large, complex, and expensive (with capital costs in the hundreds of millions of dollars for a medium-sized EGU) systems called scrubbers can be installed in the plant exhaust 

system, typically just before the fluc-gas gocs up the stack for release. As a co-bencfit to their primary mission, scrubbers have been shown to remove significant quantitics of 

oxidized mercury. Mercury is typically found in two basic forms in coal: clemental and oxidized. The amount of cach form varics in any given scam of coal and is affected by 

the other natural elements (such as chlorine) which might also be present in the coal. We bclicve that about 30-40% of the mercury in the post-combustion fluc-gas exists in the 

oxidized state for power plants burning low-rank coal and about 60-70% for power plants burning high-rank coals. Mercury is found in only trace amounts in coal making it 

difficult to remove trom coal or from the fluc-gas when combusted with the coal. It is in the burning of millions of tons of coal that thesc trace amounts become problematic and 

is why MATS was promulgated.



The other major pollution control system which contributes significantly to the co-bencfits of mercury removal is an SCR system which can be installed to achicve 

high levels of removal of NOX. SCRs arc also very large and expensive systems (costing hundreds of millions of dollars in capital costs to install on a medium-size EGU) that 

are typically installed just after the fluc-gas cxits from the unit boiler. As a co-benefit, SCRs have been shown to oxidize a considerable percentage of the clemental mercury in 

many types of coal. If the EGU then has a combination of an SCR and a scrubber, we estimate that the EGU might achieve an over-all reduction of 80-85% of the mercury in 

power plants that burn high-rank coals. The exact level of mercury cmission reductions depends on the designs of these systems, the types of coal being burned and the 

opcrations of the powcr plant. 

We believe that the large majority of the coal-fired EGUs in the U.S. employ some sort of sorbent injection system to achicve the very low mercury emission levels 

required by the MATS rule, with cither the sorbent injcction system as the primary removal method or such a system being cmployed as a supplemental system to SCR/scrubber 

combinations to achicve the emission limits. 

Growth Strategy for Mercury Emissions 

North American Markets for Our Mercury Technologies 

North Amcrica is currently the largest markct for our cmissions technologics. 

In the U.S. market, our success depends, in part, on the success of demonstrations performed with utility customers and the resulting contract awards to mect the 

MATS requirements in the long-term pcriod and its opcrational performance with EGUs under contract. 

In Canada, there are the 2000 Canada-wide Standards for Mercury Emissions and the 2006 Canada-wide Standards for Mercury Emissions from Coal-Fired Electric 

Power Gencration Plants among all the provinces which was initially implemented in 2010, with caps in mercury cmissions for cach of the provinces. We bclicve that we have 

the most cffective technology for the EGUs and that we maintain a strong patent position for our mercury cmissions technologics in Canada. 

In 2010, we were awarded our first commercial contract to design, build, and install our solution on two large (670MW cach) coal units in the western part of the U.S. 

This was a multimillion-dollar, three year rencwable contract, which was awardcd as a result of a compctitive demonstration process. We invested morc than $1.4 million in the 

capital cquipment for this project. Our systems out-performed the contract guarantccs in all operational arcas during startup and testing and went into commercial opcration at 

the start of 2012. The system has successfully kept the plant in compliance since 2012. 

At the present time, there are 16 EGUs in the U.S. that currently use our SEA technologies and buy product trom us. 

Patent Enforcement 

We bclicve that a significant percentage of coal-fired power plants in thc United States have adopted and arc infringing upon our two-part Sorbent Enhancement 

Additive (SEA®) process for mercury removal trom coal-fired power plants. 

Beginning in 2019, we began to actively enforce our patent rights against unauthorized usc of our patented technologics. We initiated patent litigation in July 2019 

against four major owncrs and/or opcrators of coal-fired power plants in the United States and certain of their affiliates, along with certain other third partics in which we have 

claimed infringement of its patents rclated to its two-part process for mercury removal from coal-fired power plants. Sce Part I, Item 3. “Legal Proceedings”.



We arc in the process of pursuing various other infringers and have communicated our position to a significant number of them, which process is ongoing. Although 

additional litigation may be necessary to enforce our intellectual property rights, we vicw this as a last resort. Our goal and overall strategy is to convert infringers to our supply 

chain of sorbent products for mercury removal, or othcrwisc liccnsc our patents to them on a non-cxclusive basis in connection with their respective coal-fired power plants. 

Other Possible Markets for Our Emissions Technologies 

In May 2017, the Europcan Union and seven of its member states ratified the Minamata Convention on Mercury. The Minamata Convention on Mercury is a global 

treaty to protect human health and the environment from the adverse effects of mercury. This Convention was a result of three ycars of mecting and negotiating, after which the 

text of the Convention was approved by delegates representing approximately 140 countrics in January 2013 in Geneva. As of September 2020, 123 countrics have joined the 

Convention. It is expected that over the next few decades, this international agreement will enhance the reduction of mercury pollution from the targeted activitics responsible 

for the major release of mercury to the environment. Specific cmissions limits are being developed by the European Union, although the timing of any cnactment of such is 

uncertain. Any such regulations may Icad to additional business opportunitics for our mercury control technologics within the Europcan Union although there arc no such 

prospects at the prescnt time. 

With regard to business opportunitics in China and other Asian countrics, there currently cxists no specific mandate for mercury capture that requires specific control 

technology. Nevertheless, we arc optimistic of the prospects for mercury cmissions regulations in China and Southcast Asia in the coming ycars. 

Sales and Marketing 

Our markcting strategy is designed to grow our mercury capture solutions in the North American region by building and maintaining the reputation and trust of our 

work among its customers — specifically by carrying out successful demonstrations performed with utility customers and the resulting contract awards to mect the MATS 

requirements in the long-term period and sustaining our operational performance with EGUs under contract — and developing new, and refining our cxisting, unique cmissions 

technologics. We belicve that by offcring proven and innovative service offerings, we can attract morc customers and partners to our serviccs, creating a nctwork growth effect. 

We expect that the continuing pursuit of infringers of our patented technologics will yicld further licensing and supply agrecments. 

We believe that these targeted markcting initiatives arc the most cfficicnt and cost-cffcctive strategy to sustain the growth of both new and cxisting customers. 

Additional Business Opportunities 

We are in the process of developing and testing othcr business opportunitics which include the extracting and processing of rare carth clements (REEs) in North 

Amcrica, remediation technologics for wastewater and coal ash from coal-fired power plants, as well as drinking water treatment technologics. We belicve the market for water 

treatment is large and significantly growing both in the United States and abroad. This expansion in water treatment and wastewater remediation will allow us to support the 

growing necds of the cnergy sector, as well as provide vital technologics for considerable environmental concerns. There can be no assurance that we will be successful in the 

development of thesc technologies. 

We also maintain a license with respect to certain intellectual property owned by Dakin Holdings Ltd. consisting of a proprictary compound of materials cngincered to 

treat a boiler to improve the combustion process and thercby reduce overall cmissions, while improving boiler cfficiency during the combustion of all types of fucls at power 

plants (the “Dakin IP”). We belicve the Dakin IP can be an effective supplement to our corc business of mercury cmissions removal at coal-fired power plants and provide an 

additional revenue stream utilizing our prescnt infrastructure. However, there can be no assurance that such license will lead to any significant revenucs. For additional 

information, sec Part IIL, Item 13. “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence”.



Competition 

Our major competitors in the U.S. and Canada include companics such as Arq, Inc. (formerly Advanced Emissions Solutions, Inc.), Norit Activated Carbon, Calgon 

Carbon Corporation, and Nalco Company. Some of these companics employ large sales staff and arc well positioncd in the markct. However, in most head-to-head tests with 

compctitor products, our SEA technology has consistently performed better in mercury removal, at lower projected costs. We belicve that our SEA technology is superior to 

offcrings of our competitors and, with its highly experienced staff, we have shown that we can compete effectively in these markets. 

Raw Materials 

We buy all the raw materials necded to implement our technologics and provide uniqucly formulated products for cffective mercury removal from third-party 

supplicrs. Supplicrs of our raw matcrials include large companics that have provided materials for decades and have an international presence. When we usc PAC as onc 

component of our sorbent matcrial, we buy it in the market from large activated carbon manufacturers. We bclicve that we have cxccllent relationships with our current 

suppliers. If any of our supplicrs should become unavailable to us for any reason, there are a number of other supplicrs that we belicve can be contracted with to supply the raw 

matcrials that we need. However, the availability and price of those raw matcrials can be impacted by factors beyond our control including any price incrcases duc to inflation. 

If such supplicrs cannot mect our demand for such raw matcrials on a timely basis or at acceptable prices or if we arc unable to offsct any such increascs that might occur with 

price adjustments to our customers, such could have a negative effect on our opcrations. 

Seasonality 

Our products and services are connected to the power markct. This market has changed over recent ycars, creating a greater proportional residential load demand. With 

this shift in demand and load, we have cxpcericneed some scasonal changes in billing cycles as our current customer concentration is in the Southwestern United States, where 

many of our customers decrease capacity in such winter months. The price and availability of natural gas can also influcnce the amount of gencration provided by coal-fired 

plants. 

Employees 

We currently have 9 full-time and 2 part-time employces. Our employces are not represented by labor unions. We believe that relations with our employces arc good. 

Corporate Information 

We were originally incorporated on July 19, 1983 in the State of Utah and subscquently domesticated as a Delaware corporation in February 2007. We changed our 

name to Midwest Encrgy Emissions Corp. effective on October 7, 2011. ME2C Environmental is a trade name of Midwest Energy Emissions Corp. 

Our wholly owncd subsidiary, MES, Inc., was originally incorporated in December 2008 in the State of North Dakota. 

Effective on Junc 21, 2011, we completed a merger transaction (the “Merger”) whercby MES, Inc. (then called Midwest Encrgy Emissions Corp.) became our wholly 

owncd subsidiary. As a result of the Merger, our business began to focus on the delivery of mercury capture technologics to power plants in North America, Europe, and Asia. 

Our principal place of busincss is located at 1810 Jester Drive, Corsicana, Texas 75109, which location we have maintained for manufacturing and distribution of our 

products since 2015. As of December 2019, we relocated our corporate headquarters to such address which corporate headquarters prior thercto were maintained in Lewis 

Center, Ohio. Our telephone number is (614) 505-6115. Our corporate website address is http://www.me2ccnvironmental.com. 

Available Information 

We file with or submit to the SEC annual, quarterly and current periodic reports, proxy statements and other information mecting the informational requirements of the 

Exchange Act. Thc SEC maintains an Internet website that contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information regarding issucrs that file electronically 

with the SEC at www.sce.gov. Our SEC filings arc also available on our website atwww.me2cenvironmental.com. Information on or connected to our website is neither part of, 

nor incorporated by refercnce into, this Form 10-K or any other report filed with or furnished to the SEC.



We are a “smaller reporting company” as defined in the Exchange Act. We may take advantage of certain of the scaled disclosures available to smaller reporting 

companics until the fiscal ycar following the determination that the aggregate market price of our voting and non-voting common stock held by non-affiliates is more than $250 

million measured on the last busincss day of our sccond fiscal quarter, or our annual revenucs arc less than $100 million during the most recently completed fiscal ycar and the 

aggregate market price of our voting and non-voting common stock held by non-affiliates is more than $700 million measured on the last business day of our sccond fiscal 

quarter. 

Item 1A. Risk Factors. 

In your evaluation of the Company and our business, you should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described below, together with the information included 

elsewhere in this report and the other documents we file with the SEC. The following factors describe the risks and uncertainties that we consider significant to the operation of 

our business but should not be considered a complete listing of all potential risks and uncertainties that could adversely affect our operating results, financial position or 

liquidity. Additionally, our business is subject to the same general risks and uncertainties that affect many other companies, such as but not limited to the overall economic 

conditions, changes in laws or accounting rules, fluctuations in interest and exchange rates or other disruptions of expected economic and business conditions. 

Risks Related to Our Company 

Demand for our services and products is largely driven by coal consumption by North American electricity power generating plants. Any significant changes that diminish 

the use of coal as a primary fuel source for electricity production may adversely affect our business. 

North American coal-fired clectricity gencrating units comprise the basis of the market for our scrviccs and products. Regulations mandating or incentivizing the 

purchase of power from renewable cnergy sources (c.g., wind, solar, hydroclectric, geothermal) and/or the phasing out of coal-fired power plants could lcssen the demand for 

electricity from such plants and overall reduce the number of coal-fired clectricity gencrating units and the amount of coal burned, thereby decrcasing the demand for our 

services and products which could adverscly affect our busincss. The phasing out of coal-fired plants has alrcady had a negative effect on our rcsults of opcrations. Continued 

promulgation of these regulations in North Amcrica is affected by, among other things, politics, perccived cnvironmental impact, and public favor. 

The risks associated with technological change may make our products and services less marketable. 

The market into which we scll our products and services is characterized by periodic technological change as well as cvolving industry standards and regulations. The 

nature of such market will require that we continually improve and/or modify the performance, features, and reliability of our products and serviccs, particularly in response to 

possible compctitive offerings. Unless we are able to enhance, improve, and/or modify cxisting products in a timcly manner or to develop and introduce new products that 

incorporate new technologics or conform with cvolving industry standards and regulations, our products and services may be rendered Icss markctable. 

Our industry is highly competitive. If we are unable to compete effectively with competitors having greater resources than we do, our financial results could be adversely 

affected. 

Our major competitors in the U.S. and Canada include companics such as Arq, Inc. (formerly Advanced Emissions Solutions, Inc.), Norit Activated Carbon, Calgon 

Carbon Corporation, and Nalco Company. Thesc companics cmploy large sales staff and are well positioned in the market. Our ability to compcte successfully depends in part 

upon our ability to offer supcrior technology, including a supcrior team of sales and technical staff. If we arc unable to maintain our compctitive position, we could lose market 

share to our compctitors which is likcly to adverscly impact our financial results. 

10



We may not be able to successfully protect our intellectual property rights. 

We own a number of significant patents and patents pending covering the U.S., Canada, Europe, and China for our technology. Certain critical technology related to 

our systems and products is protected by trade sccret laws and confidentiality and licensing agreements. There can be no assurance that outstanding patents will not be 

challenged or circumvented by compctitors, or that such other protection provided by trade scerct laws and confidentiality and licensing agrecments will prove adequate. We 

cannot assure you that we will have adequate remedics against contractual counterpartics for disclosure of our trade scercts or violation of ME2C’s intellectual property rights. 

As a result, we may not be able to successfully defend our patents or protect proprictary aspects of our technology. 

We may not be succ ssful in patent litigation. 

Patent litigation, like most types of commercial litigation, can be cxpensive, time-consuming, and unpredictable. Any such litigation may require us to spend a 

substantial amount of timc and moncy and could distract management from our day-to-day opcrations. Therc is no assurance that we will be successful in any such litigation. 

Morcover, in an infringement procceding, a court may decide that onc or morc of our patents are not valid or cnforccable, or a court may rcfusc to stop the other party from 

using the technology at issuc on the grounds that our patents do not cover the technology in question. An adverse result in any litigation could put onc or morc of our patents at 

risk of being invalidated, held uncnforccable, or interpreted narrowly and could put our patent applications at risk of not issuing. 

In July 2019, we initiated patent litigation against various defendants in the U.S. District Court for the District of Delaware for infringement of certain patents which 

relate to our two-part Sorbent Enhancement Additive (SEA®) proccss for mercury removal trom coal-fired power plants. Between July 2020 and January 2021, we entered into 

agreements with cach of the four major utility defendants in this litigation, and in November 2023, we scttled such matter with two othcr major groups in the litigation. In 

addition, following a five-day trial, on March 1, 2024, a federal jury in the U.S. District Court for the District of Delaware awarded a $57.1 million patent infringement verdict 

in favor of the Company against the remaining group of defendants. Nevertheless, the ultimate success in this litigation against the remaining group of defendants still remains 

uncertain duc to other possible factors including, but not limited to, the results of any post-trial motions and applications, appeals and any collcctability issucs. 

We depend on third-party suppliers for materials needed to implement our emissions technologies; availability of raw materials and volatility in price could impact our 

results of operations. 

We buy all the raw materials necded to implement our technologics and provide uniqucly formulated products for cffective mercury removal from third-party 

supplicrs. Supplicrs of our raw matcrials include large companics that have provided materials for decades and have an international presence. When we usc PAC as onc 

component of our sorbent matcrial, we buy it in the market from large activated carbon manufacturers. We bclicve that we have cxccllent relationships with our current 

suppliers. If any of our supplicrs should become unavailable to us for any reason, there are a number of other supplicrs that we belicve can be contracted with to supply the raw 

matcrials that we need. However, the availability and price of those raw matcrials can be impacted by factors beyond our control including any price incrcases duc to inflation. 

If such supplicrs cannot mect our demand for such raw matcrials on a timely basis or at acceptable prices or if we arc unable to offsct any such increascs that might occur with 

price adjustments to our customers, such could have a negative effect on our opcrations. 

We are dependent on key customers. A significant adverse change in such relationships could adversely impact our results of operations and financial condition. 

Our customers are concentrated, so the loss of onc or more kcy customers or a material reduction in business performed for them could causc us to experience a decline 

in net sales, which could adverscly affect our financial results. In addition, there can be no assurance that such customers will not cxpericnce financial difficultics or other 

problems which could delay such customers in paying for product and services on a timely basis or at all. Any problems with such customers can be expected to have an adverse 

impact on our results of opcrations and financial condition. 
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We rely on a small number of key employees. The loss of more than one of these employees could disrupt our operations and future growth. 

We have a limited number of employccs and we depend on the continucd services and performance of our key personnel. The loss of more than onc member of this 

team could disrupt our operations and negatively impact our projected future growth. In addition, as we continuc to grow, we cannot guarantee we will continuc to attract and 

retain the personnel we necd to maintain our compctitive position. 

Our lack of diversification increases the risk of an investment in the Company. 

Our busine ignificant diversification and to date has been dependent on the success of our mercury emission control technologics. As a result, we arc impacted 

more acutely by factors affecting our industry or the regions in which we opcrate than we would if our busincss were morc diversificd, cnhancing our risk profile. While we arc 

in the process of developing new technologics, no assurance can be madc that any such new technologics currently under development will be commercialized or result in a 

significant revenuc stream. 

Low gas prices can negatively impact our results of operations; mild weather could also have corresponding effects on the demand for coal. 

Our mercury-cmissions control technologics are uscd by coal-fired power plants primarily in thc United States. At such times that gas priccs remain low for sustained 

periods of time or such prices drop substantially, power supplicrs will likely rely more upon gas-fired units rather than coal plants in mecting their power needs. Historically, 

gas prices have been volatile and are likely to remain volatile in the future duc to numerous factors beyond our control. Although markct prices for natural gas have recently 

remained relatively high, we cannot predict when such priccs may decline and remain low for an extended period of time which, in such event, will likcly cause a weaker 

demand for our products. In addition, mild wintcr months in the U.S. will also result in less of a power demand which will also be expected to negatively impact our operations. 

Our insurance coverage may not be adequate to protect us from all business risks. 

We may be subject, in the ordinary course of business, to claims resulting from products liability, employment-related actions, class action lawsuits, accidents, acts of 

God, and other actions against us. Additionally, our insurance covcrage may be insufficicnt to cover all cxisting and future claims against us. We may be compelled to expend 

significant time and resources defending any such claims, and a loss that is uninsured or which cxcceds policy limits may require us to pay substantial amounts, which could 

adverscly affect our financial condition and opcrating results. 

Litigation resulting from disputes with customers may result in substantial costs, liabilities, and loss of revenues. 

From time to time, we may be faced with disputcs with our customers over the provisions of supply contracts relating to, among other things, pricing, quality, quantity, 

and the existence of specificd conditions beyond our or our customers’ control that impact performance obligations under the particular contract. In the cvent such disputcs 

occur, we may not be able to resolve thosc disputcs in a satisfactory manner which could have a material adverse cffcct on our busincss, financial condition, and results of 

opcrations. 

Revenues are generated under contracts or blanket purchase orders that must be renegotiated periodically. 

Substantially all of our revenucs are generated under contracts or blanket purchase orders which cxpire periodically or which must be frequently rencgotiated, 

extended, or replaced. Whether these contracts or blankct purchasc orders are renegotiated, extended, or replaced is often subject to factors that may be beyond our control, 

including an extremely competitive marketplace for the services we offer. We cannot assure you that the costs and pricing of our scrvices can remain compctitive in the 

marketplace or that we will be successful in renegotiating our contracts and blanket purchasc orders. 

Business interruptions could significantly disrupt our operations and could have a material adverse impact on us. 

Our operations, and those of our supplicrs, and othcr contractors and consultants, could be subject to gcopolitical cvents, natural disasters, power and other 

infrastructure failures or shortages, public health pandemics or cpidcmics, and other natural or man-made disasters or busincss interruptions. In the cvent of any of thesc 

occurrences, we may expcricncce disruptions to our business including, but not limited to, the availability of raw materials and equipment, disruptions to our workforce, or to our 

busincss relationships with other third partics. Any such disruptions or losses we incur could have a matcrial adverse effect on our financial results and our ability to conduct 

busincss as expected. 
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Any disruptions to our information technology systems or breaches of our network security could interrupt our operations, compromise our reputation, and expose us to 

and costly response measures and could have a material adverse effect on our business operations. 

We rely on information technology systems, including third-party hosted servers and cloud-bascd servers, to kecp business, financial, and corporate records, 

communicate internally and cxtcrnally, and operate other critical functions. If any of our internal systems or the systems of our third-party providers are compromised duc to 

computer virus, unauthorized access, malware, and the like, then sensitive documents could be exposed or deleted, and our ability to conduct business could be impaired. Cyber 

incidents can result from deliberate attacks or unintentional cvents. These incidents can include, but arc not limited to, unauthorized access to our systems, computer viruscs or 

other malicious code, denial of service attacks, malware, ransomwarc, phishing, human crror, or other cvents that result in sccurity breaches or give risc to the manipulation or 

loss of scnsitive information or asscts. Cyber incidents can be caused by various persons or groups, including disgruntled cmployecs and vendors, activists, organized crime 

groups, and state-sponsored and individual hackers. Cyber incidents can also be caused or aggravated by natural cvents, such as carthquakes, floods, fires, power loss, and 

telecommunications failurcs. The risk of cybersecurity breach has gencrally increased as the number, intensity, and sophistication of attempted attacks from around the world 

has inercased. While we have certain cyber sccurity procedures in placc, given the cvolving nature of thesc threats, there can be no assurance that we will not suffer material 

losses in the future duc to cyber-attacks. 

Maintaining and improving our financial controls may divert management’s attention and increase costs. 

We are subject to the requirements of the Exchange Act, including the requirements of the Sarbancs-Oxlcy Act of 2002. The requirements of these rules and 

regulations have increased in recent ycars, causing an increasc in legal and financial compliance costs, and make some activitics more difficult, time-consuming, or costly and 

may also place unduc strain on our personnel, systems, and resources. Such rulcs and regulations require, among other things, that we maintain cffcctive disclosure controls and 

procedures and internal control over financial reporting. This can be difficult to do. In this regard, our management concluded our internal control over financial reporting was 

not cffective as of December 31, 2023. While certain remedial actions have been completed, we continuc to actively plan for and implement additional control procedures to 

improve our overall control environment and expect these cfforts to continuc throughout the rest of 2024 and beyond. As a result of this and similar activitics, management’s 

attention may be diverted from other business concerns, which could have a material adverse cffect on our busincss, financial condition, and results of operations. Further, 

investors could lose confidence in our financial reports, and our stock price may be adversely affected, if our internal controls over financial reporting continuc to be found not 

to be effective by management or if we make disclosure of existing or potential significant deficicncics or matcrial weaknesscs in those controls in the future. Relatedly, if we 

fail to remediate any such matcrial weakness in the futurc, we may not be able to accurately report our financial condition or results of operations. 

Liquidity risk could impair our ability to fund operations and jeopardize our financial condition. 

Liquidity, i.c., ready acccss to funds, is csscntial to our busincss. Our access to external sources of financing could be impaired by factors that are specific to us or 

others that may be outside of our control. As a result, such liquidity risk could impair our ability to funds operations and jcopardize our financial condition. 

Discretion in the use of available funds 

Management has discretion concerning the usc of our available funds, as well as the timing of their expenditure. As a result, investors will be relying on the judgment 

of management for the application of our available funds. The results and the effectiveness of the application of the available funds arc uncertain. If the available funds are not 

applicd effectively, the results of our operations may suffer. Stockholders may not agree with the manner in which management chooscs to allocate and spend our available 

funds. 
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Risks Related to Regulation 

Our business focus has predominantly been mercury removal from power plant emissions, which is driven primarily by regulation. Any significant changes in mercury and 

other emission regulation could have a major impact on us. 

Our business focus has predominantly been mercury reduction in fluc gas cmissions trom large coal-fired utility and industrial boilers. This markct is primarily based 

on air pollution control regulations and cnforcement of thosc regulations. Any significant change in these regulations would have a dramatic effect on us, especially in North 

America (and primarily the United States) which is currently the largest market for our technology. Spccifically, on February 16, 2012, thc EPA published the final Coal- and 

Oil-Fired Electric Utility Steam Gencrating Units National Emission Standards for Hazardous Air Pollutants, known as MATS, which scts forth federal mercury cmission 

levels. Power plants were required to begin complying with MATS on April 16, 2015, unless they were granted a onc-ycar cxtcnsion to begin to comply. 

The MATS regulation has been subject to legal challenge since being cnacted. In Junc 2015, the U.S. Supreme Court, inMichigan v. EPA, held that the EPA 

unreasonably failed to consider costs in determining whether it is “appropriate and neccessary" to regulate hazardous air pollutants, including mercury, from power plants, but 

Ictt the rule in place. In April 2016, the EPA issucd a supplemental finding in response to the Michigan decision and found that, after a considcration of costs, it remained 

appropriate and neccessary to regulate such cmissions trom coal- and oil-fired power plants. In May 2020, the EPA, then under the Trump Administration, reversed the 

determination, finding that, after weighing the costs of compliance against certain benefits of the regulation, the 2016 supplemental finding was crroncous but left the MATS 

rule in place. Upon taking office, the Biden Administration in January 2021 directed the EPA to review the previous Administration’s actions on various environmental matters 

including the withdrawal of the May 2020 "appropriate and necessary” determination, for conformity with Biden Administration environmental policy. On February 9, 2022, the 

EPA proposed to revoke the May 2020 finding and reaffirm thc EPA’s 2016 finding. On February 15, 2023, thc EPA reaffirmed that it remains appropriate and neccessary to 

regulate hazardous air pollutants, including mercury, from power plants aftcr considcring cost, and revoked the May 2020 finding. On April 3, 2023, the EPA issued a proposal 

to strengthen and update MATS. This proposal is currently pending. Nevertheless, legal challenges may continuc in the future with respect to the MATS regulation. 

Uncertainty and lack of international environmental regulations could restrict our ability to attract business in Europe and Asia 

In order to cxpand our business internationally, we would cxpcect that morc restrictive international cnvironmental regulations will need to be cnacted for the purpose of mercury 

control from power plant cmissions in Europe and in China and other Asian countrics. In May 2017, the Europcan Union and seven of its member states ratificd the Minamata 

Convention on Mercury. The Minamata Convention on Mercury is a global treaty to protect human health and the cnvironment from the adverse cffccts of mercury. Specific 

cmissions limits are being developed by the European Union, although the timing of any enactment of such is uncertain. With regard to busincss opportunitics in China and 

other Asian countrics, there currently exists no specific mandate for mercury capture that requires specific control technology, such as we offer. Any delay in cnactment of 

more restrictive international regulations or the lack thercof could restrict any cfforts and our ability to attract busincss in Europe and Asia for our cmissions technologics. 

Risks Associated with our Common Stock 

There is a limited trading market for our common stock. 

Our common stock is currently traded in Canada on the TSX Venture Exchange (““TSXV”) under the symbol “MEEC” and is quoted in the United States on the 

OTCQB opcrated by OTC Markcts Group Inc. under the symbol “MEEC”. Historically, the trading volume for our common stock has been limited. Accordingly, investors 

may find it morc difficult to buy and scll our sharcs. These factors may have an adverse impact on the trading and price of our common stock. 
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Our stock price may be volatile, which could result in substantial losses to investors and litigation. 

In addition to changes to market prices bascd on our results of opcrations and the factors discussed elsewhere in this ‘Risk Factors" scction, the market price of and 

trading volume for our common stock may change for a varicty of other reasons, not neccessarily related to our actual operating performance. The capital markets have 

expericneed cxtreme volatility that has often been unrclated to the opcrating performance of particular companics. These broad market fluctuations may adverscly affect the 

trading price of our common stock. In addition, the average daily trading volume of the sccuritics of small companics can be very low, which may contribute to future volatility. 

Factors that could causc the market price of our common stock to fluctuate significantly include: 

the results of operating and financial performance and prospects of other companics in our industry; 

strategic actions by us or our competitors, such as acquisitions or restructurings; 

announcements of innovations, increased service capabilitics, new or terminated customers, or new, amended, or terminated contracts by our compctitors; 

the public’s rcaction to our press releases, other public announcements, and filings with the SEC; 

lack of sccuritics analyst coverage or spcculation in the press or investment community about us or markct opportunitics in our industry or about the market for 

coal-fired power in the U.S. or abroad; 

changes in government policics in the United States and in forcign countrics, if we are able to derive significant business outside of the United States; 

1 changes in carnings cstimates or recommendations by sccuritics or rescarch analysts who track our common stock or failure of our actual results of opcrations to 

mcct those cxpcctations; 

market and industry perecption of our success, or lack thercof, in pursuing our growth strategy; 

changes in accounting standards, policics, guidance, interpretations, or principles; 

any lawsuit involving us, our services, or our products; 

arrival and departure of kcy personnel; 

salcs of common stock by us, our investors or members of our management team; and 

changes in gencral market, economic and political conditions in the United States, and global cconomics or financial markets, including those resulting from 

natural or man-made disasters. 

Any of these factors, as well as broader market and industry factors, may result in large and sudden changes in the trading volume of our common stock and could 

scriously harm the market pricc of our common stock, regardless of our opcrating performance. This may prevent you from being able to scll your sharcs at or above the price 

you paid for your shares of our common stock, if at all. In addition, following pcriods of volatility in the market price of a company’s sccuritics, stockholders often institute 

sccuritics class action litigation against that company. Our involvement in any class action suit or other legal proceeding could divert our scnior management’s attention and 

could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of opcrations, and prospects. 

Shares eligible for future sale may have adverse effects on our share price. 

Sales of substantial amounts of shares or the perception that such sales could occur may adversely affect the prevailing market price for our shares. We may issuc 

additional sharcs in subscquent public offcrings or private placements to make new investments or for other purposes. We are not required to offer any such sharcs to existing 

sharcholders on a preemptive basis. Thereforc, it may not be possible for cxisting sharcholders to participate in such future share issuances, which may dilute the cxisting 

sharcholders’ interests in us. 

We do not anticipate paying any cash dividends on our capital stock in the foreseeable future. 

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our capital stock, and we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends on our capital stock in the foresccable 

future. Any determination to pay dividends in the future will be at the discretion of our Board of Directors. Accordingly, capital appreciation, if any, of our common stock may 

be your sole source of gain for the foresccable future. 

We may need additional capital in the future, which may not be available on acceptable terms or at all, to continue investing in our business and to finance acquisitions 

and other strategic transactions. 

We may necd additional capital in the futurc, which may not be available on acceptable terms or at all, to among other things, continuc investing in our business, 

pursuc acquisitions and other strategic transactions. Future financings may involve the issuance of debt, cquity, and/or sccuritics convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable 

for our cquity sccuritics. Thesc financings may not be available to us on commercially reasonable terms or at all if and when we require funding. If we are able to consummate 

such financings, the trading price of our common stock could be adverscly affected and/or the terms of such financings may adverscly affect the intercsts of our cxisting 

stockholders. Any failurc to obtain additional working capital, if and when required, could have a material adverse effect on our busincss and financial condition and may result 

in a decline in our stock price. 
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Our officers and directors are entitled to indemnification from us for liabilities under our articles of incorporation, which could be costly to us and may discourage the 

exercise of stockholder rights. 

Our articles of incorporation provide that we possess and may exercise all powers of indemnification of our officers, directors, employces, agents, and other persons 

and our bylaws also require us to indemnify our officers and directors as permitted under the provisions of the Delaware Gencral Corporate Law. The foregoing indemnification 

obligations could result in our incurring substantial expenditures to cover the cost of scttlement or damage awards against directors and officers. These provisions and resultant 

costs may also discourage us trom bringing a lawsuit against directors, officers, and employces for breaches of their fiduciary dutics, and may similarly discourage the filing of 

derivative litigation by our stockholders against our dircctors, officers, and cmployccs cven though such actions, if successful, might othcrwisc benefit the Company and 

stockholders. 

Our common stock is currently characterized as a "penny stock" under SEC rules. It may be more difficult to resell securities classified as "penny stock." 

Our common stock is currently characterized as a “penny stock" under applicable SEC rules (gencrally defined as non-cxchange traded stock with a per-share price 

below $5.00). These rules impose additional sales practice requirements on broker-dealers that recommend the purchase or sale of penny stocks to persons other than those who 

qualify as "cstablished customers" or “accredited investors." For example, broker-dealers must determine the appropriateness for non-qualifying persons of investments in 

penny stocks. Broker-dealcrs must also provide, prior to a transaction in a penny stock not otherwise cxempt from the rules, a standardized risk disclosure document that 

provides information about penny stocks and the risks in the penny stock market. The broker-dealer also must provide the customer with current bid and offer quotations for the 

penny stock, disclose the compensation of the broker-dealer and its salesperson in the transaction, furnish monthly account statements showing the markct valuc of cach penny 

stock held in the customer’s account, provide a spccial written determination that the penny stock is a suitable investment for the purchaser, and reccive the purchascr’s written 

agrecment to the transaction. 

USS. legal remedics available to an investor in "penny stocks" may include the following: 

1 Ifa “penny stock" is sold to the investor in violation of the requirements listed above, or other federal or states sccuritics laws, the investor may be able to cancel 

the purchase and reccive a rcfund of the investment. 

1 Ifa “penny stock” is sold to the investor in a fraudulent manner, the investor may be able to suc the persons and firms that committed the fraud for damages. 

These requirements may have the effect of reducing the level of trading activity, if any, in the secondary markct for a security that becomes subject to the penny stock 

rules. The additional burdens imposed upon broker-dealers by such requirements may discourage broker-dealers from cffecting transactions in our sccuritics, which could 

severcly limit the market price and liquidity of our sccuritics. These requirements may restrict the ability of broker-dealers to scll our common stock and may affect your ability 

to resell our common stock. 

Many brokerage firms will discourage or refrain from recommending investments in penny stocks. Most institutional investors will not invest in penny stocks. In 

addition, many individual investors will not invest in penny stocks duc, among other rcasons, to the incrcascd financial risk gencrally associated with thesc investments. 

For these reasons, penny stocks may have a limited market and, consequently, limited liquidity. We can give no assurance at what time, if ever, our common stock will 

not be classificd as a “penny stock" in the future. 

If we cannot continue to satisfy the continued listing requirements, of the TSXYV, our securities may be delisted from the TSXV, which could negatively impact the price of 

our securities and your ability to sell them. 

On July 20, 2023, our sharcs of common stock began to trade on the TSXV. We cannot assure you that our sccuritics will continuc to be listed on the TSXV. In order 

to maintain our listing on the TSXV, we will be required to comply with certain rules of the TSXV, including those regarding a minimum public float, and various additional 

requirements. We may not be able to continuc to satisfy thesc requirements and applicable rules. If we are unable to satisfy the TSXV critcria for maintaining our listing, our 

sccuritics could be subject to delisting from the TSXV. 
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If the TSXV subscquently dclists our sccuritics from trading, we could face significant conscquenccs, including: 

a limited availability for markct quotations for our sccuritics; 

reduced liquidity with respect to our sccuritics; 

limited amount of news and analyst coverage; and 

a decreased ability to issuc additional sccuritics or obtain additional financing in the future. 

Potential future sales pursuant to Rule 144, 

Many of the sharcs of our common stock presently held by management and others are “restricted sccuritics" as that term is defined in Rule 144, promulgated under 

the United States Sccuritics Act of 1933, as amended. Under Rule 144, a person (or persons whose shares arc aggregated) who has satisficd a certain holding period, may, 

under certain circumstances, scll such shares or a portion of such shares. Such holding periods have alrcady been satisficd in many instances. Therefore, actual sales or the 

prospect of salcs of such shares under Rule 144 in the future may depress the price of our common stock. 

Except as required by the Federal Securitics Law, we do not undertake any obligation to release publicly any revisions to any forward-looking statements to reflect 

events or circumstances after the date of this report or for any other reason. 

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments. 

Weare a smaller reporting company as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Sccuritics Exchange Act of 1934 and arc not required to provide the information under this item. 

Item 1C. Cybersecurity. 

Cybersecurity Risk Management and Strategy 

We recognize the importance of asscssing, identifying, and managing matcrial risks associated with cybersccurity threats, as such term is defincd in Item 106(a) of 

Regulation S-K. Based on our small size and limited number of employecs and consultants, we rcly extensively on information technology systems managed by third party 

major service providers to sccurcly process, storc and transmit our data to conduct business. Our cmployccs and consultants utilize end point security tools, such as firewalls 

and anti-virus protection, to protect our data. To date, we have not engaged any asscssors, consultants, auditors or other third partics in connection with our risk management 

system or processcs. 

In connection with our usc of third-party scrviccs providers, we have certain processes in place to oversee and identify cybersccurity risks from threats and incidents. 

We are not aware of having cxpcricnced any material cybersccurity incidents. We arc not aware of any cxistent cybersecurity threats that would materially affect, or arc 

reasonably likely to materially affect the Company, including our business strategy, results of operations or financial condition. However, there could be cybersecurity threats 

or incidents in the future that may adverscly affect our busincss. For morc information, pleasc refer to Part I, Item 1A. “Risk Factors” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 
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Our overall strategy in combatting known cybersccurity risks includes a varicty of individual tactics, including: 

the usc of antivirus software, virtual private networks, cmail sccurity, as well as other softwarc to prevent and detect data intrusions. 

the deployment of updates and patches as they are available and maintaining the current versions of major softwarc to reducc the exposure to vulncrabilitics. 

the revicw of the sccurity procedurcs used by third partics that may host or otherwisc have access to the Company’s data. 

if necessary, the usc of third-party sccurity experts if and when an incident is detected. 

Governance 

Our Vice President of Opcrations oversccs risks of cybersecurity threats and will report, as necessary, to the Board of Directors, including promptly reporting any 

cybersccurity incidents that may pose a significant risk to us. To date, our Vice President of Operations has not had to report any cybersecurity incidents to the Board. Our Vicc 

President of Opcrations has over 25 ycars of cxpcericnce in the industry and has overscen the day-to-day opcrations of the Company for over 10 ycars. Among other things, he 

has been responsible for day-to-day access management, network sccurity and data protection solutions. Our Board of Directors has oversight of management to climinate 

cybersccurity risks. 

Item 2. Properties. 

We lease a warchousc in Corsicana, Texas consisting of approximately 20,000 square fect which we usc for manufacturing and distribution of our products. As of 

December 2019, we rclocated our corporate headquarters to such location which corporate headquarters prior thercto were maintained in Lewis Center, Ohio. Such Icasc in 

Corsicana, Texas expires March 31, 2029. 

Item 3. Legal Proceedings. 

On July 17, 2019, we initiated patent litigation against certain defendants in the U.S. District Court for the District of Delaware for infringement of certain United 

States patents owned by the Company. These patents relate to our two-part Sorbent Enhancement Additive (SEA®) process for mercury removal from coal-fired power plants. 

Named as defendants in the lawsuit were (i) Vistra Encrgy Corp., AEP Gencration Resources Inc., NRG Energy, Inc., Talen Energy Corporation, and certain of their respective 

affiliated entitics, all of which are owners and/or operators of coal-fired power plants in the United States, and (ii) Arthur J. Gallagher & Co., DTE REF Holdings, LLC, CERT 

Coal Holdings LLC, Chem-Mod LLC, and certain of their respective affiliated cntitics, and additional named and unnamed defendants, all of which opcrate or are involved in 

opcrations of coal facilitics in the United States. In the lawsuit, we allege that cach of the defendants has willfully infringed certain of our patents and sccks unspccified 

damages, attorncys’ fecs, costs and injunctive rclicf. 

During 2020, cach of the four major utility defendants in the above action filed petitions for Inter Partes Review with the United Statcs Patent and Trademark Office, 

sccking to invalidate certain claims to the patents which are subjcct to the litigation. 

Between July 2020 and January 2021, we entered into agreements with cach of the four major utility defendants in such action which included certain monctary 

arrangements and pursuant to which we have dismissed all claims brought against cach of them and their affiliates, and such partics have withdrawn trom petitions for Inter 

Partes Review with the United States Patent and Trademark Office. Such agreements cntcred into with such partics provide cach of them and their affiliates with a non-cxclusive 

license to certain Company patents (rclated to the Company’s two-part Sorbent Enhancement Additive (SEA®) process) for usc in connection with such partics’ coal-fired 

powcr plants. 
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Subscquently, and as a result of certain rulings by the Court, certain defendants were dismissed in the action, certain defendants were added and certain originally 

named defendants remained in the action. A jury trial was scheduled for November 13, 2023. 

On November 9, 2023, we entered into a confidential binding term shcct with Arthur J. Gallagher & Co., and various of its affiliated cntitics (collectively “AJG”), and 

DTE Energy Resources LLC and various of its affiliated entitics (collectively “DTE”), to resolve the patent litigation. Pursuant to the term shect, all claims and counterclaims 

asserted by the partics in such patent litigation have been dismissed with prejudicc, although such term shect docs not affect any other claim brought against the remaining 

CERT defendants. The financial aspects of the term shcct remain confidential pursuant to its terms. 

In addition, cffective November 9, 2023, Alistar Enterprises, LLC (“Alistar”), one of the remaining CERT defendants, cntcred into a settlement agreement with us 

which provided that all claims and counterclaims asscrted in the action between the Company and Alistar be dismissed with prejudice. The financial terms of such settlement 

remain confidential. 

Effective as of December 28, 2023, and in connection with the term sheet described above, the Company, along with its wholly-owned subsidiary, MES, Inc., and (a) 

Chem-Mod LLC (“Chem-Mod”), (b) Arthur J. Gallagher & Co. and AJG Coal, LLC, and (c) DTE Energy Co. and DTE Energy Resources, LLC, entered into a paid license of 

U.S. Patent No. 8,168,147, U.S. Patent No. 10,343,114, U.S. Patent No. 10,589,225, U.S. Patent No. 10,596,517 and U.S. Patent No. 10,668,430 and their forcign equivalents 

and related patent applications and patents, which liccnscs the use of refined coal or the Chcm-Mod Solution in conjunction with activated carbon. This license applics to 

Chem-Mod and certain of its licensees, sub-licensccs, and their customers, for the remaining term of such patents. By its terms, the license docs not cover the usc of activated 

carbon with coal that is not cither refined coal or coal made by or for use with the Chem-Mod Solution in a manner authorized by the license. The partics to the license have 

routually released all claims that any past usc of the Chem-Mod Solution in conncction with the production or usc of refined coal with activated carbon by entitics other than the 

CERT defendants and their customers infringes the asserted patents and related intellectual property, and all claims that could have been brought challenging the validity of 

such patents. 

The remaining CERT defendants and their customers (for activitics relating to the CERT defendants) are not included within the scope of the license. The Court 

rescheduled the trial as to the claims against the remaining CERT defendants to begin on February 26, 2024. 

Following a five-day trial, on March 1, 2024, a federal jury in the U.S. District Court for the District of Delaware awarded a $57.1 million patent infringement verdict in 

favor of the Company against the remaining group of CERT defendants. Such group of affiliated defendants included multiple limited liability companics with refined coal 

industry opcrations, including CERT Operations II LLC, CERT Opcrations [V LLC, CERT Operations V LLC, and CERT Operations RCB LLC. The jury determincd that these 

defendants infringed our patented technologics for mercury emissions and were liable for willful infringement, along with inducing and contributory infringement. 

Other than the foregoing, there are no material pending legal proceedings to which we are a party or to which any of our property is subject, nor arc there any such 

proceedings known to be contemplated by governmental authoritics. None of our dircctors, officers, or affiliates are involved in a proceeding adverse to our busincss or has a 

material interest adverse to our business. 

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures. 

Not applicable. 
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PART IT 

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities. 

Market 

Our shares of common stock are quoted on the OTCQB operated by OTC Markets Group Inc. under the symbol “MEEC”, and began trading on the TSX Venture 

Exchange (“TSXV”) on July 10, 2023 also under the symbol “MEEC”. As it relates to the OTCQB, over-the-counter market quotations reflect inter-dealer prices, without retail 

mark-up, mark-down or commission and may not necessarily represent actual transactions. 

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities 

None. 

Share Repurchase Program 

We purchased no equity sccuritics during ycar ended December 31, 2023, and have no program in place at the present time to buy any cquity sccuritics in the future. 

Holders 

As of April 16, 2024, there were 396 stockholders of record of our common stock. The number of holders of record docs not include holders who arc bencticial 

owners, but whose sccuritics are held in “nomince” or “street name” by brokers or other nominccs. The approximate number of bencficial stockholders is estimated to be 2,900. 

Dividends 

We have not declared any cash dividends to date and have no current plan to do so in the foresccable future. 

Transfer Agent 

The transfer agent and registrar for our common stock is Transfer Online, Inc., 512 SE Salmon Street, Portland, Oregon 97214. The co-transfer agent and registrar for 

our common stock in Canada is TSX Trust Company at its officcs in Toronto, Ontario, Canada. 

Equity Compensation Plan Information 

The following table shows information, as of December 31, 2023, with respect to cach cquity compensation plan under which our common stock is authorized for 

issuance: 

Number of 

securities 

remaining 

Number of available for 

securities to Weighted- future issuance 

be issued upon average under equity 

exercise of exercise price of compensation 

outstanding outstanding plans (excluding 

options, options, securities 

warrants and warrants and reflected in 

rights rights column (a)) 

Plan Category (a) (b) (c) 

Equity compensation plans approved by security holders, terminated 4,775,000 $ 0.75 0 

Equity compensation plans approved by security holders 12,262,500 $ 0.45 1,635,587 

Total 17,037,500 $ 0.53 1,635,587 
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Item 6. [Reserved]. 

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations. 

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of opcrations together with our consolidated financial statements and the 

related notes appearing clscwherc in this report. Some of the information contained in this discussion and analysis or sct forth elsewhere in this report, including information 

with respect to our plans and strategy for our business, includes forward-looking statements that involve risks, uncertaintics, and assumptions. You should read the “Forward- 

Looking Statements” and “Risk Factors” scctions of this report for a discussion of important factors that could causc actual results to differ materially from the results described 

in or implicd by the forward-looking statements contained in the following discussion and analysis. 

Overview 

Business Operations 

We are an cnvironmental services and technologics company developing and delivering patented and proprictary solutions to the global power industry, specializing in 

mercury cmissions removal technologics. We provide mercury capture solutions driven by our patented two-part Sorbent Enhancement Additive (“SEA”) technology. Our 

leading-edge serviccs have been shown to achicve mercury emissions removal at a significantly lower cost and with less opcrational impact to coal-fired power plants than 

currently uscd methods, while maintaining and/or increasing power plant output and preserving the marketability of byproducts for bencticial usc. 

North Amcrica is currently the largest market for our technology. The U.S. EPA MATS (Mercury and Air Toxics Standards) rule requires that all coal and oil-fired 

power plants in the U.S., larger than 25MWs, must limit mercury in its cmissions to bclow certain specified levels, according to the type of coal burned. Power plants were 

required to begin complying with MATS on April 16, 2015, unless they were granted a onc-ycar cxtcnsion to begin to comply. MATS, along with many state and provincial 

regulations, form the basis for mercury cmission capture at coal fired plants across North America. Under the MATS regulation, Electric Gencrating Units (“EGUs”) are 

required to remove about 90% of the mercury from their emissions. We bclicve that we continuc to meet the requirements of the industry as a whole and our technologies have 

becn shown to achieve mercury removal levels compliant with all state, provincial and federal regulations at a lower cost and with less plant impact than our compctition. 

As is typical in this market, we are paid by the EGU based on how much of our material is injected to achieve the needed level of mercury removal. Our current clicnts 

pay us as material is delivered to their facilitics. Clicnts will usc our material whencver their EGUs opcrate, although EGUs are not always in operation. EGUs typically may 

not be in operation duc to maintenance reasons or when the price of power in the markct is less than their cost to produce power. Thus, our revenucs from EGU clients will not 

typically be a consistent stream but will fluctuate, especially scasonally as the market demand for power fluctuates. 

The MATS regulation has been subject to legal challenge since being cnacted. In Junc 2015, the U.S. Supreme Court, inMichigan v. EPA, held that the EPA 

unreasonably failed to consider costs in determining whether it is “appropriate and neccessary” to regulate hazardous air pollutants, including mercury, from power plants, but 

Ictt the rule in place. In April 2016, the EPA issued a supplemental finding in response to the Michigan decision and found that, after considcration of costs, it remained 

appropriate and necessary to regulate such cmissions from coal- and oil-fired power plants. In May 2020, the EPA, then under the Trump Administration, reversed the 

determination, finding that, after weighing the costs of compliance against certain benefits of the regulation, the 2016 supplemental finding was crroncous but left the MATS 

rule in place. Upon taking officc, the Biden Administration in January 2021 directed the EPA to review the previous Administration’s actions on various cnvironmental matters 

including the withdrawal of the May 2020 “appropriate and necessary” determination, for conformity with Biden Administration cnvironmental policy. On February 9, 2022, 

the EPA proposed to revoke the May 2020 finding and reaffirm the EPA’s 2016 finding. On February 15, 2023, the EPA reaffirmed that it remains appropriate and necessary to 

regulate hazardous air pollutants, including mercury, from power plants after considcring cost, and revoked the May 2020 finding. On April 3, 2023, the EPA issucd a proposal 

to strengthen and update MATS. This proposal is currently pending. Nevertheless, legal challenges may continuc in the future with respect to the MATS regulation. 

We remain focused on positioning the Company for short and long-term growth, including focusing on cxccution at our customer sitcs and on continual operation 

improvement. We continuc to make refinements to all of our kcy products, as we continuc to focus on the customer and its operations. As part of our overall strategy, we have a 

number of initiatives which we believe will be able to drive our short and long-term growth. 
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We continuc to seck new utility customers for our technology in order for them to mect the MATS requirements as well as maintaining our contractual arrangements 

with our current customers. We also scck license agreements with utilitics while allowing them to use our SEA® tcchnologics without our supply of products. Since 2021, we 

have announccd various supply contract cxtcnsions, new supply business and license agreements. We cxpcect additional supply busincss and liccnsc agreements during 2024 and 

thereatter, including converting certain licensccs to supply customers. 

Patent Litigation 

On July 17, 2019, we initiated patent litigation against certain defendants in the U.S. District Court for the District of Delaware for infringement of certain United 

States patents owned by the Company. These patents relate to our two-part Sorbent Enhancement Additive (SEA ®) process for mercury removal from coal-fired power plants. 

Between July 2020 and January 2021, we entered into agreements with cach of the four major utility defendants in such action which included certain monctary arrangements 

and pursuant to which we have dismisscd all claims brought against cach of them and their affiliates, and such partics have withdrawn from petitions for Inter Partes Review 

with the United States Patent and Trademark Office. Such agreements entered into with such partics provide cach of them and their affiliates with a non-cxclusive license to 

certain Company patents (rclated to the Company’s two-part Sorbent Enhancement Additive (SEA®) process) for usc in connection with such partics’ coal-fired power plants. 

In May 2021, a U.S. District Court Magistrate Judge issued a report and recommendation which was approved by the District Judge in September 2021 that such 

litigation should be permitted to procecd against various refined coal defendants named in the action directly involved in the refined coal program and opcrations, and be 

dismissed against certain other defendants, primarily affiliated cntitics of the refined coal operators. 

Prior to the jury trial which was scheduled for November 13, 2023, we entered into a confidential binding term shect on November 9, 2023 with Arthur J. Gallagher & 

Co., and various of its affiliated entitics (collectively “AJG”), and DTE Energy Resources LLC and various of its affiliated entitics (collectively “DTE”), to resolve the patent 

litigation against these two groups of defendants. Pursuant to the term shcct, all claims and counterclaims asserted by the partics in such patent litigation have been dismissed 

with prejudice, although such term shect docs not affect any other claim brought against the remaining CERT defendants. The financial aspects of the term shcect remain 

confidential pursuant to its terms. 

In addition, cffective November 9, 2023, Alistar Enterprises, LLC (“Alistar”), one of the remaining CERT defendants, cntcred into a settlement agreement with us 

which provided that all claims and counterclaims asscrted in the action between the Company and Alistar be dismissed with prejudice. The financial terms of such settlement 

remain confidential. 

Effective as of December 28, 2023, and in connection with the term shect described above, we entered into a paid license with (a) Chem-Mod LLC (“Chem-Mod”), (b) 

Arthur J. Gallagher & Co. and AJG Coal, LLC, and (c) DTE Energy Co. and DTE Energy Resources, LLC, relating to U.S. Patent No. 8,168,147, U.S. Patent No. 10,343,114, 

U.S. Patent No. 10,589,225, U.S. Patent No. 10,596,517 and U.S. Patent No. 10,668,430 and their forcign cquivalents and related patent applications and patents, which licenses 

the usc of refined coal or the Chem-Mod Solution in conjunction with activated carbon. This license applics to Chem-Mod and certain of its licensees, sub-licensces, and their 

customers, for the remaining term of such patents. By its terms, the license docs not cover the usc of activated carbon with coal that is not cither refined coal or coal made by or 

for usc with the Chcm-Mod Solution in a manner authorized by the license. The partics to the license have mutually released all claims that any past usc of the Chem-Mod 

Solution in connection with the production or usc of refined coal with activated carbon by entitics other than thc CERT defendants and their customers infringes the asserted 

patents and related intellectual property, and all claims that could have been brought challenging the validity of such patents. 

The remaining CERT defendants and their customers (for activities relating to thc CERT defendants) were not included within the scope of the license. The Court 

rescheduled the trial as to the claims against the remaining CERT defendants to begin on February 26, 2024. 
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Following a five-day trial, on March 1, 2024, a federal jury in the U.S. District Court for the District of Delaware awarded a $57.1 million patent infringement verdict in 

favor of the Company against the remaining group of CERT defendants. Such group of affiliated defendants included multiple limited liability companics with refined coal 

industry opcrations, including CERT Operations II LLC, CERT Opcrations [V LLC, CERT Operations V LLC, and CERT Operations RCB LLC. The jury determincd that these 

defendants infringed our patented technologics for mercury emissions and were liable for willful infringement, along with inducing and contributory infringement. 

AC Midwest Energy 

On February 27, 2024, we entered into an Unsecured Debt Restructuring Agreement (the “Debt Restructuring Agreement”) with AC Midwest Energy LLC (“AC 

Midwest”) which replaced and superseded the Unsecured Note Financing Agreement and Reaffirmation of Guaranty entered into with AC Midwest on February 25, 2019, as 

amended on October 28, 2022 (the “Unsecured Note Financing Agreement”). 

Pursuant to the Unsccured Note Financing Agrcement, prior to February 27, 2024, AC Midwest was the holder of an unsccured note with a principal amount 

outstanding of $13,154,931 which was issucd on February 25, 2019 (the “Unsccured Note”). The Unsccured Note was scheduled to mature on August 25, 2025 and bears a 

zero cash interest rate. Pursuant to the Unsecured Note Financing Agreement, AC Midwest was also entitled to a “non-recourse” profit participation preference cqual to 

$17,654,931 (the “Profit Share”). Prior to maturity, the outstanding principal, as well as the Profit Share, were to be paid from Net Litigation Proceeds from claims relating to 
the Company’s intellectual property, Nct Revenuc Share, Adjusted Free Cash Flow and Equity Offcring Net Proceeds (as such terms are defined in the Unsccured Note 

Financing Agreement). Any remaining principal balance duc on the Unsccured Note would be duc and payable in full on the maturity date. The Profit Share, however, if not 

paid in full on or before the maturity date would remain subject to the Unsecured Note Financing Agreement until full and final payment. 

Prior to February 27, 2024, there also remained outstanding to AC Midwest a principal balance of $271,686 duc under a sccurcd noted of the Company issucd on 

November 29, 2016 in the original principal amount of $9,646,686, which had a maturity date of August 25, 2025 (the “Sccured Note”). The Sccured Note had been issued 

pursuant to an Amended and Restated Financing Agreement and Reatfirmation of Guaranty, dated as of November 1, 2016, as amended on Junc 14, 2018, September 12, 2019, 

February 25, 2019 and October 28, 2022 (the “Restated Financing Agreement”). 

Pursuant to the Debt Restructuring Agreement, on February 27, 2024, we (i) paid AC Midwest $9,040,000 as a reduction in the outstanding principal balance of the 

Unsecured Note, (ii) issued to AC Midwest a new unsecured replacement note representing the remaining outstanding principal balance of the Unsccured Note in the principal 

amount of $4,114,931 (the “New Note”), and (iii) paid AC Midwest $275,626 representing the remaining principal balance under the Sccured Note of $271,686 plus intercst of 

$3,939. In addition, within 30 days, we would cither facilitate the private salc to third partics of certain shares of common stock of the Company held by AC Midwest for a 
purchase price of no less than $960,000, which amount shall be applicd as a credit against the principal balance duc on the New Note dollar for dollar, or pay AC Midwest 

$960,000 toward the principal balance duc on the New Note. The private sale of shares for the purchasc price of $960,000 was completed on March 11, 2024. Any remaining 

principal balance on the New Note shall bc duc August 27, 2024 (the “Maturity Date”), which is six months trom February 27, 2024. Until repaid in full, the New Note shall 

accruc interest at a rate equal to SOFR plus 2.0% per annum. The New Note completely replaces and supersedes the Unsecured Note, which shall be of no further force and 

effect. 

In addition, pursuant to the Debt Restructuring Agreement, AC Midwest shall be cntitled to a profit participation preference cqual to $7,900,000 (the “Restructured 

Profit Share”). The Restructured Profit Share is “non-recourse” and shall only be paid trom Net Litigation Procceds (as defined in the Debt Restructuring Agreement) from 

claims relating to our intellectual property. Following the reccipt of any Net Litigation Proceeds, we shall prepay any remaining principal balance of the New Note and pay the 

Restructured Profit Share in an amount cqual to 75.0% of such Net Litigation Proceeds until the New Note and Restructured Profit Share have been paid in full. The 

Restructured Profit Share complctcly replaces and superscdes the terms and conditions of the Profit Share in the amount of $17,654,931 provided for in the Unsecured Note 

Financing Agreement, which shall be of no further force and cffect. The Restructured Profit Share, if not paid in full on or before the Maturity Date, shall remain subjcct to the 

terms of the Debt Restructuring Agreement. 
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In addition to facilitating the private sale to third partics as described above, AC Midwest has granted the Company the cxclusive right until December 31, 2024 to 

facilitate the salc of all or a portion of the remaining balancc of the shares of common stock of the Company held by AC Midwest, which proceeds above a certain amount will 

be applicd as a credit against the Restructured Profit Share dollar for dollar. 

As a result of the repayment of the remaining principal balance under the Secured Debt, we and AC Midwest exccuted a Satisfaction and Discharge of Secured Debt 

confirming the canccllation of the Secured Note and that all of the obligations under the Restated Financing Agreement have been fully satisficd and discharged. 

Other Developments 

We are in the process of developing and testing othcr business opportunitics which include the extracting and processing of rare carth clements (REEs) in North 

Amcrica, remediation technologics for wastewater and coal ash from coal-fired power plants, as well as drinking water treatment technologics. We belicve the market for water 

treatment is large and significantly growing both in the United States and abroad. This expansion in water treatment and wastewater remediation will allow us to support the 

growing necds of the cnergy sector, as well as provide vital technologics for considerable environmental concerns. There can be no assurance that we will be successful in the 

development of thesc technologies. 

On April 20, 2023, we received conditional approval to list our shares of common stock on the TSX Venture Exchange (the “TSX-V”). The listing was subject to our 

fulfilling certain requirements of the TSX-V in accordance with the terms of the conditional approval Ictter. On July 6, 2023, the Company reccived final approval from the 

TSX-V. The Company’s shares commenccd trading on the TSX-V on July 10, 2023 under the symbol “MEEC”. The Company is listed as a Ticr 1 Industrial, Technology, or 

Life Sciences Issuer. 

Although we face a host of challenges and risks, we arc optimistic about our future and expect our business opcrations to grow. 

Results of Operations 

Revenues 

We generated revenues of approximately $17,940,000 and $21,620,000 for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Such revenucs were primarily 

derived from sorbent product sales which were approximately $17,093,000 and $20,644,000 for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The deercase in 

revenues from the prior ycar was primarily duc to the decreased supply demands from our customer basc in 2023 compared to the prior year along with the closure of onc of our 

customer’s power plants which occurred at the end of 2022, offsct by an increasc in licensing revenucs for 2023 compared to 2022. 

Licensing revenues were approximatcly $703,000 and $651,000 for the years ended 2023 and 2022, respectively. Such increase was primarily duc to greater licensing 

revenues gencrated in 2023 from onc of our customers compared to 2022. 

Equipment sales and other revenucs for the ycars ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 were approximately $145,000 and $325,000, respectively. This decrease was 

primarily duc to inercased equipment rental revenucs in 2022 compared to 2023, partially offsct by a decrease in demonstrations and consulting revenuc. 

Costs and Expenses 

Total costs and expenses were approximately $39,171,000 and $23,184,000 during the ycars ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The increase in total 

costs and cxpenscs from the prior ycar is primarily attributable to an increasc on the loss on change in fair valuc of the profit share and the increase general and administrative 

expenses primarily attributable to an increasc in legal fecs during 2023 in conncction with the patent litigation. This was partially offsct by a decrease in cost of sales duc 

primarily to decreased sales in 2023, and a decrease in interest expense. 

Cost of sales were approximately $12,172,000 and $14,599,000 for the ycars ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The decrease in cost of sales is 

primarily attributable to decreased sales. 
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Sclling, gencral and administrative expenses were approximatcly $14,207,000 and $6,117,000 for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Such 

increase was primarily duc to inercased legal fees incurred in 2023 in conncction with our patent litigation including the settlement reached with various defendants in the fourth 

quarter of 2023. 

Interest expense related to the financing of capital was approximately $1,362,000 and $1,570,000 for the ycars cnded December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The 

approximate breakdown of interest expense for the years cnded December 31, 2023 and 2022 is as follows: 

Year Ended 

December 31, 

2023 2022 

Interest expense on notes payable $ 24,000 $ 53,000 

Other interest 2,000 - 

Additional interest upon conversion of notcs - - 

Amortization of discount of notcs payable 1,336,000 1,438,000 

Amortization of debt issuance costs 79,000 

$ 1,362,000 $ 1,570,000 

Loss on change in fair valuc of profit share liability were approximately $11,210,000 and $802,000 for the ycars ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The 

change in 2023 is primarily attributed to changes in the projected timing of the repayment of the profit share (Sce Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements). 

Net Income (Loss) 

For the year ended December 31, 2023, we had a net income of approximately $5,904,000 compared to a net loss $1,581,000 for the year ended December 31, 2022. 

Such change was primarily duc to income from Icgal claims of $27,608,000 in 2023 compared to no such similar income in 2022, offset by reduced sales in our core business 

opcrations in 2023, the incrcasc in total costs and expenses and the loss on change in fair valuc of the profit share liability recognized in 2023. 

Liquidity and Capital Resource 

We had approximately $20,940,000 in cash on our balance sheet at December 31, 2023 compared to approximately $1,504,000 at December 31, 2022. Total current 

assets were approximately $24,152,000 and total current liabilities were approximately $2,183,000 at December 31, 2023, resulting in working capital of approximatcly 

$21,969,000. This compares to total current assets of approximatcly $5,540,000 and total current liabilities were approximately $3,225,000 at December 31, 2022, resulting in 
working capital of approximately $2,315,000. Our accumulated deficit was approximatcly $62.8 million at December 31, 2023 compared to $68.7 million at December 31, 

2022. Additionally, we had a net income in the amount of approximately $5,904,000 and cash provided by opcrating activitics of approximatcly $19,226,000 for the ycar ended 

December 31, 2023. 

Total Assets 

Total asscts were approximatcly $27,468,000 at December 31, 2023 versus approximately $9,340,000 at December 31, 2022. The change in total asscts is primarily 

attributable to an approximate $19,436,000 increase in cash. This was offsct by decreascs in accounts receivable, inventory, right of use assct, property and equipment and 

intellectual property. 
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Total Liabilities 

Total liabilitics were approximately $28,250,000 at December 31, 2023 versus approximatcly $16,757,000 at December 31, 2022. The increase is primarily duc to an 

increasc in the value of the unsecured note and profit share liability offsct by a decrease in accounts payable and accrucd expenses. 

Operating Activities 

Net cash provided by opcrating activitics consists of nct income (loss), adjusted by certain non-cash items, and changes in operating asscts and Liabilitics. 

Net cash provided by opcrating activities was approximatcly $19,226,000 for the ycar ended December 31, 2023 compared to net cash provided by opcrating activitics 

of approximately $71,000 for the ycar ended December 31, 2022. The inercase in net cash provided by operating activities was primarily duc to the following: (i) net income of 

$5.9 million in 2023 compared to a $1.6 million loss in 2022; (ii) loss on change in fair valuc of profit share of $11.2 million in 2023 compared to $802,000 in 2022; and (iii) 
certain othcr changes in operating asscts and liabilitics including accounts reccivablc, accounts payable and accrucd liabilitics, accrucd salarics and opcrating lcasc liability. 

Investing Activities 

The Company had no investing activitics for the year ended December 31, 2023. Net cash uscd in investing activitics was approximately $11,000 for the ycar cnded 

December 31, 2022 duc to the purchase of property and equipment. 

Financing Activities 

Net cash provided by financing activitics was approximatcly $210,000 for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to net cash provided by financing activitics of 

approximately $56,000 for the ycar cnded December 31, 2022. During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company reccived approximately $210,000 from the exercise of 

stock options comparcd to approximately $58,000 reccived from the exercise of stock options during the ycar ended December 31, 2022. 

Critical Accounting Policics and Estimates 

Our discussion and analysis of our financial conditions and results of opcration are based upon the accompanying consolidated financial statements which have been 

prepared in accordance with the gencrally accepted accounting principles in the U.S. The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires that we make cstimates 

and assumptions that affcct the amounts reported in asscts, liabilitics, revenues, and cxpenscs. We usc estimates in accounting for, among other items, profit share liability, 

revenue recognition, allowance for credit losscs, stock-bascd compensation, income tax provisions, cxcess and obsolete inventory reserve and impairment of intellectual 

property. We basc these cstimatcs on various assumptions and cxpericnce that we bclicve to be reasonable. The following critical accounting policics arc thosc that arc 

important to the presentation of our financial condition and results of operations. These policics require management’s most difficult, complex, or subjective judgments, often 

as a result of the need to make estimates of matters that are inherently uncertain. 

The following critical accounting policies affect our more significant cstimatcs used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements. In particular, our most 

critical accounting policics relate to the recognition of revenuc, and the valuation of our stock-based compensation. 

Inventory 

Inventorics are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable valuc. Inventorics arc periodically cvaluated to identify obsolete or otherwise impaired products and are 

written off whcn management determines usage is not probable. We estimate the balance of excess and obsolcte inventory by analyzing inventory by age using last uscd and 

original purchase date and cxisting sales pipclinc for which the inventory could be uscd. In the past we have expericnced a minimal valuation allowance on our inventory. 
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Property and Equipment 

Property and cquipment arc stated at cost. When retired or otherwise disposed, the related carrying value and accumulated depreciation are removed from the 

respective accounts and the net difference less any amount realized from disposition, is reflected in carnings. For consolidated financial statement purposes, cquipment is 

recorded at cost and depreciated using the straight-line method over their estimated uscful lives of 2 to 5 ycars. Leaschold improvements are recorded at cost and depreciated 

using the straight-line method over the life of the lcasc. 

Expenditures for repairs and maintenance which do not materially extend the uscful lives of property and cquipment are charged to operations. Management revicws 

the carrying value of our property and cquipment for impairment on an annual basis. 

Intellectual Property 

Intellectual property is recorded at cost and amortized over its cstimated uscful life of 15 ycars. Management revicws intellectual property for impairment when cvents 

or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount of an assct or assct group may not be recoverable. In the event that impairment indicators exist, a further analysis is 

performed and if the sum of the cxpected undiscounted future cash flows resulting from the usc of the assct or assct group is Icss than the carrying amount of the assct or assct 

group, an impairment loss equal to the cxcess of the assct or assct group’s carrying valuc over its fair valuc is recorded. Management considers historical expcricnee and all 

available information at the time the cstimatcs of future cash flows are madc, however, the actual cash values that could be realized may differ from thosc that are estimated. 

Recoverability of Long-Lived and Intangible Assets 

Long-lived asscts and certain identifiable intangibles held and uscd by us arc reviewed for impairment whenever cvents or changes in circumstances indicate that the 

carrying amount of an assct may not be recoverable. Events rclating to recoverability may include significant unfavorable changes in busincss conditions, recurring losscs or a 

forecasted inability to achieve break-even operating results over an extended period. We cvaluate the recoverability of long-lived asscts bascd upon forccasted undiscounted 

cash flows. Should impairment in valuc be indicated, the carrying valuc of the long-lived and/or intangible asscts would be adjusted, based on estimates of future undiscounted 

cash flows. 

We have evaluated the recoverability of the carrying valuc of the Company’s property and equipment, right of usc assct and intellectual property. After completing the 

asscssment of property and cquipment for impairment as of December 31, 2023, the Company recorded an impairment expense related to property and cquipment of $219,707 

which is included in Impairment loss in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations and comprchensive income (loss). The expense was primarily related to the 

impairment of construction in process costs where management determined that the undiscounted future cash flows werc not sufficient to recover the carrying valuc of these 

asscts over the cstimated uscful life. No impairment charges were recognized for the ycar cnded December 31, 2022. 

Stock-Based Compensation 

We account for stock-bascd compensation awards in accordance with the provisions of ASC 718, Compensation-Stock Compensation, which requires cquity-based 

compensation, be reflected in the consolidated financial statements over the pcriod of scrvice which is typically the vesting pcriod bascd on the estimated fair valuc of the 

awards. 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

The fair valuc hicrarchy has three Icvels based on the inputs used to determine fair valuc, which are as follows: 

Level | - Unadjusted quoted priccs available in active markets for the identical asscts or liabilitics at the measurement date. 

Level 2 - Unadjusted quoted priccs in active markets for similar asscts or liabilitics, or unadjusted quoted prices for identical or similar asscts or liabilitics in 

markets that are not active, or inputs other than quoted prices that arc observable for the assct or liability. 

Level 3 - Unobservable inputs that cannot be corroborated by observable market data and reflect the use of significant management judgment. These values arc 

generally determined using pricing models for which the assumptions utilize managcement’s cstimatcs of market participant assumptions. 
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The fair value hicrarchy requircs the usc of observable market data when available. In instances where the inputs uscd to measure fair valuc fall into different levels of 

the fair valuc hicrarchy, the fair valuc measurement has been determined based on the lowest level input significant to the fair value measurement in its cntircty. Our asscssment 

of the significance of a particular item to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment, including the considcration of inputs specific to the assct or liability. 

Revenue Recognition 

We record revenuc in accordance with ASC 606, Revenuc from Contracts with Customers. The core principle of the guidance is that an entity should recognize revenuc 

to depict the transfer of promised goods or scrviccs to customers in an amount that reflects the considcration to which the cntity expects to be entitled in exchange for those 

goods or services. To achieve that core principle, an cntity should apply the following steps: 

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer. 

Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract. 

Step 3: Determine the transaction price. 

Stcp 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performancc obligations in the contract. 

Step 5: Recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfics a performance obligation. 

Revenue is recognized when we satisfy our performance obligation under the contract by transferring the promiscd product to its customer that obtains control of the 

product. A performance obligation is a promisc in a contract to transfer a distinct product to a customer. Most of our contracts have a single performance obligation, as the 

promisc to transfer products or scrviccs is not scparatcly identifiable from other promiscs in the contract and, therefore, not distinct. 

Revenue is measured as the amount of considcration we expect to reccive in cxchange for transferring products. As such, revenuc is recorded net of rcturns, allowances, 

customer discounts, and incentives. Salcs and other taxcs are excluded from revenues. Invoiced shipping and handling costs are included in revenue. 

Disaggregation of Revenue 

We gencrated revenue for the ycars ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 by (i) delivering product to our commercial customers, (ii) completing and commissioning 

equipment projects at commercial customer sitcs and (iii) performing demonstrations of our technology at customers with the intent of cntcring into long term supply 

agreements based on the performance of our products during thc demonstrations and (iv) licensing our technology to customers. 

Revenue for product salcs is recognized at the point of time in which the customer obtains control of the product, at the time title passes to the customer upon shipment 

or delivery of the product based on the applicable shipping terms. 

Revenue for equipment sales is recognized upon commissioning and customer acceptance of the installed equipment per the terms of the purchasc contract. 

Revenue for demonstrations and consulting services is recognized when performance obligations contained in the contract have been completed, typically the 

complction of necessary ficld work and the delivery of any required analysis per the terms of the agrecment. 

Income Taxes 

We follow the assct and liability method of accounting for income taxcs under FASB ASC 740, “Income Taxcs.” Deferred tax asscts and liabilitics are recognized for 

the cstimated future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of cxisting asscts and liabilitics and their respective tax 

bases. Deferred income tax asscts and liabilitics are measured using cnacted tax ratcs expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are 

expected to be recovered or settled. The cffect on deferred tax asscts and liabilitics of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that included the cnactment 

datc. Valuation allowances are established, when necessary, to reducc deferred tax asscts to the amount expected to be realized. 
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FASB ASC 740 prescribes a recognition threshold and a measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of tax positions taken or 

expected to be taken in a tax return. For those bencfits to be recognized, a tax position must be morc likely than not to be sustained upon cxamination by taxing authoritics. 

There were no unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2023 and 2022. We are currently not aware of any issucs under review that could result in significant payments, 

accruals or material deviation from our position. We arc no longer subject to tax examinations by tax authoritics for ycars prior to 2019. 

We may be subject to potential cxamination by federal, state, and city taxing authoritics in the arcas of income taxcs. These potential cxaminations may include 

questioning the timing and amount of deductions, the ncxus of income among various tax jurisdictions, and compliance with federal, state, and city tax laws. Our management 

docs not expect that the total amount of unrecognizcd tax bencfits will materially change over the next twelve months. 

Recently Issued Accounting Standards 

Management docs not believe that any recently issued, but not yet cffective accounting pronouncements, when adopted, will have a material cffect on the 

accompanying consolidated financial statements. 

Non-GAAP Financial Measures 

Adjusted EBITDA 

To supplement our consolidated financial statements presented in accordance with GAAP and to provide investors with additional information regarding our financial 

results, we consider and are including herein Adjusted EBITDA, a Non-GAAP financial measure. We view Adjusted EBITDA as an opcrating performance measure and, as 

such, we belicve that the GAAP financial mcasure most directly comparable to it is nct income (loss). We define Adjusted EBITDA as net income adjusted for interest and 

financing fecs, income taxes, depreciation, amortization, stock-based compensation, and other non-cash income and expenses. We bclicve that Adjusted EBITDA provides us 

an important measure of opcrating performance becausc it allows management, investors, debtholdcrs and others to cvaluate and compare ongoing opcrating results from period 

to period by removing the impact of our assct basc, any assct disposals or impairments, stock based compensation and other non-cash income and expense items associated with 

our reliance on issuing cquity-linked debt sccuritics to fund our working capital. 

Our usc of Adjusted EBITDA has limitations as an analytical tool, and this mcasure should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for an analysis of our 

results as reported under GAAP, as the excluded items may have significant cffects on our operating results and financial condition. Additionally, our mcasure of Adjusted 

EBITDA may differ from other companics’ measure of Adjusted EBITDA. When cvaluating our performance, Adjusted EBITDA should be considered with other financial 

performance measures, including various cash flow metrics, net income and other GAAP results. In the future, we may disclose different non-GAAP financial measures in 

order to help our investors and others more meaningfully evaluate and compare our future results of opcrations to our previously reported results of operations. 

The following table shows our reconciliation of nct loss to adjusted EBITDA for the ycar December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively: 

For the Year Ended 

December 31, December 31, 

2023 2022 
(In thousands) 

Net income (loss) $ 5,904 $ (1,581) 

Non-GAAP adjustments: 

Depreciation and amortization 259 555 

Interest 1,362 1,570 

Change in fair valuc of profit share 11,210 802 

Impairment of property and equipment 220 - 

Income Taxcs 473 18 

Stock based compensation 520 672 

Adjusted EBITDA $ 19,948 $ 2,036 

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk. 

We are a smaller reporting company as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Sccuritics Exchange Act of 1934 and arc not required to provide the information under this item. 
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To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of 

Midwest Energy Emissions Corp. 

Opinion on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance shcct of Midwest Encrgy Emissions Corp (the Company) as of December 31, 2023, and the related consolidated 

statements of operations, stockholders’ deficit, and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2023, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the financial statements). 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2023, and the results of its 

opcrations and its cash flows for the ycar cnded December 31, 2023, in conformity with accounting principles gencrally accepted in the United Statcs of America. The 

consolidated financial statements as of and for the ycar ended December 31, 2022, were audited by another auditor. Their auditor’s report, dated May 12, 2023, contained an 

unqualificd opinion on thosc financial statements. 

Basis for Opinion 

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our 

audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with 

respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal sccuritics laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Sccuritics and Exchange Commission and the 

PCAOB. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of thc PCAOB. Thosc standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain rcasonable assurance about 

whcther the financial statements are free of matcrial misstatement, whether duc to crror or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an 

audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audit, we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, but not for the 

purpose of cxpressing an opinion on the effectivencss of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. 

Our audit included performing proccdurcs to assess the risks of matcrial misstatement of the financial statements, whether duc to crror or fraud, and performing procedures that 

respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosurcs in the financial statements. Our audit also included 

evaluating the accounting principles uscd and significant estimates made by management, as well as cvaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We bclicve 

that our audit provides a rcasonable basis for our opinion. 

Critical Audit Matters 

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that were communicated or required to be 

communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, 

subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters docs not alter in any way our opinion on the financial statements, taken as a whole, and we arc 

not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing scparatc opinions on the critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosurcs to which thcy relate. 

Valuation of Profit Share Liability 

Description of the Matter 

As of December 31, 2023, the Company recorded a profit share liability of $13.8 million. As discussed in Note 7 to the financial statements, the Company entered into a profit 

participation preference (the “profit share liability”) with AC Midwest Encrgy LLC as part of its Unsccured Note Financing Agreement. The Company calculates the fair valuc 

of the profit share liability on a quarterly basis utilizing management estimates. The fair valuc of the profit share liability is calculated using a discounted cash flow modcl based 

on estimated future cash payments. The fair valuc of the profit share liability is determined on a Level 3 measurement. 

Inherent in the valuation of Level 3 financial instruments arc certain significant judgments and estimates related to forecasted cash flows. Changcs in these assumptions can 

significantly impact the valuation of the profit share liability and the gain or loss on change in fair valuc that is recorded. This required a high degree of auditor judgment and an 

increased extent of cffort when performing audit procedures to cvaluate the reasonableness of management’s forccasted cash flows. 

How We Addressed the Critical Audit Matter in Our Audit 

To test the profit share liability calculation as of December 31, 2023, we performed the following procedures among others, by which we: 

Obtained an understanding of the Company’s internal controls and the process to determine the fair valuc of the profit share liability. 

Obtained and reviewed the Unsecured Note Agrecment and evaluated management’s asscssment of the terms of the agreement. 

Evaluated the reasonableness of management’s cash flow forecast by comparing the forecast to historical data and trends and current cvents influencing expected 

futurc cash flows, including the timing of expected cash flows. 

Utilized our internal valuation specialist to assist in the assessment of the appropriateness of the valuation methodology and the reasonableness of the discount rate 

applicd, including considcration of conditions affecting markct rates. 

Performed sensitivity analyses to evaluate the potential impact of fluctuations in the underlying assumptions of the fair valuc of the profit share liability. 

Tested the clerical accuracy of the profit share liability calculation. 

/s/ Rosenberg Rich Baker Berman, P.A. 

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2023. 

Somersct, New Jerscy 

April 16, 2024



Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

To the Stockholders and Board of Dircctors of 

Midwest Energy Emissions Corp. 

Opinion on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance shect of Midwest Encrgy Emissions Corp. (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2022, and the related consolidated 

statements of opcrations, stockholders’ deficit and cash flows for the ycar then ended, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In our 

opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2022 and the results of its opcrations and its 

cash flows for the ycar then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Basis for Opinion 

These financial statements arc the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to cxpress an opinion on the Company's financial statements based on our 

audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) ("PCAOB") and are required to be independent with 

respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal sccuritics laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Sccuritics and Exchange Commission and the 

PCAOB. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 

whcther the financial statements are free of matcrial misstatement, whether duc to crror or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an 

audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audit we are required to obtain an understanding of intcrnal control over financial reporting but not for the 

purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. 

Our audit included performing proccdurcs to assess the risks of matcrial misstatement of the financial statements, whether duc to crror or fraud, and performing procedures that 

respond to those risks. Such procedures included cxamining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audit also included 

evaluating the accounting principles uscd and significant estimates made by management, as well as cvaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We bclicve 

that our audit provides a rcasonablc basis for our opinion. 

/s/ Marcum LLP 

Marcum LLP 

We have served as the Company’s auditor from 2018 (such date takes into account the acquisition Rotenberg Mcril Solomon Bertiger & Guttilla, P.C. by Marcum LLP effective 

February 1, 2022) to September 11, 2023. 

Saddle Brook, NJ 

May 12, 2023



MIDWEST ENERGY EMISSIONS CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

ASSETS 

Current assets 

Cash 

Accounts reccivable 

Inventory 

Prepaid expenses and other asscts 

Total current assets 

Sccurity deposits 

Property and cquipment, net 

Right of use assct - operating lease 

Intellectual property, net 

Total assets 

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT) 

Current liabilities 

Accounts payable and accrued cxpenscs (related party $107,454 and $25,000 at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, 

respectively) 

Income tax payable 

Current portion of opcrating lcasc liability 

Customer credits 

Accrucd salaries 

Total current liabilities 

Operating lcasc liability 

Sccured note payable, nct of discount — related party 

Unsccured note payable, net of discount and issuance costs — related party 

Profit share liability — related party 

Total liabilities 

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

Stockholders’ deficit 

Preferred stock, $0.001 par valuc: 2,000,000 sharcs authorized, no sharcs issued 

Common stock, $0.001 par valuc; 150,000,000 shares authorized 94,360,107 and 93,087,796 sharcs issucd and outstanding as of 

December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 respectively. 

Additional paid-in capital 

Accumulated deficit 

Total stockholders’ deficit 

Total liabilities and stockholders’ deficit 

See accompanying notes to these consolidated financial statements. 
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December 31, December 31, 

2023 2022 

20,939,762 $ 1,504,225 
2,233,211 2,777,607 
795,164 991,131 
183,621 267,393 

24,151,758 5,540,356 

5,175 10,175 
1,595,958 1,828,592 

10,639 51,563 
1,704,063 1,909,597 

27,467,593 $ 9,340,283 

1,558,450 $ 2,946,835 
437,821 - 
11,157 43,262 

167,000 167,000 
8,936 67,478 

2,183,364 3,224,575 

- 11,289 
239,466 219,962 

10,979,723 9,663,056 
14,847,937 3,638,260 
28,250,490 16,757,142 

94,360 93,088 
61,917,119 61,188,442 
(62,794,376) (68,698,389) 

(782,897) (7,416,859) 

27,467,593 $ 9,340,283 



Revenues 

Cost of sales 

Gross profit 

Operating expenses: 

Impairment loss 

MIDWEST ENERGY EMISSIONS CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 

Sclling, general and administrative cxpenscs (related party of $554,410 and $300,000) 

Total operating expenses 

Operating (loss) income 

Other income (expense) 

Income from legal claims 

Intcrest cxpense (related party of $1,360,623 and $1,570,446) 

Loss on change in fair valuc of profit share 

Loss on investment 

Total other income (cxpensc) 

Income (loss) before provision for income taxes 

Provision for income taxes 

Net income (loss) 

Basie & Diluted income (loss) per share: 

Basic net income (loss) per share 

Diluted net income (loss) per share 

Weighted average common shares outstanding: 

Basic 

Diluted 

See accompanying notes to these consolidated financial statements. 
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For the Year For the Year 

Ended Ended 

December 31, December 31, 

2023 2022 

$ 17,940,370 $ 21,620,153 

12,172,374 14,598,745 

5,767,996 7,021,408 

219,707 - 

14,206,761 6,117,421 

14,426 468 6,117,421 

(8,658,472) 903,987 

27,607,776 - 

(1,362,401) (1,570,446) 

(11,209,677) (801,517) 

- (95,500) 

15,035,698 (2,467,463) 

6,377,226 (1,563,476) 

(473,213) (18,000) 

$ 5,904,013 $ (1,581,476) 

$ 0.06 §$ (0.02) 

$ 0.06 §$ (0.02) 

94,171,695 90,025,209 

97,452,397 90,025,209



MIDWEST ENERGY EMISSIONS CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT 

Year Ended December 31, 2023 

Additional 

Common Stock Paid-in Accumulated 

Shares Par Value Capital Deficit Total 

Balance — January 1, 2023 93,087,796 $ 93,088 $ 61,188,442 $ (68,698,389) $ (7,416,859) 

Share bascd compensation expense - - 520,449 - 520,449 

Stock issued for cashless exercise of options 422,311 422 (422) - - 

Stock issued for cash exercise of options 850,000 850 208,650 - 209,500 

Net income - - - 5,904,013 5,904,013 

Balance December 31, 2023 94,360,107 $ 94,360 $ 61,917,119 $ (62,794,376) $ (782,897) 
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MIDWEST ENERGY EMISSIONS CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT 

Year Ended December 31, 2022 

Additional 

Common Stock Paid-in Accumulated 

Shares Par Value Capital Deficit Total 

Balance — January 1, 2022 89,115,951 $ 89,116 §$ 56,788,321 $ (67,116,913) $ (10,239,476) 

Share bascd compensation expense - - 282,367 - 282,367 

Stock issued for cashless exercise of options 5,181 5 (5) - - 

Stock issued for consulting services 500,000 500 159,500 - 160,000 

Issuance of stock for compensation 3,250,000 3,250 122,417 - 125,667 

Capital contribution for gain on extinguishment of secured note 

payable — related party - - 54,983 - 54,983 

Capital contribution for gain on extinguishment of unsecured note 

payable — related party - - 3,722,743 - 3,722,743 

Issuance of stock for exercise of options 216,664 217 58,116 58,333 

Net loss - - - (1,581,476) (1,581,476) 

Balance December 31, 2022 93,087,796 $ 93,088 $ 61,188,442 $ (68,698,389) $ (7,416,859) 

See accompanying notes to these consolidated financial statements. 
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MIDWEST ENERGY EMISSIONS CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

Cash flows from operating activities 

Net income (loss) 

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities: 

Stock-based compensation — amortization of prepaid serviccs 

Stock-based compensation 

Amortization of discount of notcs payable 

Amortization of debt issuance costs 

Amortization of right to use asscts 

Amortization of patent rights 

Depreciation cxpensc 

Impairment loss 

Loss on change in fair valuc of profit share 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities 

Accounts receivable 

Inventory 

Prepaid expenses and other asscts 

Accrued salaries 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilitics 

Operating lcasc liability 

Net cash provided by operating activities 

Cash flows from investing activities 

Purchase of property and equipment 

Net cash used in investing activities 

Cash flows from financing activities 

Proceeds from cxercisc of stock options 

Payments of cquipment notes payable 

Net cash provided by financing activities 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash cquivalents - beginning of period 

Cash and cash equivalents - end of period 

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION: 

Cash paid during the period for: 

Interest 

Income taxes 

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS 
Common stock issucd for prepaid serviccs 

Common stock issucd for consulting services 

See accompanying notes to these consolidated financial statements. 
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For the year For the year 

Ended Ended 

December 31, December 31, 

2023 2022 

$ 5,904,013 $ (1,581,476) 

486,667 263,646 

33,782 408,034 

1,336,171 1,438,615 

- 79,188 

40,924 338,535 

205,534 204,600 

12,927 11,679 

219,707 - 

11,209,677 801,517 

544,396 (1,762,554) 

195,967 84,270 

88,772 (59,030) 

(58,542) (494,952) 

(950,564) 679,124 

(43,394) (340,207) 

19,226,037 70,989 

- (10,727) 

- (10,727) 

209,500 58,333 

- (2,677) 

209,500 55,656 

19,435,537 115,918 

1,504,225 1,388,307 

$ 20,939,762 $ 1,504,225 

$ 19,721 $ 52,643 

$ - $ : 

$ - $ 53,333 

$ - $ 106,667 



MIDWEST ENERGY EMISSIONS CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

December 31, 2023 

Note 1 - Organization 

Midwest Energy Emissions Corp. 

Midwest Energy Emissions Corp. is organized under the laws of the State of Delaware. 

MES, Inc. 

MES, Inc. is incorporated in the State of North Dakota. MES, Inc. is a wholly owncd subsidiary of Midwest Encrgy Emissions Corp. and is engaged in the busincss of 

developing and commercializing state of the art control technologics relating to the capture and control of mercury emissions from coal fired boilers in the United States and 

Canada. 

ME2C Sponsor LLC and ME2C Acquisition Corp. 

ME2C Sponsor LLC is a limited liability company formed in the State of Delaware and is a wholly owned subsidiary of Midwest Energy Emissions Corp. and owns85% of 

ME2C Acquisition Corp. A decision was made in January 2023 to liquidate thesc entitics. As such, as of December 31, 2022, the Company wrote off the asscts for these entitics 

and recorded a $95,500 loss. 

Note 2 - Liquidity and Financial Condition 

Under ASC 205-40, Presentation of Financial Statements—Going Concern, the Company has the responsibility to evaluate whether conditions and/or cvents raisc substantial 

doubt about its ability to mect its future financial obligations as they become duc within one ycar after the date that the financial statements are issued. As required by ASC 

205-40, this cvaluation shall initially not take into consideration the potential mitigating effects of plans that have not been fully implemented as of the date the financial 

statements arc issued. The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles gencrally accepted in the United States 

of Amcrica (“GAAP”), which contemplate continuation of the Company as a going concern and realization of asscts and satisfaction of liabilitics in the normal course of 

busincss and do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of any uncertaintics rclated to our going conccrn asscssment. 

As reflected in the consolidated financial statements, the Company had approximatcly 21 million in cash at December 31, 2023. In addition, the Company had cash provided 

by operating activitics of $19 million for the ycar ended December 31, 2023, had working capital of 22 million and an accumulated deficit of $63 million at December 31, 

2023. 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2023 have been prepared assuming the Company will continuc as a going concern. On October 28, 

2022, the Company’s principal lender agreed to extend the maturity date of all of its cxisting secured and unsccured dcbt in the principal amount of $13.4 million from October 

31, 2022 to August 25, 2025 (sce Note 7 - Related Party). As a result, such liabilitics have been classificd as long-term liabilitics in the accompanying consolidated financial 

statements as of December 31, 2023. Based upon such extension of the maturity date of such secured and unsecured debt, the Company’s current cash position and revenucs 

from opcrations, management bclicves substantial doubt regarding the Company’s ability to continuc as a going concern has been mitigated. The Company bclicves it will have 

sufficient working capital to fund opcrations for at Icast the next twelve months from the datc of issuance of thesc financial statements. 

Note 3 - Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Basis of Presentation 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles gencrally accepted in the United States of Amcrica 

(“GAAP”) and pursuant to the rules and regulations promulgated by the United States Sccuritics and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). 
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Principles of Consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Midwest Encrgy Emissions Corp. and its wholly-owned subsidiarics, MES, Inc. and ME2C Sponsor LLC, and 

ME2C Acquisition Corp. which is 85% owned by ME2C Sponsor LLC (collectively, the “Company”). Intercompany balances and transactions have been climinated in 

consolidation. 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP rcequircs management to make cstimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 

asscts and liabilitics, valuation of equity issuances and disclosures of contingent asscts and liabilitics at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported 

amounts of revenuc and cxpenscs during the reporting period. The Company uscs cstimatcs in accounting for, among other items, profit share liability, revenuc recognition, 

allowance for doubtful accounts, stock-bascd compensation, income tax provisions, cxccss and obsolcte inventory reserve and impairment of intellectual property. Actual 

results could differ from those estimates. 

Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment are stated at cost. When retired or otherwise disposed, the related carrying valuc and accumulated depreciation arc removed from the respective 

accounts and the net differcnce less any amount realized from disposition, is reflected in carnings. For consolidated financial statement purposes, equipment is recorded at cost 

and depreciated using the straight-line method over thcir cstimated uscful lives of 2 to 5 years. Leaschold improvements are recorded at cost and depreciated using the straight- 

line method over the life of the lease. 

Expenditures for repairs and maintenance which do not materially cxtend the uscful lives of property and equipment are charged to operations. Management reviews the 

carrying value of our property and cquipment for impairment on an annual basis. 

Intellectual Property 

Intcllcctual property is recorded at cost and amortized over its cstimated uscful life ofl15 ycars. Management revicws intellectual property for impairment when events or 

changes in circumstanccs indicate the carrying amount of an assct or assct group may not be recoverable. In the cvent that impairment indicators cxist, a further analysis is 

performed and if the sum of the cxpected undiscounted future cash flows resulting from the usc of the assct or assct group is Icss than the carrying amount of the assct or assct 

group, an impairment loss equal to the cxcess of the assct or assct group’s carrying valuc over its fair valuc is recorded. Management considers historical expcricnee and all 

available information at the time the cstimatcs of future cash flows are madc, however, the actual cash values that could be realized may differ from thosc that are estimated. 

Recoverability of Long-Lived and Intangible Assets 

Long-lived asscts and certain identifiable intangibles held and used by the Company are revicwed for impairment whenever cvents or changes in circumstances indicate that the 

carrying amount of an assct may not be recoverable. Events rclating to recoverability may include significant unfavorable changes in busincss conditions, recurring losscs or a 

forecasted inability to achieve break-cven opcrating results over an extended period. Thc Company cvaluates the recoverability of long-lived asscts based upon forecasted 

undiscounted cash flows. Should impairment in value be indicated, the carrying valuc of the long-lived and/or intangible asscts would be adjusted, bascd on estimates of future 

undiscounted cash flows. 

The Company has cvaluated the recoverability of the carrying valuc of the Company’s property and cquipment, right of usc assct and intellectual property. After completing the 

asscssment of property and cquipment for impairment as of December 31, 2023, the Company recorded an impairment expense related to property and cquipment of $219,707 

which is included in Impairment loss in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations and comprchensive income (loss). The expense was primarily related to the 

impairment of construction in process costs where management determined that the undiscounted future cash flows werc not sufficient to recover the carrying valuc of these 

asscts over the cstimated uscful life. No impairment charges were recognized for the ycar cnded December 31, 2022. 



Stock-Based Compensation 

We account for stock-bascd compensation awards in accordance with the provisions of ASC 718, Compcnsation-Stock Compensation, which requires cquity-bascd 

compensation, be reflected in the consolidated financial statements over the pcriod of scrvice which is typically the vesting pcriod bascd on the estimated fair valuc of the 

awards. 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

The fair valuc hicrarchy has three Icvels bascd on the inputs used to determine fair valuc, which arc as follows: 

Oo Level 1 — Unadjusted quoted prices available in active markets for the identical asscts or liabilitics at the measurement date. 

Oo Level 2— Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for similar asscts or liabilitics, or unadjusted quoted prices for identical or similar asscts or liabilitics in 

markets that are not active, or inputs other than quoted prices that arc observable for the assct or liability. 

Oo Level 3 — Unobservable inputs that cannot be corroborated by observable markct data and reflect the usc of significant management judgment. These values are 

gencrally detcrmincd using pricing models for which the assumptions utilize management’s cstimatcs of market participant assumptions. 

The fair valuc hicrarchy requires the usc of observable market data when available. In instances where the inputs uscd to measure fair valuc fall into different Icvels of the fair 

valuc hicrarchy, the fair value measurement has been determined bascd on the lowest Icvel input significant to the fair value measurement in its entircty. The Company’s 

asscssment of the significance of a particular item to the fair valuc measurement in its cntirety requircs judgment, including the considcration of inputs specific to the assct or 

liability. 

Profit share liability was the only item measured at fair valuc on a recurring basis by the Company at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022. Profit share liability is 

considered to be Level 3. 

Financial instruments include cash, accounts reccivable, accounts payable, and short-term debt. The carrying amounts of thesc financial instruments approximated fair valuc at 

December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 duc to thcir short-term maturitics. 

The fair valuc of the notes payable at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 approximated the carrying amount as the notes were recently issucd at interest rates 

prevailing in the markct and interest rates as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022. The fair valuc of the notcs payable was determined on a Level 2 measurement. 

Discounts on issued debt, as well as debt issuance costs, arc amortized over the term of the individual notes. 

The fair valuc of the profit share liability at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 was calculated using a discounted cash flow modcl bascd on estimated future cash 

payments. The fair valuc of the profit share liability was determined on a Level 3 measurement. These valucs are determined using pricing modcls for which the assumptions 

utilized management’s cstimates. 

The following tables present the Company’s liabilitics that are measured at fair valuc on a recurring basis and arc categorized using the fair valuc hicrarchy. 

Fair Value Measurement as of 

December 31, 2023 

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

Liabilitics: 

Profit share liability — related party (1) $ 14,847,937 $ - $ - $ 14,847,937 

Total Liabilitics $ 14,847,937 $ - §$ - $ 14,847,937 

Fair Value Measurement as of 

December 31, 2022 

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

Liabilitics: 

Profit share liability — related party (1) $ 3,638,260 $ - $ - $ 3,638,260 

Total Liabilitics $ 3,638,260 $ - §$ - $ 3,638,260 

(1) Sec Note 7 - Related Party 
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Revenue Recognition 

The Company records revenuc in accordance with ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. The core principle of the guidance is that an entity should recognize 

revenue to depict the transfer of promiscd goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the considcration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for 

those goods or services. To achicve that core principle, an entity should apply the following stcps: 

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer. 

Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract. 

Step 3: Determine the transaction price. 

Stcp 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performancc obligations in the contract. 

Step 5: Recognize revenuc when (or as) the entity satisfics a performance obligation. 

Revenue is recognized when the Company satisfics its performance obligation under the contract by transferring the promiscd product to its customer that obtains control of the 

product. A performance obligation is a promisc in a contract to transfer a distinct product to a customer. Most of the Company’s contracts have a single performance obligation, 

as the promisc to transfer products or scrviccs is not scparatcly identifiable from other promises in the contract and, therefore, not distinct. 

Revenue is measured as the amount of consideration the Company cxpcects to reccive in exchange for transferring products. As such, revenuc is recorded net of returns, 

allowances, customer discounts, and incentives. Sales and other taxes are excluded from revenues. Invoiced shipping and handling costs are included in revenuc. 

Disaggregation of Revenue 

The Company generated revenuc for the ycars ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 by (1) delivering product to its commercial customers, (ii) completing and commissioning 

equipment projects at commercial customer sites and (ili) performing demonstrations of its technology at customers with the intent of entcring into long term supply agreements 

based on the performance of the Company’s products during the demonstrations and (iv) licensing its technology to customers. 

Revenue for product sales is recognized at the point of time in which the customer obtains control of the product, at the time title passes to the customer upon shipment or 

delivery of the product based on the applicable shipping terms. 

Revenue for equipment sales is recognized upon commissioning and customer acceptance of the installed equipment per the terms of the purchasc contract. 

Revenue for demonstrations and consulting serviccs is recognized when performance obligations contained in the contract have becn completed, typically the completion of 

necessary ficld work and the delivery of any requircd analysis per the terms of the agreement. 

The following table presents sales by operating scgment disaggregated based on the type of product for the ycars ended December 31, 2023 and 2022. All sales were in the 

United States. 

December 31, December 31, 

2023 2022 

Product revenuc $ 17,092,996 $ 20,644,438 

License revenuc 702,500 650,938 

Demonstrations & Consulting revenuc 90,000 108,000 

Equipment revenuc 54,874 216,777 

$17,940,370 $ 21,620,153 
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Accounts receivable and allowance for credit losses 

Accounts receivable are presented net of an allowance for credit losses. The Company maintains allowances for credit losscs. The Company reviews the accounts reccivable on 

a periodic basis and makes general and specific allowances when there is doubt as to the collectability of individual balances. In cvaluating the collectability of individual 

receivable balances, the Company considers many factors, including the age of the balance, a customer’s payment history, its current credit-worthincss and current economic 

trends. Accounts are written off after exhaustive cfforts at collection. 

Management belicved that the accounts receivable were fully collectable and no allowance for credit losses was deemed to be required on its accounts reccivable at December 

31, 2023. The Company historically has not expericnecd significant uncollcctible accounts reccivable. As of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the Company’s 

allowance for doubtful accounts was $0. 

Income Taxes 

The Company follows the assct and liability method of accounting for income taxes under FASB ASC 740, Income Taxes. Deferred tax asscts and liabilitics are recognized for 

the cstimated future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of cxisting asscts and liabilitics and their respective tax 

bases. Deferred income tax asscts and liabilitics are measured using cnacted tax ratcs expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are 

expected to be recovered or settled. The cffect on deferred tax asscts and liabilitics of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that included the cnactment 

datc. Valuation allowances are established, when necessary, to reducc deferred tax asscts to the amount expected to be realized. 

FASB ASC 740 prescribes a recognition threshold and a measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of tax positions taken or expected to be 

taken in a tax return. For those benctits to be recognized, a tax position must be morc likely than not to be sustained upon cxamination by taxing authoritics. There were no 

unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2023 and 2022. The Company is currently not aware of any issucs under review that could result in significant payments, accruals 

or material deviation from its position. The Company is no longer subject to tax examinations by tax authoritics for the ycars prior to 2019. 

The Company may be subject to potential examination by federal, state, and city taxing authoritics in the arcas of income taxcs. Thesc potential cxaminations may include 

questioning the timing and amount of deductions, the nexus of income among various tax jurisdictions, and compliance with federal, state, and city tax laws. Management docs 

not expect that the total amount of unrecognized tax bencfits will matcrially change over the next twelve months. 

Basic and Diluted Income (Loss) Per Common Share 

Income per share — basic is calculated by dividing nct income by the weighted average number of sharcs of stock outstanding during the ycar, including sharcs issuable without 

additional considcration. Income per share — assuming dilution is calculated by dividing net income by the weighted average number of sharcs outstanding during the ycar 

adjusted for the cffect of dilutive potential sharcs from options and warrants calculated using the treasury stock method and the if-converted method for preferred stock. There 

are 3,280,702 dilutive stock options and no dilutive warrants for the ycar ended December 31, 2023 as the Company reported net income for the period. There were no dilutive 

potential common shares for year ended December 31, 2022, becausc the Company incurred a net loss and basic and diluted losses per common share arc the same. 
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We calculate basic carnings per share by dividing net income by the weighted-average number of $5,904,013 common shares outstanding during the reporting period. Diluted 

carnings per share reflects the cffects of potentially dilutive sccuritics. The summary of the basic and diluted carnings per share calculations for the ycars cnded December 31, 

2023 and 2022: 

2023 2022 

Basie: 

Net Income (Loss) $ 5,904,013 $ (1,581,476) 

Weighted-average shares outstanding 94,171,695 90,025,209 

Basic $ 0.06 (0.02) 

2023 2022 

Diluted: 

Net Income (Loss) $ 5,904,013 $ (1,581,476) 

Weighted-average shares outstanding 94,171,695 90,025,209 

Effect of diluted sccuritics — stock options 3,280,702 - 

Weighted-average shares used in the calculation of diluted carnings per share 97,452,397 90,025,209 

Diluted carnings (loss) per share $ 0.06 $ (0.02) 

Total common stock equivalents cxcluded from dilutive loss per share are as follows: 

December 31, December 31, 

2023 2022 

Stock Options 9,650,000 18,876,912 

Warrants 2,550,000 3,285,000 
Total common stock cquivalents excluded from dilutive loss per share 12,200,000 22,161,912 

Concentration of Credit Risk 

Financial instruments that subject the Company to credit risk consist of cash and equivalents on deposit with financial institutions and accounts reccivable. Thc Company’s cash 

as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 is maintained at high-quality financial institutions and has not incurred any losses to date. 

Customer and Supplier Concentration 

For the year cnded December 31, 2023, three customers represented28%, 23%, and 11% of the Company’s revenucs, and for the ycar ended December 31, 2022, four 

customers represented 21%, 16%, 13% and 11% of the Company’s revenues. 

At December 31, 2023, four customers represented 43%, 13%, 11% and 10% of the Company’s accounts receivable, and at December 31, 2022, four customers represented 

24%, 18%, 16% and 10% of the Company’s accounts receivable. 

For the year ended December 31, 2023,91% of the Company’s purchases related to three suppliers. For the ycar ended December 31, 2022,84% of the Company’s purchascs 

related to three supplicrs. At December 31, 2023 and 2022, 68% and 81% of the Company’s accounts payable and accrued expenses related to two vendors, respectively. The 

Company bclicves there are numcrous other supplicrs that could be substituted should a supplicr become unavailable or non-compctitive. 

Contingencies 

Certain conditions may cxist which may result in a loss to the Company, but which will only be resolved when onc or more future events occur or fail to occur. The Company’s 

management and its legal counscl asscss such contingent liabilitics, and such assessment inherently involves an cxercise of judgment. In assessing loss contingencics related to 

legal procecdings that are pending against the Company, or unasserted claims that may result in such proceedings, the Company’s legal counscl evaluates the perecived merits 

of any legal procecdings or unassertcd claims as well as the perccived merits of the amount of rclicf sought or expected to be sought therein. 
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If the assessment of a contingency indicates that it is probable that a matcrial loss has been incurred and the amount of the liability can be cstimated, the estimated liability 

would be accrued in the Company’s consolidated financial statements. If thc assessment indicates that a potentially material loss contingency is not probable but is rcasonably 

possible, or is probable but cannot be estimated, the nature of the contingent liability, together with an cstimate of the range of possible loss if determinable and material, would 

be disclosed. 

Loss contingencies considered remote are gencrally not disclosed unless they arise from guarantces, in which casc the guarantecs would be disclosed. 

Recently Issued Accounting Standards 

Issued in June 2021, FASB Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2016-13, Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments adds to U.S. GAAP an impairment 

modcl known as the current expected ercdit loss (CECL) model, which is bascd on expected losses rather than incurred losses. This guidance is cffcective for fiscal ycars 

beginning after December 15, 2022, including interim periods within those fiscal ycars. Early application of the amcndments is permitted. Effective January 1, 2023, the 

Company adopted ASU No. 2016-13. The adoption of ASU No. 2016-13 did not have a material cffect on the accompanying consolidated financial statements. 

Note 4 - Inventory 

Inventory was comprised of the following at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022: 

December 31, December 31, 

2023 2022 

Raw Matcrials $ 200,496 $ 606,056 

Spare Parts 17,912 90,374 
Finished Goods 576,756 294,701 

$ 795,164 § 991,131 

Note 5 - Property and Equipment, Net 

Property and equipment at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 arc as follows: 

December 31, December 31, 

2023 2022 

Equipment & installation $ 1,095,139 $ 1,095,140 

Leaschold improvements 101,821 101,821 

Trucking equipment 845,102 845,102 

Office cquipment, computer cquipment and software 1,874 20,295 

Total equipment 2,043,936 2,062,358 

Less: accumulated depreciation (2,035,978) (2,041,473) 

Construction in process 1,588,000 1,807,707 

Property and cquipment, net $ 1,595,958 $ 1,828,592 

The Company uses the straight-line method of depreciation over estimated uscful lives of2 to 5 ycars. During the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 depreciation expense 

was $12,927, and $11,679, respectively. 

At December 31, 2023, the Company concluded that Company’s plant construction in process assct had become impaired based on the cxisting and anticipated future economic 

outlook. As a result, thc Company impaired the assct to reduce the carrying valuc to fair valuc. Estimated fair valuc of the impaired long-lived assct is based on the cstimated 

cost to replacc the assct. As a result of the uncertain cash flows related to the Company’s capitalized construction costs, the Company has recorded an impairment charge of 

$219,707. No impairment losses were recorded during the year ended December 31, 2022. 
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Note 6 - Intellectual Property 

On January 15, 2009, the Company entered into an “Exclusive Patent and Know-How License Agrecment Including Transfer of Ownership” with the Energy and 

Environmental Rescarch Center Foundation, a non-profit entity. Under the terms of the Agreement, the Company has been granted an cxclusive license by the Energy and 

Environmental Rescarch Center Foundation for the technology to devclop, makc, have made, usc, scll, offer to scll, lease, and import the technology in any coal-fired 

combustion systems (power plant) worldwide and to develop and perform the technology in any coal-fired power plant in the world. 

On April 24, 2017, the Company closed on the acquisition of all patent rights from the Energy and Environmental Rescarch Center Foundation including all patents and patents 

pending, domestic and forcign, rclating to the foregoing technology. A total of 42 domestic and forcign patents and patcnt applications were included in the acquisition. In 

accordance with the terms of the License Agreement, the patent rights were acquired for the purchase price of (i) 2,500,000 in cash, and (ii) 925,000 shares of common stock of 

which 628,998 shares were issucd to the Energy and Environmental Rescarch Center Foundation and296,002 were issucd to the inventors who had been designated by the 

Energy and Environmental Research Center Foundation. The shares issued were valued at $518,000 ($0.56 per share), representing the value as of the closing date. 

License and patent costs capitalized as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 are as follows: 

December 31, December 31, 

2023 2022 

Licenses and patents $ 3,068,995 $ 3,068,995 

Less: Accumulated amortization (1,364,932) (1,159,398) 

Intellectual property, net $ 1,704,063 $ 1,909,597 

Amortization expense for the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 was 205,534 and $204,600, respectively. Estimated annual amortization for cach of the next 9 ycars is 

as follows: 

Annual amortization for the years ended: 

December 31, 2024 $ 204,600 

December 31, 2025 204,600 

December 31, 2026 204,600 

December 31, 2027 204,600 

December 31, 2028 204,600 

Thereafter 681,063 

Total $ 1,704,063 

Note 7 - Related Party 

Secured Note Payable 

On November 29, 2016, pursuant to a restated financing agreement entered with AC Midwest Encrgy, LLC (“AC Midwest”) on November 1, 2016, the Company closed on a 

secured note with AC Midwest (the “AC Midwest Sccured Note”), which was to mature on December 15, 2018 AC Midwest is wholly-owned by a stockholder of the 

Company. The AC Midwest Sccured Note is guaranteed by MES, is non-convertible and bears intcrest at a rate of 15.0% per annum, payable quarterly in arrears on or before 

the last day of cach fiscal quarter. On February 25, 2019, per Amendment No. 3 to the Amended and Restated Financing Agreement, AC Midwest extended the maturity date 

from December 15, 2018 to August 25, 2022. 

On October 28, 2022, the Company, along with MES, and AC Midwest, executed Amendment No. 4 to the Amended and Restated Financing Agreement pursuant to which the 

maturity date of the AC Midwest Sccured Note was extended to August 25, 2025. In addition, the interest rate on the remaining principal balance was reduced from 15.0% to 

9.0% per annum. The Company has accounted for the cxtcnsion as debt cxtinguishment with a rclated party. As such the Company recorded a capital contribution of $4,983 

for the year ended December 31, 2022 on this exchange which is related to the difference in fair valuc of the note on the date of the exchange.



As of both December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, total principal of 271,686 was outstanding on this note. Interest expense for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 

2022 was $43,955 and $38,557 respectively. 

Amortized discount recorded as interest expense for the ycar ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 was 99,504 and $3,259, respectively. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, 

the unamortized balance of the discount was $32,220 and $51,724 respectively, which is being expensed over the life of the loan. 

Unsecured Note Payable 

The Company has the following unsecured note payable - related party outstanding as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022: 

December 31, December 31, 

2023 2022 

Unsccured note payable $ 13,154,931 $ 13,154,931 

Less fair valuc adjustment on extinguishment, nct of amortized discount of $1,547,536 and $230,868, respectively (2,175,208) (3,491,875) 

Total unsccured note payable 10,979,723 9,663,056 

Less current portion - - 

Unsccured note payable, net of current portion $ 10,979,723 §$ 9,663,056 

On November 29, 2016, pursuant to a restated financing agreement entered with AC Midwest on November 1, 2016, the Company closcd on an unsccurcd note with AC 

Midwest (the “AC Midwest Subordinated Note, which was to mature on December 15, 2020. On February 25, 2019, the Company, cntcred into an Unsccured Note Financing 

Agrecment (the “Unsecured Note Financing Agreement”) with AC Midwest, pursuant to which AC Midwest issucd an unsccured note in the principal amount of $ 13,154,931 

(the “AC Midwest Unsecured Note”), which represented the outstanding principal and accrued and unpaid interest at closing. 

The Company determined that the rate of interest on the AC Midwest Subordinated Note was a bclow market rate of interest and determined that a discount of 6,916,687 

should be recorded. This discount was bascd on an applicable market rate for unsccured debt for the Company of 21% and is bcing amortized as interest expense over the life of 

the loan. 

In accordance with the Unsecured Note Financing Agreement, AC Midwest shall be entitled to a profit participation preference cqual to 1.0 times the original principal amount 

(the “Profit Share”). 

The Profit Share is “non-recoursc” and shall only be derived from and computed on the basis of, and paid from, Net Litigation Procecds trom claims rclating to the Company’s 

intellectual property, Net Revenue Share and Adjusted Free Cash Flow (as such terms are defined in the Unsecured Note Financing Agreement), and Equity Offering Net 

Proceeds as described below. 

On August 30, 2022, AC Midwest agreed to an extension of the maturity date of the AC Midwest Unsecured Note (and AC Midwest Sccured Notc) from August 25, 2022 to 

September 30, 2022. Such extension was cxpected to provide the Company sufficient time in which to conclude the process of negotiating certain changes and modifications to 

such financing arrangements. On Scptember 28, 2022, AC Midwest agreed to an additional short-term extension of such maturity date from Scptember 30, 2022 to October 31, 

2022. The Company has accounted for the extension as debt cxtinguishment with a related party. As such the Company recorded a capital contribution of $ 488,274 on this 

exchange which is related to the difference in fair valuc of the note on the date of the cxchange. 
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On October 28, 2022, the Company, along with MES, and AC Midwest, executed Amendment No. 1 to Unsecured Note Financing Agreement (“Amendment No. 1”) pursuant 

to which the maturity date of the AC Midwest Unsccured Note was extended to August 25, 2025. In addition, the partics agreed that the Profit Share be increased by $4,500,000 

from $13,154,931 (representing 1.0 times the original principal amount) to $17,654,931. The Company has accounted for the extension as debt extinguishment with a related 

party. As such the Company recorded a capital contribution of $3,234,469 on this exchange which is related to the difference in fair valuc of the note on the date of the 

exchange. 

Amortized discount recorded as interest expense for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 was 9,316,667 and $230,868, respectively. As of December 31, 2023 and 

2022, the unamortized balance of the discount was $2,175,208 and $3,491,875 respectively, which is being expensed over the life of the loan. 

Principal Payments and the Profit Share 

In connection with the AC Midwest Unsecured Note the Company shall pay the principal outstanding, as well as the Profit Sharc, in an amount cqual to 60.0% of Net Litigation 

Proceeds until such time as any litigation funder has been paid in full and, thercafter, in an amount equal to 75.0% of such Net Litigation Proceeds until the Unsecured Note and 

Profit Share have been paid in full. In addition, and within 30 days following the end of cach fiscal quarter, the Company shall pay the principal outstanding and Profit Share in 

an aggregate amount equal to the Net Revenue Share (which mcans 60.0% of Net Licensing Revenue (as defined) from licensing the Company’s intellectual property) plus 

Adjusted Free Cash Flow until the Unsecured Note and Profit Share have been paid in full, provided, however, that such payments shall exclude the first $3,500,000 of Net 

Licensing Revenue and Adjusted Free Cash Flow achieved commencing with the fiscal quarter ending March 31, 2019. In addition, and pursuant to Amendment No. 1, the 

Company shall pay the principal outstanding and Profit Share in an aggregate amount cqual to 75.0% of any Equity Offering Net Procecds (as defined) until the Unsecured 

Note and Profit Share have been paid in full. Any remaining principal balance duc on the Unsccured Note shall be duc and payable in full on the maturity datc. The Profit 

Sharc, however, if not paid in full on or before the maturity date, shall remain subject to Unsecured Note Financing Agreement until full and final payment. 

The Company is utilizing the methodology behind the ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging and ASC 480, Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity to determine how to account for 

the profit-sharing portion of the note payable. Although the transaction is not indexed to MEEC’s common stock the profit sharing has the characteristics of a freestanding 

financial instrument becausc the profit sharing is not callable by the lender, it will be paid out past the maturity of the Unsccured Note Payable and, the fair valuc will fluctuate 

over time bascd on payment predictions. The Profit Share was determined to have a fair value of $1,954,383 upon grant. The discounted cash flow modcl assumptions used 

at December 31, 2023 to calculate the Profit Share liability included: the projected full repayment of the profit share liability of $17,654,931 upon the receipt of Net Litigation 

Proceeds in 2025, and an annual markct interest rate of 14.55%. The profit share liability will be marked to market every quarter utilizing management’s estimates. 

The following are the changes in the profit share liability (the only Level 3 financial instrument) during the ycars ended December 31, 2023 and 2022: 

Profit Share as of January 1, 2023 $ 3,638,260 

Addition - 

Loss on change in fair valuc of profit share 11,209,677 

Profit Share as of December 31, 2023 $ 14,847,937 

Profit Share as of January 1, 2022 $ 2,836,743 

Addition - 

Loss on change in fair valuc of profit share 801,517 

Profit Share as of December 31, 2022 $ 3,638,260 

Debt Repayment and Exchange Agreement 

On June 1, 2021, the Company, along with MES, entered into a Debt Repayment and Exchange Agreement with AC Midwest, which was expected to repay all cxisting secured 

and unsccured debt obligations presently held by AC Midwest (the “Debt Repayment Agreement”). 

F-17



Pursuant to the Debt Repayment Agreement, the Company was at closing to repay the principal balance outstanding on the AC Midwest Sccured Note in cash, together with any 

other amounts duc and owing under such note and repay the outstanding debt under the AC Midwest Unsccured Note by paying and issuing a combination of cash and shares of 

common stock which AC Midwest had agreed to accept in full and complete repayment of the obligations thercunder. 

At closing, and with regard to the AC Midwest Unsecured Note, the Company was to pay AC Midwest $6,577,465 in cash representing 50.0% of the aggregate outstanding 

principal balance of such note, and issue shares of common stock to AC Midwest in exchange for the remaining 50.0% of the aggregate outstanding principal balance at an 

exchange price cqual to 100% of the offering price of common stock in the Qualifying Offering (as defined below). With regard to the Profit Sharc, at closing the Company was 

to pay AC Midwest $2,305,308 in cash representing the Profit Share Valuation, and issuc shares of common stock for $4,026,568 representing the Adjusted Profit Share 

Valuation (as such terms are defined in the Debt Repayment Agreement) at the same exchange price indicated above. The Company agreed to provide certain registration rights 

with respect to the shares issucd thereunder. 

The closing was subjcct to various conditions including but not limited to the completion of an offcring of equity sccuritics resulting in nct proceeds of at least $2.0 million by 

December 31, 2021, which was cxtended to Junc 30, 2022 (the “Qualifying Offering”). Such closing conditions were not met by Junc 30, 2022. 

On October 28, 2022, the partics cntered into a Termination Agrecment pursuant to which the partics agrecd to terminate the Debt Repayment Agreement with immediate effect 

and that none of the partics shall have any further responsibility or liability thercunder. On February 27, 2024, the Company cntcred into an Unsccured Debt Restructuring 

Agreement with AC Midwest which replaced and superseded the Unsecured Note Financing Agreement as described in Note 13. 

Short term debt 

On Junc 13, 2022, the Company entered into a promissory note in the amount of 250,000 with the Company’s Chairman of the Board of Dircctors. The note bears interest at 

6% and is duc on the carlicr of 90 days or the Company having cash of $1,200,000. The note was repaid in full in 2022. Interest expense for the year cnded December 31, 2022 

was $4,937. 

Related Party Transactions 

Kaye Cooper Kay & Rosenberg, LLP provides certain legal services to the Company and was paid 893,111 and $481,250 for the ycars ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, 

respectively, for legal services rendered and disburscment incurred. David M. Kaye, a Director of the Company, is a partner of the law firm. At December 31, 2023 and 

December 31, 2022, $33,333 and $25,000, respectively, was owed to the firm for services rendered. 

In Scptember 2022, the Company acquired a pickup truck from the Company’s then Chicf Financial Officer for the purchase price of $10,727 which the partics determined to 

be its fair market value. 

On January 31, 2023, the Company centered into a Liccnsc and Supply Agrecment with Dakin Holdings Ltd., a company incorporated in Barbados (“Dakin”), effective as of 

January 1, 2023, pursuant to which Dakin has granted to the Company (i) a limited license to manufacture and produce for Dakin products comprising certain intellectual 

property owned by Dakin (the “Dakin IP”), and (ii) an exclusive license to commercialize the Dakin IP in the United States. In addition, the Company shall pay Dakin a license 

fee of $12,500 per month for a three-ycar period commencing as of the cffective date and pay Dakin a royalty on all sales in the United States of the products comprising the 

Dakin IP made by the Company. Dakin is a company owned and controlled by the Company’s Chicf Exccutive Officer and President. Dakin charged $ 150,000 for license fees 

for the year ended December 31, 2023. As of December 31, 2023, license fecs of $25,000 were owed to Dakin. 

Note 8 - Operating Leases 

On July 1, 2015, the Company cntered into a five-year lcase for warchousc space in Corsicana, Texas. Rent is $3,750 monthly throughout the term of the lcase. The Company is 

also responsible for the pro rata share of the projected monthly expenses for the property taxes. The current pro rata share is $882. The lcase was extended on Junc 1, 2019 for 

five years. The Company recorded a right of usc assct and an operating lease liability of $145,267. This amount represents the difference between the valuc from the remaining 

lease and the extended lease.



For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company recorded an operating lease right of usc assct and liabilitics as follows: 

December 31, December 31, 

2023 2022 

Right of usc assct - opcrating Icasce $ 10,639 $ $1,563 

Current portion of opcrating lcasc liability 11,157 43,262 

Operating lcasc liability - 11,289 

Future remaining minimum Icasc payments under these non-cancclable leascs are as follows: 

For the twelve months ended December 31, 

2024 11,250 

Total 11,250 
Less discount (93) 

Total lcasc liabilitics 11,157 

Less current portion 11,157) 

Operating lcasc obligation, nct of current portion $ - 

The weighted average remaining lcasc term for operating lcascs is0.25 ycars and the weighted average discount rate uscd in calculating the operating lcasc assct and liability is 

5.0%. For the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, payments on Icasc obligations were $5,000 and $260,360 respectively, and amortization on the right of usc asscts was 

$40,924 and $338,535 respectively. 

For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company’s Icasc cost consists of the following components, cach of which is included in costs and cxpenses within the 

Company’s consolidated statements of opcrations: 

For the Year For the Year 

Ended Ended 

December 31, December 31, 

2023 2022 

Operating Icasc costs $ 45,310 $ 338,535 

Note 9 - Commitments and Contingencies 

Fixed Price Contract 

The Company’s multi-ycar contracts with its commercial customers contain fixed prices for product. Thesc contracts expire between 2023 and 2025 and cxposc the Company to 

the potential risks associated with rising material costs during that same period. 

Legal proceedings 

On July 17, 2019, the Company initiated patent litigation against certain defendants in the U.S. District Court for the District of Delaware for infringement of certain United 

States patents owned by the Company. These patents relate to the Company’s two-part Sorbent Enhancement Additive (SEA®) process for mercury removal trom coal-fired 

power plants. Named as defendants in the lawsuit were (i) Vistra Energy Corp., AEP Gencration Resources Inc., NRG Energy, Inc., Talen Energy Corporation, and certain of 

their respective affiliated entitics, all of which are owners and/or opcrators of coal-fired power plants in the United States, and (ii) Arthur J. Gallagher & Co., DTE REF 

Holdings, LLC, CERT Coal Holdings LLC, Chem-Mod LLC, and certain of their respective affiliated cntitics, and additional namcd and unnamed defendants, all of which 

opcrate or are involved in operations of coal facilitics in the United States. In the lawsuit, the Company alleges that cach of the defendants has willfully infringed certain of the 

Company’s patents and sccks unspecificd damages, attorncys’ fees, costs and injunctive relief. 
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During 2020, cach of the four major utility defendants in the above action filed petitions for Inter Partes Review with the United Statcs Patent and Trademark Office, sccking to 

invalidate certain claims to the patents which arc subject to the litigation. 

Between July 2020 and January 2021, we entered into agreements with cach of the four major utility defendants in such action which included certain monctary arrangements 

and pursuant to which we have dismisscd all claims brought against cach of them and their affiliates, and such partics have withdrawn from petitions for Inter Partes Review 

with the United States Patent and Trademark Office. Such agreements entered into with such partics provide cach of them and their affiliates with a non-cxclusive license to 

certain Company patents (rclated to the Company’s two-part Sorbent Enhancement Additive (SEA®) process) for usc in connection with such partics’ coal-fired power plants. 

Subscquently, and as a result of certain rulings by the Court, certain defendants were dismissed in the action, certain defendants were added and certain originally named 

defendants remaincd in the action. A jury trial was scheduled for November 13, 2023. 

On November 9, 2023, the Company entered into a confidential binding term shect with Arthur J. Gallagher & Co., and various of its affiliated cntitics (collectively “AJG”), 

and DTE Energy Resources LLC and various of its affiliated cntitics (collectively “DTE”), to resolve the patent litigation. Pursuant to the term shect, all claims and 

counterclaims asserted by the partics in such patent litigation have been dismissed with prejudice, although such term shect docs not affect any other claim brought against the 

remaining CERT defendants. The financial aspects of the term shect remain confidential pursuant to its terms. 

In addition, cffcective November 9, 2023, Alistar Enterprises, LLC (“Alistar”), onc of the remaining CERT defendants, entered into a settlement agreement with the Company 

which provided that all claims and counterclaims asscrted in the action between the Company and Alistar be dismissed with prejudice. The financial terms of such settlement 

remain confidential. 

Effective as of December 28, 2023, and in conncction with the term shect described above, the Company, along with its wholly-owned subsidiary, MES, Inc., and (a) Chem- 

Mod LLC (“Chem-Mod”), (b) Arthur J. Gallagher & Co. and AJG Coal, LLC, and (c) DTE Energy Co. and DTE Encrgy Resources, LLC, entered into a paid license of U.S. 

Patent No. 8,168,147, U.S. Patent No. 10,343,114, U.S. Patent No. 10,589,225, U.S. Patent No. 10,596,517 and U.S. Patent No. 10,668,430 and their forcign cquivalents and 

related patent applications and patents, which licenses the use of refined coal or the Chcm-Mod Solution in conjunction with activated carbon. This license applics to Chem- 

Mod and certain of its liccnsces, sub-licensccs, and thcir customers, for the remaining term of such patents. By its terms, the license docs not cover the usc of activated carbon 

with coal that is not cither refined coal or coal made by or for use with the Chcem-Mod Solution in a manner authorized by the license. The partics to the license have mutually 

released all claims that any past usc of the Chem-Mod Solution in conncction with the production or usc of refined coal with activated carbon by entitics other than the CERT 

defendants and their customers infringes the asserted patents and rclated intellectual property, and all claims that could have been brought challenging the validity of such 

patents. 

The remaining CERT defendants and their customers (for activitics rclating to the CERT defendants) are not included within the scope of the license. The Court has rescheduled 

the trial as to the claims against the remaining CERT defendants to begin on February 26, 2024. 

Except for the foregoing disclosures, the Company is not presently aware of any other matcrial pending legal proceedings to which the Company is a party or of which any of 

its property is the subject. 

Litigation, including patent litigation, is inherently subject to uncertaintics. As such, there can be no assurance that the Company will be successful in litigating and/or scttling 

any of these claims. 

Note 10 - Stock Based Compensation 

Stock Based Compensation 

The Company accounts for stock-based compensation awards in accordance with the provisions of ASC 718, which addresscs the accounting for cmployce stock options which 

requires that the cost of all cmploycc stock options, as well as othcr cquity-bascd compensation arrangements, be reflected in the consolidated financial statements over the 

vesting period bascd on the estimated fair valuc of the awards. 
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Stock based compensation consists of the amortization of common stock, stock options and warrants issued to employees, directors and consultants. For the 

years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, stock-based compensation expense amounted to $520,449 and $671,681, respectively. Such expense is classified in 

selling, general and administrative expenses. 

Common Stock 

On May 31, 2022, and pursuant to a consulting agreement dated May 31, 2022 with a nonaffiliated third party, the Company issued 500,000 shares of common 

stock to such party as part of its compensation thereunder. These shares of common stock were valued at $160,000 in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. 

The fair value of the shares is being amortized to selling, general and administrative expenses within the Company’s consolidated statements of operations over 

12 months. 

On May 31, 2022, the Company issued a total of 250,000 shares of common stock to two Directors. These shares of common stock were valued at $55,000 in 

accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. The fair value of the shares was expensed in full on the issuance date. 

On November 8, 2022, the Company issued a total of 3,000,000 shares of common stock to the Chief Executive Officer. These shares of common stock were 

valued at $960,000 in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. The fair value of the shares will be amortized as an expense over the vesting period. The expense 

for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 was $486,667 and $70,667, respectively. 

Stock Options 

References herein to the “2014 Plan” mean the Company’s 2014 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended, and references herein to the “2017 Plan” mean the 

Company’s 2017 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended. 

On January 24, 2022, the Company extended the expiration dates of certain fully expensed previously granted nonqualified stock options (which were due to 

expire in February 2022) which were granted to five individuals to acquire an aggregate of 700,000 shares of the Company’s common stock under the 2014 

Plan and 2017 Plan. Such extended options are exercisable at prices ranging from $1.15 to $1.20 per share, representing the original fair market value of the 

common stock on the dates of grant as determined under the applicable Equity Plan. The options are fully vested and exercisable and will now expire five years 

from their original expiration dates. Based on a Black-Scholes valuation model, these modified options were valued at $138,623, in accordance with FASB 

ASC Topic 718, which was expensed on the amendment date in selling, general and administrative expenses within the Company’s consolidated statements of 

operations. 

On February 2, 2022, the Company issued 5,181 shares of common stock to a certain option holder upon the cashless exercise of options to purchase an 

aggregate of 9,750 shares of common stock at exercise prices ranging from $0.20 to $0.33 per share based upon a market price of $0.54 per share as 

determined under the terms of the options. 

On May 31, 2022, the Company granted nonqualified stock options to the Company’s Senior Vice President and Chief Technology Officer, and to the 

Company’s Vice President of Operations — nonqualified stock options to each acquire 500,000 shares of the Company’s common stock; and to its then Chief 

Financial Officer — nonqualified stock options to acquire 100,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. On such date, two other employees were also 

granted nonqualified stock options to each acquire 50,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. All of such options were granted under the 2017 Plan and 

are exercisable at $0.21 per share, representing the fair market value of the common stock on the date of grant as determined under the 2017 Plan. The options 

are fully vested and exercisable and expire five years from their issuance date. Based on a Black-Scholes valuation model, these options were valued at 

$143,745, in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718, which was expensed on the issuance date in selling, general and administrative expenses within the 

Company’s consolidated statements of operations. The valuation assumptions included an expected duration of 2.5 years, volatility of 96.83%, discount rate of 

2.62% and dividends of $0. 

On February 1, 2023, the Company issued (1) 850,000 shares of common stock to the Company’s Chairman of the Board upon a cash exercise of options to 

purchase an aggregate of 850,000 shares of common stock at exercise prices ranging from $0.19 to $0.27 per share or $209,500 in the aggregate, (ii) 110,000 

shares of common stock to the Company’s Chief Executive Officer upon a cashless exercise of an option to purchase 250,000 shares of common stock at an 

exercise price of $0.28 per share based upon a market price of $0.50 per share as determined under the terms of the option, and (iii) 155,000 shares of common 

stock to a director of the Company upon a cashless exercise of an option to purchase 250,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $0.19 per share 

based upon a market price of $0.50 per share as determined under the terms of the option. 
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On February 20, 2023, the Company issued 17,858 shares of common stock to the Company’s Senior Vice President and Chief Technology Officer upon a 

cashless exercise of an option to purchase 50,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $0.27 per share based upon a market price of $0.42 per share 

as determined under the terms of the option. 

Between February 21, 2023 and February 23, 2023, the Company issued an aggregate of 29,022 shares of common stock to three employees and one former 

employee upon a cashless exercise of options to purchase an aggregate of 80,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $0.27 per share based upon 

market prices ranging from $0.42 to $0.43 per share as determined under the terms of the options. 

On March 8, 2023, and pursuant to an advisor agreement dated March 1, 2023 with a nonaffiliated third party, the Company granted a nonqualified stock 

option under the 2017 Equity Incentive Plan to such third party to acquire 125,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $0.40 per 

share, representing the fair market value of the common stock on the date of grant as determined under the 2017 Equity Incentive Plan. Fifty percent of the 

option shall vest and become exercisable on September 1, 2023 and the remaining fifty percent shall vest and become exercisable on March 1, 2024. The 

option will expire five years after the date of grant. Based on a Black-Scholes valuation model, these options were valued at $30,933, in accordance with FASB 

ASC Topic 718. The fair value of the shares was being amortized to selling, general and administrative expenses within the Company’s consolidated statements 

of operations over twelve months. The valuation assumptions included an expected duration of 2.9 years, volatility of 98%, discount rate of 4.71% and 

dividends of $0. On September 30, 2023, the advisor agreement was terminated resulting in 50.0% of the option remaining unvested and unexercisable. 

On April 4, 2023, and pursuant to a consulting agreement effective April 1, 2023 with a nonaffiliated third party, the Company granted a nonqualified stock 

option under the 2017 Plan to such third party to acquire 250,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $0.39 per share, representing 

the fair market value of the common stock on the date of grant as determined under the 2017 Plan. Fifty percent of the option shall vest and become exercisable 

on October 1, 2023 and the remaining fifty percent shall vest and become exercisable on April 1, 2024. The option will expire five years after the date of grant. 

Based on a Black-Scholes valuation model, these options were valued at $59,690, in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. The fair value of the shares was 

being amortized to selling, general and administrative expenses within the Company’s consolidated statements of operations over twelve months. The valuation 

assumptions included an expected duration of 2.9 years, volatility of 98%, discount rate of 3.60% and dividends of $0. On August 28, 2023, the consulting 

agreement was terminated resulting in the option remaining unvested and being deemed terminated. 

On May 26, 2023, a new director was appointed to the Board of Directors and was granted a nonqualified stock option to acquire 125,000 shares of the 

Company’s common stock exercisable at $0.41 per share. Fifty percent of the option shall vest and become exercisable on November 26, 2023 and the 

remaining fifty percent shall vest and become exercisable on May 26, 2024. The option will expire five years after the date of grant. Based on a Black-Scholes 

valuation model, these options were valued at $30,527, in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. The fair value of the shares is being amortized to selling, 

general and administrative expenses within the Company’s consolidated statements of operations over twelve months. The valuation assumptions included an 

expected duration of 2.88 years, volatility of 97%, discount rate of 4.23% and dividends of $0. 

On June 5, 2023, the Company issued 1,629 shares of common stock to the Company’s Senior Vice President and Chief Technology Officer upon a cashless 

exercise of an option to purchase 6,875 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $0.29 per share based upon a market price of $0.38 per share as 

determined under the terms of the options. 

On June 6, 2023, the Company issued an aggregate of 3,426 shares of common stock to an employee upon a cashless exercise of options to purchase an 

aggregate of 7,655 shares of common stock at exercise prices ranging from $0.17 to $0.29 per share based upon a market price of $0.38 per share as 

determined under the terms of the options. 

On June 7, 2023, the Company issued 1,352 shares of common stock to a director upon a cashless exercise of an option to purchase 6,250 shares of common 

stock at an exercise price of $0.29 per share based upon a market price of $0.37 per share as determined under the terms of the options. 
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On June 28, 2023, the Company issued (1) 5,213 shares of common stock to the Company’s Chief Executive Officer upon a cashless exercise of options to 

purchase an aggregate of 24,687 shares of common stock at exercise prices ranging from $0.21 to $0.29 per share based upon a market price of $0.30 per 

shares as determined under the terms of the options, (11) 4,125 shares of common stock to the Company’s Senior Vice President and Chief Technology Officer 

upon a cashless exercise of an option to purchase 13,750 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $0.21 per share based upon a market price of $0.30 per 

share as determined under the terms of the option, and (111) 1,875 shares of common stock to a director upon a cashless exercise of an option to purchase 6,250 

shares of common stock at an exercise price of $0.21 per share based upon a market price of $0.30 per share as determined under the terms of the options. 

On July 3, 2023, the Board of Directors of the Company approved and adopted the Company’s Amended and Restated 2014 Equity Incentive Plan and the 

Company’s Amended and Restated 2017 Equity Incentive Plan which amended the Company’s previously adopted 2014 Plan and 2017 Plans. Such 

amendments were made in accordance with the requirements of the TSX Venture Exchange. The 2014 Plan was first approved by the Board on January 10, 

2014. The 2017 Plan replaced the 2014 Plan, which was terminated by the Board on April 28, 2017. As a result of such termination, no additional awards may 

be granted under the 2014 Plan but previously granted awards shall remain outstanding in accordance with their terms and conditions. There are 4,775,000 

options and no other types of award outstanding under the 2014 Plan. The 2017 Plan was adopted by the Board on February 9, 2017. As amended by the Board 

on July 3, 2023, the maximum number of shares of common stock that may be issued under the 2017 Plan after July 3, 2023 is 14,078,459, and to the extent 

any award (or portion thereof) outstanding under the 2014 Plan expires, terminates or is cancelled, surrendered or forfeited for any reason on or after July 3, 

2023, the shares of common stock subject to such award (or portion thereof) shall be added to and increase the foregoing limit, to a maximum of 4,775,000 

additional shares of common stock. 

On July 28, 2023, the Company issued (1) 8,007 shares of common stock to the Company’s Chief Executive Officer upon a cashless exercise of an option to 

purchase 16,458 shares of common stock, (11) 6,690 shares of common stock to the Company’s Senior Vice President and Chief Technology Officer upon a 

cashless exercise of an option to purchase 13,750 shares of common stock, and (111) 3,041 shares of common stock to a director upon a cashless exercise of an 

option to purchase 6,250 shares of common stock. All of such options had an exercise price of $0.17 per share and such share issuances were based upon a 

volume weighted average price (“WWAP”) of $0.3311 per share as determined under the terms of the options. 

On September 29, 2023, the Company issued (1) 5,555 shares of common stock to the Company’s Chief Executive Officer upon a cashless exercise of an option 

to purchase 16,458 shares of common stock, (11) 4,641 shares of common stock to the Company’s Senior Vice President and Chief Technology Officer upon a 

cashless exercise of an option to purchase 13,750 shares of common stock, (iii) 2,109 shares of common stock to a director upon a cashless exercise of an 

option to purchase 6,250 shares of common stock, and (iv) 1,033 shares of common stock to an employee upon a cashless exercise of an option to purchase 

3,062 shares of common stock. All of such options had an exercise price of $0.26 per share and such share issuances were based upon a VWAP of $0.3925 per 

share as determined under the terms of the options. 

On October 30, 2023, the Company issued 1,450 shares of common stock to an employee upon a cashless exercise of an option to purchase 3,062 shares of 

common stock at any exercise price of $0.20 per share based upon a VWAP of $0.3799 per share as determined under the term of the options. 

On October 31, 2023, the Company issued (1) 8,346 shares of common stock to the Company’s Chief Executive Officer upon a cashless exercise of an option to 

purchase 16,458 shares of common stock, (11) 6,973 shares of common stock to the Company’s Senior Vice President and Chief Technology Officer upon a 

cashless exercise of an option to purchase 13,750 shares of common stock, and (111) 3,169 shares of common stock to a director upon a cashless exercise of an 

option to purchase 6,250 shares of common stock. All of such options had an exercise price of $0.20 per share and such share issuances were based upon a 

VWAP of $0.4058 per share as determined under the terms of the options. 

On November 29, 2023, the Company issued 2,001 shares of common stock to an employee upon a cashless exercise of an option to purchase 3,062 shares of 

common stock at an exercise price of $0.33 per share based upon a VWAP of $0.9527 per share as determined under the term of the options. 

On November 30, 2023, the Company issued (1) 9,104 shares of common stock to the Company’s Senior Vice President and Chief Technology Officer upon a 

cashless exercise of an option to purchase 13,750 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $0.33 per share, (ii) 4,138 shares of common stock to a 

director upon a cashless exercise of an option to purchase 6,250 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $0.33 per share, and (iii) 9,400 shares of 

common stock to a former employee upon a cashless exercise of options to purchase a total of 18,750 shares of common stock, with exercises prices of ranging 

from $0.25 to $0.33 per share. All of such share issuances were based upon a VWAP of $0.9768 per share as determined under the terms of the options. 
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On December 11, 2023, the Company issucd (i)10,278 shares of common stock to the Company’s Senior Vice President and Chicf Technology Officcr upon a cashlcss 

exercise of an option to purchase 13,750 shares of common stock, and (ii)4,672 sharcs of common stock to a director upon a cashless cxercise of an option to purchasc,250 

shares of common stock. All of such options had an exercise price of $0.25 per share and such share issuances were bascd upon a VWAP of $0.9902 per share as determined 

under the terms of the options. 

On December 13, 2023, the Company issucd2,204 shares of common stock to an employce upon a cashless exercise of an option to purchasc3,062 sharcs of common stock at 

an exercise price of $0.25 per share based upon a VWAP of $0.8931 per share as determined under the term of the options. 

A summary of stock option activity is presented below: 

Weighted 

Weighted Average 

Average Remaining Agercgate 

Number of Exercise Contractual Intrinsic 

Shares Price Life (years) Value 

December 31, 2022 18,876,912 $ 0.50 2.31 246,666 

Grants 500,000 0.40 

Expirations (613,573) 0.32 

Exercised (1,725,839) 0.24 

December 31, 2023 17,037,500 $ 0.53 1.47 6,970,750 

Options cxcrcisable at: 

December 31, 2023 16,975,000 0.53 1.47 6,938,875 

The aggregate intrinsic valuc in the table above represents the total intrinsic valuc, bascd on the Company’s closing stock price of $0.92 as of December 29, 2023 (the last 

trading day of the month of December 2023), which would have been received by the option holders had all option holders cxercised their options as of that date. 

Stock options cxercised during the year ended December 31, 2023 includc850,000 that were exercised for cash and875,839 which werc a cashless exercisc. 

Note 11 - Warrants 

The Company utilized a Black-Scholes options pricing modcl to valuc warrants at the issuance datc. This model requires the input of highly subjective assumptions such as the 

expected stock price volatility and the expected period until the warrants are exercised. When calculating the valuc of warrants issucd, the Company uscs a volatility factor, a 

risk-free interest rate and the life of the warrant for the exercise period. 

No warrants were issued or exercised during the ycars cnded December 31, 2023 and 2022. 
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The following is a summary of the Company’s warrant activity: 

Weighted 

Weighted Average 

Average Remaining Aggregate 

Number of Exercise Contractual Intrinsic 

Shares Price Life (years) Value 

December 31, 2022 3,285,000 $ 0.70 137 $ = 

Grants - - - - 

Expirations (735,000) (0.70) - - 

Exercised - - - - 

December 31, 2023 2,550,000 $ 0.70 0.60 $ - 

Warrants cxercisable at: 

December 31, 2023 2,550,000 $ 0.70 0.60 $ = 

The following table summarizcs information about common stock warrants outstanding at December 31, 2023: 

Outstanding and Exercisable 

Weighted Average 

Remaining 

Contractual Life Weighted Average 

Exercise Price Number Outstanding (years) Exercise Price 

$ 0.70 2,550,000 0.60 $ 0.70 

Note 12 - Taxes 

Bclow is breakdown of the income tax provisions for the years ended December 31: 

2023 2022 
Federal 

Current $ - §$ = 
Deferred - - 

State and local 

Current 473,000 18,000 

Deferred - - 

Income tax provision $ 473,000 $ 18,000 

The expected tax expense (benefit) based on the statutory rate is reconciled with actual tax cxpensc (bencfit) as follows: 

For the For the 

Year Ended Year Ended 

December 31, December 31, 

2023 2022 
U.S. federal statutory rate 21.0% 21.0% 

State taxes 9.8% (2.6)% 

Deferred tax assct adjustments 4.3% 0.1% 

Non-deductible amortization of debt discount -% (20.9)% 

Other non-deductible items 1.9% -% 

Non-taxable change in profit share liability 41.7% (10.8)% 

Change in valuation allowance (70.3)% 12.0% 

Income tax provision 8.4% (1.2)% 
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Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of asscts and liabilitics for financial reporting purposes and the amounts 

uscd for income tax purposes. Significant componcnts of the Company’s deferred tax asscts and liabilitics are as follows at December 31: 

2023 2022 

Deferred tax asscts: 

Net operating loss carryforwards $ 2,751,000 $ 6,495,000 

Stock bascd compensation 1,517,000 2,008,000 

Other 186,000 23,000 
Total deferred tax asscts 4,454,000 8,526,000 

Deferred tax liabilities: 

Property and equipment - (1,000) 

Intangible asscts - (98,000) 

Total deferred tax liabilitics - (99,000) 

Valuation Allowance (4,454,000) (8,427,000) 

Net deferred tax assct $ - §$ - 

As of December 31, 2023, the Company has U.S. federal net operating loss carryovers (“NOLs”) of approximately 42,917,000 available to offsct taxable net income in a given 

year of which $5,920,000 cxpires from 2034 through 2037 and $6,997,000 docs not cxpire. The Company also has state NOL carryforwards of 

approximately $815,000 which start to expire in 2025. If not used, these NOLs may be subject to limitation under Internal Revenue Code Scction 382 should there be a greater 

than 50% ownership change as determined under the regulations. The Company plans on undertaking a detailed analysis of any historical and/or current Section 382 ownership 

changes that may limit the utilization of the nct operating loss carryovers. 

In assessing the realization of deferred tax asscts, management considers whether it is more likcly than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax asscts will not be 

realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax asscts is dependent upon future gencration for taxable income during the periods in which temporary differences representing 

net future deductible amounts become deductible. Management considers the scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilitics, projected future taxable income and tax planning 

strategics in making this asscssment. Aftcr consideration of all the information availablc, Management bclicves that significant uncertainty cxists with respect to future 

realization of the deferred tax asscts and has therefore established a full valuation allowance. For the ycars ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the valuation allowance 

decreased by $3,973,000 and $188,000, respectively. 

The Company cvaluated the provisions of ASC 740-10 related to the accounting for uncertainty in income taxcs recognized in an enterprisc’s financial statements. ASC 740-10 

prescribes a comprehensive model for how a company should recognize, present, and disclose uncertain positions that the Company has taken or expects to take in its tax 

return. For those benefits to be recognized, a tax position must be more-likcly-than-not to be sustaincd upon cxamination by taxing authoritics. Differences between tax 

positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return and the net benefit recognized and measured pursuant to the interpretation are referred to as “unrecognized bencfits.” A 

liability is recognized (or amount of net operating loss carry forward or amount of tax refundable is reduced) for unrecognized tax benctit because it represents an enterprise’s 

potential future obligation to the taxing authority for a tax position that was not recognizcd as a result of applying the provisions of ASC 740-10. 

There were no unrecognized tax bencfits as of December 31, 2023. The Company is no longer subject to tax cxaminations by tax authoritics for ycars prior to 2019. If 

applicable, interest costs related to the unrecognized tax benefits are required to be calculated and would be classified as “Other cxpenscs — Interest” in the statement of 

opcrations. Penaltics would be recognized as a component of “Gencral and administrative.” No interest or penaltics on unpaid tax were recorded during the ycars ended 

December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, no liability for unrecognized tax benefits was required to be reported. The Company docs not 

expect any significant changes in its unrecognized tax bencfits in the next year. 
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Note 13 - Subsequent Events 

AC Midwest 

On February 27, 2024, the Company centered into an Unsccured Debt Restructuring Agreement (the “Debt Restructuring Agreement”) with AC Midwest which replaced and 

superseded the Unsecured Note Financing Agreement. Scc Note 7 — Related Party. 

Pursuant to the Debt Restructuring Agreement, on February 27, 2024, the Company (i) paid AC Midwest 9,040,000 as a reduction in the outstanding principal balance of the 

Unsecured Note, (ii) issued to AC Midwest a new unsecured replacement note representing the remaining outstanding principal balance of the Unsccured Note in the principal 

amount of $4,114,931 (the “New Note”), and (iii) paid AC Midwest $275,625 representing the remaining principal balance under the Secured Note of 271,686 plus interest of 

$3,939. In addition, within 30 days, the Company would cither facilitate the private sale to third partics of certain sharcs of common stock of the Company held by AC 
Midwest for a purchase price of no less than $960,000, which amount shall be applicd as a ercdit against the principal balance duc on the New Note dollar for dollar, or pay AC 

Midwest $960,000 toward the principal balance duc on the New Note. The private sale of sharcs for the purchase price of $960,000 was completed on March 11, 2024. Any 

remaining principal balance on the New Note shall be duc August 27, 2024 (the “Maturity Date”), which is six months trom February 27, 2024. Until repaid in full, the New 

Note shall accrue interest at a rate cqual to SOFR plus 2.0% per annum. The New Note completely replaces and supersedes the Unsecured Note, which shall be of no further 

force and effect. 

In addition, pursuant to the Debt Restructuring Agreement, AC Midwest shall be entitled to a profit participation preference cqual to $7,900,000 (the “Restructured Profit 

Share”). The Restructured Profit Share is “non-recoursce” and shall only be paid trom Net Litigation Proceeds (as defined in the Debt Restructuring Agreement) from claims 

relating to our intellectual property. Following the receipt of any Net Litigation Proceeds, we shall prepay any remaining principal balance of the New Note and pay the 

Restructured Profit Share in an amount cqual to 75.0% of such Net Litigation Procecds until the New Note and Restructured Profit Share have been paid in full. The 

Restructured Profit Share complctcly replaces and superscdes the terms and conditions of the Profit Share in the amount of $17,654,931 provided for in the Unsecured Note 

Financing Agreement, which shall be of no further force and cffect. The Restructured Profit Share, if not paid in full on or before the Maturity Date, shall remain subjcct to the 

terms of the Debt Restructuring Agreement. 

In addition to facilitating the private salc to third partics as described above, AC Midwest has granted the Company the exclusive right until December 31, 2024 to facilitate the 

salc of all or a portion of the remaining balance of the shares of common stock of the Company held by AC Midwest, which proceeds above a certain amount will be applicd as 

a credit against the Restructured Profit Share dollar for dollar. 

As a result of the repayment of the remaining principal balance under the Secured Debt, the Company and AC Midwest cxccuted a Satisfaction and Discharge of Secured Debt 

confirming the canccllation of the Secured Note and that all of the obligations under the Restated Financing Agreement have been fully satisficd and discharged. 

Patent Litigation 

Sce “Note 10 — Commitments and Contingencics” for information on the patent litigation initiated by the Company in 2019. Following a five-day trial, on March 1, 2024, a 

federal jury in the U.S. District Court for the District of Delaware awarded a $57.1 million patent infringement verdict in favor of the Company against the remaining group of 

CERT defendants. Such group of affiliated defendants included multiple limited liability companics with refined coal industry opcrations, including CERT Opcrations II LLC, 

CERT Operations [V LLC, CERT Operations V LLC, and CERT Operations RCB LLC. The jury determined that these defendants infringed our patented technologics for 

mercury emissions and were liable for willful infringement, along with inducing and contributory infringement. 

Other Subsequent Events 

On January 15, 2024, the Company granted nonqualificd stock options to certain directors, executive officers and cmployccs to acquire an aggregate of] 000,000 sharcs of the 

Company’s common stock under the Company’s 2017 Plan. The options granted are exercisable at $ 0.88 per share, representing the fair market value of the common stock on 

the date of grant as determined under the 2017 Plan. The options are fully vested and cxercisable as of the date of grant and will expire five years thereafter. In addition, on 

such date, the Company granted 50,000 restricted share units (“RSUs”) to another dircctor pursuant to the 2017 Plan. The RSUs will vest one ycar from the date of grant on 

January 15, 2025. Once vested, cach RSU represents the right to reccive onc share of the Company’s common stock. 

On February 27, 2024, the Company issucd 9,285 sharcs of common stock to a former cmploycc upon a cashless exercise of an option to purchascl 8,750 shares of common 

stock covered by an option to purchase a total of 100,000 sharcs of common stock, with an exercise price of $0.27 per share. Such share issuance was based upon a VWAP of 

$0.9230 per share as determined under the terms of the option. 

On March 28, 2024, the lease for the Company’s warchousc space in Corsicana, Texas was cxtended for an additional five ycars trom March 31, 2024 to March 31, 2029. 

F-27



Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure. 

None. 

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures. 

Report of Disclosure Controls and Procedures 

Regulations under the Exchange Act require public companics to maintain “disclosure controls and procedures,” which arc defined as controls and other procedures 

that arc designed to cnsure that information required to be disclosed by the issucr in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, 

summarized and reported within the time periods specificd in the Sccuritics and Exchange Commission’s rulcs and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without 

limitation, controls and procedures designed to cnsure that information required to be disclosed by an issuer in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is 

accumulated and communicated to the issucr’s management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, as 

appropriate to allow timcly decisions regarding required disclosure. 

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal cxccutive officcr and principal financial officer, we have cvaluated the 

cffcctivencss, the design and operations of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the cnd of the period covered by this report. Bascd on that cvaluation, the principal 

executive officer and principal financial officer determined that as of December 31, 2023, the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were incffective as a result of 

matcrial weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting. 

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) 

and 15d-15(f). Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal cxccutive officer and our principal financial officcr, the Company 

conducted an cvaluation of the cffectivencss of our internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issucd by the 

Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in 2013 (COSO). 

Our internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 

financial statements for external purposcs in accordance with gencrally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America. Our internal control over financial 

reporting includes those policies and proccdurcs that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and 

dispositions of the asscts of the company; (ii) provide rcasonable assurance that transactions arc recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in 

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that reccipts and cxpenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of 

management and dircctors of the Company; and (ili) provide rcasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, usc, or disposition of 

the Company’s asscts that could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

Despite these controls, because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Therefore, even those 

systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance of achicving their control objectives. Furthermore, smaller reporting companics, like us, face 

additional limitations. Smallcr reporting companics employ fewer individuals and can find it difficult to employ resources for complicated transactions and effective risk 

management. Additionally, smaller reporting companics tend to utilize general accounting software packages that lack a rigorous sct of softwarc controls. 
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Our management, including our Chicf Exccutive Officer and Principal Financial Officer, assessed the effectivencss of our intcrnal control over financial reporting as of 

December 31, 2023 based on the criteria established in “Internal Control - Integrated Framework” issucd by the Committce of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 

Commission in 2013. This cvaluation included review of the documentation of controls, evaluation of the design cffectivencss of controls, testing of the opcrating cffectivencss 

of controls and a conclusion on this cvaluation. Bascd on this cvaluation, our management concluded our internal control over financial reporting was not cffcective as of 

December 31, 2023. The incffcctivencss of our intcrnal control over financial reporting was duc to the following matcrial weaknesses which are indicative of many small 

companics: (i) lack of a sufficicnt complement of personnel commensurate with the Company’s rcporting requirements; and (ii) insufficicnt written documentation or training of 

our internal control policics and procedures which provide staff with guidance or framework for accounting and disclosing financial transactions. 

This annual report docs not include an attestation report of our registered public accounting firm regarding our internal controls over financial reporting. 

Management’s report was not subject to attestation by our registered public accounting firm pursuant to Scction 404(c) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act that permit us to provide only 

management’s report in this annual report. 

Despite the cxistcnce of the material weaknesses above, we belicve that our consolidated financial statements contained in this Form 10-K fairly present our financial 

position, results of opcrations and cash flows as of and for the pcriods presented in all material respects. 

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

Except as discussed below, there have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15 (f) under 

the Exchange Act) during the fourth quarter of 2023 that have materially affected, or arc reasonably likcly to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. 

Material Weaknesses 

In conncction with our annual audit for the ycar ended December 31, 2023, management determined that controls as described above constitute material weaknesses in 

disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting. As a result, it was determined that control deficicncics that constitutes matcrial weaknesses in 

the design and operation of our internal control over financial reporting was present. Management belicves that these material weaknesses did not have an cffect on our 

financial results. However, management belicves that the lack of these items results in incffective internal controls, which could result in a matcrial misstatement in our financial 

statements in future periods. 

Remediation 

During 2023, certain actions were taken to address certain aspects of the material weaknesses disclosed above. Effective as of March 1, 2023, we retained a certified 

public accountant to assist with bookkeeping and accounting services, and as of September 1, 2023, we hired a new financial consulting firm to assist us in bookkeeping and 

preparing financial statements for our SEC filings, assist us in cvaluating our internal controls over financial reporting and assist us in other related matters. Such new firm has 

replaced the financial consulting firm which had been provided service to the Company since the fourth quartcr of 2019 and such new firm has taken on additional 

responsibilitics. In addition, as of November 1, 2023, we appointed a new Chicf Financial Officer with over 15 ycars of expcricnec in accounting and financial control for both 

private and publicly listed companics to provide fractional Chicf Financial Officer services. We also have made efforts to strengthen our overall control cnvironment by 

improving our documented internal control policics and staff training. 

Although we bclicve that these cfforts effectively strengthen our disclosure control processes and procedures, our management team intends to continuc to actively 

plan for and implement additional control procedures to improve our overall control environment and cxpect these cfforts to continuc throughout 2024 and beyond. Duc to the 

nature of the remediation process, the necd to have sufficicnt resources to retain additional staff to devote to such cfforts and further scgregate dutics, and the necd to allow 

adequate time after implementation to evaluate and test the cffectivencss of the controls, no assurance can be given as to the timing of achievement of remediation. 

Item 9B. Other Information. 

None. 

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Forcign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspection. 

None. 
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PART IIT 

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance. 

The following table scts forth certain information as of the date of this report about our cxccutive officers and members of our board of directors. 

Name Age Positions and Offices Held with the Company 

Richard MacPherson 68 President, Chicf Exccutive Officer, Scerctary, Director 

Christopher Greenberg 58 Chairman of the Board, Director 

John Pavlish 65 Senior Vicc President and Chicf Technology Officer 

James Trettel 55 Vice President of Opcrations 

Fiona Fitzmaurice 42 Chicf Financial Officer 

David M. Kaye 69 Director 

Troy Grant 50 Director 

Exccutive Officers 

Richard MacPherson has becn a Director of the Company since Junc 2011, has served as President and Chicf Executive Officer of the Company since March 2015 and 

was appointed as Scerctary of the Company in Junc 2023. Mr. MacPherson is the founder of MES, Inc. (current subsidiary and operating company of the Company) and had 

been its Chicf Executive Officer from 2008 until 2011. From 2011 to March 2015, Mr. MacPherson served as Vice President of Busincss Development of the Company. Since 

2008, Mr. MacPherson has worked with industry leading scicntists and cnginccrs to bring the Company’s technology trom the R&D phasc, through multiple product 

development stages, to the final commercialization phasc, acting as the lcad on all required initiatives and activitics. He has been a senior-level executive in the services industry 

for over 25 ycars. Mr. MacPherson brings cxtensive start-up and business development knowledge, applicd and proven through his corporate expcricnce throughout the United 

States and Canada. He has worked in multiple industrics, such as clectric utilitics, communications, and marketing, as well as in several cntreprencurial venturcs in the 

communications, hospitality, geological, and real cstate devclopment industrics. We believe that Mr. MacPherson’s decp expcricnce in business and strong leadership skills, 

coupled with being the founder of our opcrating subsidiary and his extensive knowledge of our technology, qualifics him to serve on our board. 

John Pavlish has been Scnior Vice President and Chicf Technical Officer of the Company since November 2014. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Pavlish was a 

Senior Research Advisor and the Dircctor of the Center for Air Toxic Mctals at the Encrgy & Environmental Rescarch Center in Grand Forks, North Dakota. He has over 25 

years of mercury-rclated cxpcericnce and is regarded as an international cxpert on the topic of mercury. His primary arcas of interest and expertise include rescarch, technical 

consultation, and devclopment of mercury control technologics, in particular, for coal combustion and gasification systems. Hc is an inventor of a number of patented mercury 

control technologics and has ycars of experience in devclopment and testing of thesc technologics for commercial application. Over the last 20 ycars, he has spent much of his 

time evaluating the efficacy of a number of different mercury control technologics/approaches and their cost-compctitiveness in the commercial market. Mr. Pavlish also has 

years of power plant expcricnce and has worked for cnginccring/consulting company Black & Veatch, where he served as Unit Leader/System Engineer. Mr. Pavlish is a 

fessional cnginccr, a member of the Amcrican Socicty of Mechanical Engincers, and a member of the Air & Waste Management Association. He serves on numcrous 

onal and technical committees and is a U.S. Representative on the Mercury Emissions from Coal International Experts Working Group on Reducing Emissions from 

Coal and a member of the United Nations Environment Programme Global Mercury Partnership, Reduction of Mercury Releases from Coal Combustion. Mr. Pavlish has 

published over 200 papers, articles, and reports on various mercury-rclated topics and issucs. 

James Trettel has becn Vice President of Operations since January 2014. Mr. Trettcl posscsscs over 25 years of expericnee in the dry bulk matcrial handling industry. 

During 2012 and 2013, he was the owner and operator of Solid Foundation Services, LLC, a firm specializing in decp foundation installations for the gas and oilficld industry, 

while providing technical consulting scrvices to the Company. Prior to 2012, he provided project management and cnginccring dutics for numerous multi-million dollar turn- 

key contracts while employed at Advanced Bulk and Conveying Inc. starting in 2004. Additionally, Mr. Trettcl has overseen day to day operations for 14 ycars as the VP of 

J&B Industrial Sales Company Inc. of sales, systems, and cnginccring organization spccializing in bulk material handling. Mr. Trettel has extensive ficld expericnce with 

systems opcrating in a large varicty of industry sectors including coal fired utilitics. Mr. Trettel graduated Cum Laude with a B.S. degrec in Mechanical Enginccring. 
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Fiona Fitzmaurice was appointed as Chicf Financial Officcr on November 1, 2023. She is a chartered accountant with over 15 ycars of expericnce in accounting and 

financial control for both private and publicly listed companics. She has significant cxpericnce as CFO for exploration companics and has been involved in numcrous private 

placements, prospectus filings, flow-through financings and corporate audits. Ms. Fitzmaurice currently serves as CFO of the following companics: Exploits Discovery Corp. 

(CSE:NFLD) since December 2022; Digicann Ventures Inc. (CSE:DCNN) since October 2021; Provenance Gold Corp. (CSE:PAU) since May 2021; Pedro Resources Ltd. 

(TSXV-:PED.H) since August 2020; and MacDonald Mines Exploration Ltd. (TSXV:BMK) since December 2019. Shc has also served as Controller of Noront Resources Ltd. 

(TSXV:NOT) from May 2015 to December 2022; CFO of Honcy Badger Exploration Inc. (TSXV:TUF) from December 2019 to November 2020; CFO of Pasotino Gold 

Limited (TSXV:VEIN) from July 2017 to March 2020; and CFO of Mojave Janc Brands (CSE:JANE) from October 2017 to July 2019. Ms. Fitzmaurice currently holds a 

charted certified qualification from ACCA (Association of Chartered Certified Accountants) having reccived her certification in Ircland in 2008. Shc holds a bachelor’s degree 

in accounting and finance from Athlonc Institute of Technology, Ircland. 

Directors 

Please sce the information regarding Richard MacPherson under “Exccutive Officers” above. 

Christopher Greenberg has bccn a dircctor of thc Company since Junc 2013 and Chairman of the Board since December 2014. Beginning in 1997, Mr. Greenberg and 

his wife co-owned multiple Express Employment Professionals franchises. Express Employment Professionals is a staffing agency that providcs full time and temporary job 

placement, human resources services and consulting. In 2003, Mr. Greenberg and his wife co-founded Global Safety Network, which grew into a leading, national provider of 

workforce risk management solutions. Mr. Greenberg served as its Chicf Exccutive Officer from 2003 to May 2021. In 2015, Mr. Greenberg and his wifc also co-founded 

Greenberg Enterprises, which provides busincss management and consulting services. Global Safcty Network was sold in Junc 2022 and their final Express Employment 

Professionals franchise was sold in January 2023. These recent busincss sales have cnabled Mr. Greenberg to devote additional time towards the growth of Greenberg 

Enterprises and its related cntitics. As an cntreprencur and operating Executive, Mr. Greenberg has demonstrated his ability to lead diverse professional teams to higher levels 

of achicvement in a varicty of highly compctitive industrics, cutting-edge markcts, and fast-paced cnvironments. Hc has strong business and technical qualifications with a 

track record of more than 30 ycars of hands-on cxpericnce in strategic planning, busincss development, project management, mergers and acquisitions, and partnerships. We 

believe that Mr. Greenberg’s decp cxpericncc in business, along his strong entreprencurial and executive management background, qualifics him to serve on our board. 

David M. Kaye has been a director of the Company since Junc 2019 and acted as Scerctary from December 2019 to Junc 2023. Mr. Kayc is an attorncy and has becn a 

partner in the law firm of Kaye Cooper Kay & Rosenberg, LLP, located in Roscland, New Jerscy, since the firm’s inception in February 1996. Since 1980, Mr. Kayc has been a 

practicing attorney in the New York City metropolitan arca specializing in business, corporate, and sccuritics matters. From March 2006 to Junc 2011, Mr. Kaye was a director 

of China Youth Media, Inc., resigning from such position effective with the merger between the Company with MES, Inc. which was completed in Junc 2011. From December 

2000 to October 2009, Mr. Kayc also served on the Board of Dircctors of Dionics, Inc. Mr. Kaye reccived his B.A. from Gcorge Washington University (1976) and his J.D. 

from the Benjamin N. Cardozo School of Law, Yeshiva University (1979). We bclicve that Mr. Kaye’s deep expericnce in business and transactional matters and working with 

public companics qualifics him to serve on our board. 

Troy Granthas been a director of the Company since May 2023. Mr. Grant, a graduate from St. Francis Xavier University with a Bachclor of Commerce degree, has 

extensive expcricnce in investment financing, predominantly focusing on raising significant funding across global platforms and management of strategic opcrations. For the 

past 10 ycars, his carcer has been dedicated to his role as Chicf Executive Officer (CEO) with Elcora Advanced Matcrials Corp. (TSXV: ERA). Elcora was founded in 2011 and 

has been successfully structured as a vertically integrated battery matcrial company with mining asscts in Sri Lanka and Morocco. As CEO, in addition to responsibility for the 

overall strategic operations, including exploration, busincss development and implementation of the company vision, Mr. Grant works diligently to raise cquity and advance 

asscts. Mr. Grant also currently serves as a director and member of the Audit Committee of several publicly listed companics, including Elcora Advanced Materials Corp., i3 

Intcractive Inc. (CSE: BETS), Auxly Cannabis Group Inc. (TSX: XLY), and Cleantech Power Corp. (formerly, Alkaline Fucl Cell Power Corp.) (NEO: PWWR). We bclicve 

Mr. Grant’s deep public company cxpericnee in Canada and his strong background in business and investment financing qualitics him to serve on our board. 

There are no family relationships between any of the directors and cxccutive officers of the Company. 
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Board of Directors 

The Board of Directors has a stewardship responsibility to supervise the management of and oversee the conduct of the busincss of the Company, provide leadership 

and dircction to management, cvaluate management, sct policies appropriate for the business of the Company and approve corporate strategics and goals. The day-to-day 

management of the business and affairs of the Company is delegated by the Board of Directors to the executive officers of the Company. The Board of Directors gives direction 

and guidance through the CEO to management and keeps management informed of its cvaluation of the cxccutive officcrs in achicving and complying with goals and policics 

established by the Board of Directors. 

The Board of Directors cxerciscs its independent supervision over management by its policics that (a) periodic mectings of the Board of Dircctors be held to obtain an 

update on significant corporate activitics and plans; and (b) all matcrial transactions of the Company are subjcct to prior approval of the Board of Dircctors. To facilitate open 

and candid discussion among its independent directors, such directors are encouraged to communicate with cach other dircctly to discuss ongoing issucs pertaining to the 

Company. 

Composition of Our Board of Directors 

Our Board currently consists of four members. There are no contractual obligations regarding the clection of our directors. We do not currently have a standing 

nominating committee and the functions of identifying, cvaluating, and sclecting candidates for the Board arc performed by the Board as a wholc. The Board will, from time to 

time, assesses potential candidates to fill perecived needs on the Board based on required skills, expertise, independence and other factors. In considering whether to nominate 

any particular candidate for clection to the Board, the Board uscs various critcria to cvaluate cach candidate, including the candidate’s ability to further the interest of the 

stockholders through their established record of professional accomplishment, the ability to contribute positively to the collaborative culturc among Board members, knowledge 

of our business, understanding of the competitive landscape, professional and personal cxpcricnces, and expertise rclevant to our growth strategy. The Board docs not sct 

specific minimum qualifications or assign specific weights to particular critcria and no particular critcrion is a prerequisite for a prospective nominee. Our dircctors hold office 

until their successors have been elected and qualificd or until the carlicr of their resignation or removal. 

Audit Committee 

The Audit Committce is comprised of Christopher Greenberg, David M. Kaye, and Troy Grant. The Audit Committce’s charter requires that such committee shall 

consist of no fewer than three directors. Each member of the Audit Committee shall be an independent director of the Company if requircd to satisty the independence 

requirements of any exchange on which the Company’s sccuritics may be listed and any other applicable regulatory requirements. If the Company’s sccuritics arc listed on the 

TSXYV, a majority of the members of the Audit Committce must be individuals who are not officers, employees, or control persons of the Company, or any of its associates or 

affiliates. The Audit Committcc is appointed by the Board of Dircctors to assist the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibility by reviewing the accounting and financial 

reporting processes of the Company and its subsidiarics, our internal control and disclosure control system, and the audits of our financial statements. In this regard, the Audit 

Committee shall approve our retention of independent auditors and pre-approve any audit or non-audit services performed by them. It shall review with such accountants the 

arrangements for, and the scope of, the audit to be conducted by them. It also shall review with the independent accountants and with management the results of audits and 

various other financial and accounting matters affecting us. 
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Each member of the Audit Committee must be able to read and understand fundamental financial statements, including the Company’s balance shect, income 

statement, and cash flow statement, at the time of his or her appointment to the Audit Committee. In addition, at least onc member must have past employment cxpericnee in 

finance or accounting, requisite professional certification in accounting, of any other comparable cxpcricnce or background which results in the individual’s financial 

sophistication, including being or having been a chicf cxccutive officer, chicf financial officer or other senior officer with financial oversight responsibilitics. Unless otherwise 

determined by the Board, at least onc member of the Audit Committee shall be a “financial expert”, as defined by applicable rules of the Sccuritics and Exchange Commission 

and such sccuritics exchange or market on which the Company’s sccuritics are traded. 

The full text of our audit committce charter is posted on the investor relations portion of our website at http://www.me2ccnvironmental.com. We do not incorporate the 

information contained on, or accessible through, our corporate website into this report, and you should not consider it a part of this report. 

Other Committees 

The Board of Directors has no committces at the present time other than the Audit Committee. 

Separation of CEO and Chairman Roles 

The Board docs not have a formal policy regarding the scparation of the roles of CEO and Chairman of the Board as the Board bclicves it is in the best interest of the 

Company and our stockholders to make that determination based on the position and dircction of the Company and the membership of the Board. At this time, the Board has 

determined that scparating the role of Chairman from the role of CEO is in the best interest of the Company and our stockholders. This structure permits our President and CEO 

to devote more time to focus on the strategic direction and management of our day-to-day operations. 

Risk Oversight 

It is management’s responsibility to manage risk and bring to the Board’s attention the most matcrial risks to the Company. The Board has oversight responsibility of 

the processes cstablished to report and monitor systems for material risks applicable to the Company. The full Board, or the committces, if any, appointed by the Board, shall 

regularly review enterprise-wide risk management, which includes treasury risks, financial and accounting risks, legal and compliance risks, and other risk management 

functions. 

Ethical Business Conduct 

Directors of Delaware corporations arc subject to the fiduciary dutics of care and loyalty which includes the subsidiary dutics of good faith, oversight and disclosure. 

The Board of Dircctors has found that the fiduciary dutics placed on individual directors by applicable laws and Icgal requirements have helped to ensure that the Board of 

Directors operates independently of management and in the best interests of the Company. 

In addition, the Board of Directors has adopted a written codc of cthics and business conduct (the “Code of Conduct”), which outlincs a sct of cthical standards by 

which cach director, officer and cmployce of the Company should conduct his or her business. The objective of the Code of Conduct is to provide guidclincs for maintaining 

our commitment to honesty, integrity, and cthical bchavior. The Code of Conduct addresses conflicts of interest, protection of our asscts, confidentiality, fair dealing with 

customers, supplicrs, competitors and employces, insider trading, compliance with laws, and reporting any illegal or uncthical bchavior. As part of the Code of Conduct, any 

person subject to the Code of Conduct is required to avoid or fully disclose interests or relationships that are harmful or detrimental to our best interests or that may give risc to 

real, potential, or the appcarance of conflicts of interest. Our Board of Directors will have ultimate responsibility for the stewardship of and monitoring compliance with the 

Code of Conduct. Directors, officers, and cmployces may be required periodically to review the Code of Conduct and acknowledge in writing their understanding of and 

compliance with the Code. Our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics reflects the foregoing principles. A copy of the Code of Conduct is available frec of charge to any person 

on written or telephone request to Midwest Encrgy Emissions Corp., 1810 Jester Drive, Corsicana, Texas 75109 or (614) 505-6115. 

We intend to satisfy the disclosure requirement under Item 5.05 of Form 8-K relating to amendments to or waivers from any provision of the codc of cthics and 

busincss conduct applicable to our Chicf Exccutive Officer and Chicf Financial Officer by posting such information on our website http://www.me2ccnvironmental.com. 
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Financial Experts 

The Board of Dircctors has not appointed any dircctors as “audit committee financial experts” as defined under Item 407 of Regulation S-K promulgated pursuant to 

the Securitics Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, insofar that our common stock is not presently a listed security in the United States. 

Delinquent Section 16(a) Reports 

Scction 16(a) of the Sccuritics Exchange Act of 1934 requires the Company’s dircctors and cxccutive officers, and owners of morc than ten percent of the Company’s 

Common Shares (“10% stockholders”), to file with the Securitics and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) initial reports of ownership and reports of changes in ownership of 

Common Shares of the Company. Exccutive officers, directors and 10% stockholders are required by SEC regulations to furnish the Company with copics of all forms they file 

pursuant to Section 16(a). 

To the Company’s knowledge, based on review of the copics of such reports furnished to the Company, and with respect to the officers and directors, representations 

that no other reports were required, during the year ended December 31, 2023, all Section 16(a) filing requirements applicable to its executive officers, directors and 10% 

stockholders were complicd with. 

Item 11. Executive Compensation. 

The following discussion relates to the compensation of our named exccutive officers, as determined under applicable SEC rules for smaller reporting companies like 

us, for the ycars ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, consisting of Richard MacPherson, our President and Chicf Exccutive Officcr, John Pavlish, Scnior Vicc President, and 

James Trettcl, Vicc President of Opcrations. 

Fiseal Year 2023 and 2022 Summary Compensation Table 

Stock Option All Other 

Salary Bonus Awards Awards Compensation Total 

Name and Principal Position Year (S) (S) (9 (9 (9) © (S) 
Richard MacPherson, 2023 495,000 486,667 105,314 1,086,981 
President and Chict Exccutive Officer, Director (1) 2022 411,667 - 70,667 - 39,361 521,695 

John Pavlish, 2023 415,000 - - - 38,262 453,262 
Senior Vice President (2) 2022 330,000 - - 69,838 19,100 418,938 
James Trettel, 2023 400,000 . . - 21,533 421,533 
Vice President of Operations (3) 2022 316,667 - - 159,279 17,000 492,946 

(1) Mr. MacPherson was appointed President and Chicf Exccutive Officer in March 2015. From January 1, 2017 to October 31, 2022, Mr. MacPherson’s annual base salary 

was $395,000. From November 1, 2022 to December 31, 2023, Mr. MacPherson’s annual basc salary was $495,000. Since January 1, 2024, Mr. MacPherson’s annual 

base salary has becn $745,000. Mr. MacPherson is currently employed pursuant to a three-year employment letter agreement which was entered into on January 29, 

2019, and effective January 1, 2019, which after such three-ycar term will automatically rencw for succcssive onc-ycar periods unless othcrwisc terminated by cither 

party prior to the next applicable renewal period. Mr. MacPhcrson’s base salary may be inercased trom time to time at the diserction of the Board, and Mr. MacPherson 

shall also be entitled to participate in all corporate 401(k) programs and health benefit plans instituted by the Company and be cligible to reccive bonus compensation, if 

any, as the Company shall from time to time determine. On January 14, 2024, the Board awarded Mr. MacPherson bonus compensation of $250,000. Mr. MacPherson 

shall also be entitled to participate in any stock option and incentive plans adopted by the Company. During 2022, Mr. MacPherson was granted a retention stock bonus 

award in the amount of 3,000,000 shares of common stock. Such award was granted on November 8, 2022. So long as Mr. MacPherson remains in the continuous 

employ of the Company, the shares shall vest according to the following: 25.0% shall vest six months from the date of grant, and another 25.0% shall vest on cach 

subscquent six-month anniversary of the date of grant so that the stock award is fully vested two ycars from the date of grant. Any unvested sharcs shall be forfeited 

immediately when Mr. MacPherson is no longer in the continuous employ of the Company, unless duc to death, disability or a change in control. 
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(2) Mr. Pavlish was appointed Senior Vicc President in November 2014. The Company and Mr. Pavlish entered into an cmployment agreement effective as of November 16, 

2014. Pursuant to his employment agrecment, Mr. Pavlish agreed to be employed by the Company as Senior Vice President. From January 1, 2017 to December 31, 

2022, Mr. Pavlish’s annual basc salary was $330,000. From January 1, 2023 to December 31, 2023, Mr. Pavlish’s annual base salary was $415,000. Since January 1, 

2024, Mr. Pavlish’s annual basc salary has been $480,000. Mr. Pavlish’s base salary may bc increased from time to time at the discretion of the Board, and Mr. Pavlish 

shall also be entitled to participate in all corporate 401(k) programs and health benefit plans instituted by the Company and be cligible to reccive bonus compensation, if 

any, as the Company shall from time to time determine. On January 14, 2024, the Board awarded Mr. Pavlish bonus compensation of $50,000. Mr. Pavlish shall also be 

entitled to participate in any stock option and incentive plans adopted by the Company. During 2022, Mr. Pavlish was granted a five-year nonqualificd stock option to 

acquire 500,000 shares of common stock cxercisable at $0.21 per share. 

(3) Mr. Trettcel was appointed Vice President of Operations in January 2014. Mr. Trettcl is also entitled to participate in all corporate 401(k) programs and health benefit 

plans instituted by the Company and is cligible to reccive bonus compensation, if any, as the Company shall from time to time determine. From January 1, 2017 to 

October 31, 2022, Mr. Trettcl’s annual base salary was $300,000. From November 1, 2022 to December 31, 2023, Mr. Trettel’s annual bascd salary was $400,000. Since 

January 1, 2024, Mr. Trettel’s annual basc salary has been $500,000. On January 14, 2024, the Board awarded Mr. Trettcl bonus compensation of $100,000. Mr. 

Trettel’s base salary may be inercased from time to time at the discretion of the Board, and Mr. Trettcl is also entitled to participate in any stock option and incentive 

plans adopted by the Company. During 2022, Mr. Trettcl was granted a five-ycar nonqualificd stock option to acquire 500,000 sharcs of common stock exercisable at 

$0.21 per share. 

(4) — Represents the dollar amount recognized for consolidated financial statement reporting purposcs of restricted stock awards and stock option awards granted to the 

executive officers computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. For a discussion of valuation assumptions, sce Note 12 to our consolidated financial statements 

included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023. The dollar amount shown in the “Stock Awards” column for Mr. MacPherson 

reflects the grant date fair valucs recognized in 2022 and 2023 for the retention stock award granted in November 2022 which is subjcct to a vesting schedule. The full 

amount for the entire grant is reflected in the table below. The dollar amounts shown in the “Option Awards” column for Mr. Pavlish and Mr. Trettel reflect the grant 

date fair valuc recognized for stock options granted in 2022 plus the compensation expensc associated with the extension of the expiration datcs of certain stock options 

which extensions were authorized in January 2022. There can be no assurance the amounts determined in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718 will ever be realized. 

The following table provides information concerning the restricted stock awards and stock options granted to the cxccutive officers: 

FASB FASB FASB 

ASC ASC Extension ASC 

Stock Topic Stock Topic of Stock Topic 

Awards 718 Value Options 718 Value Options 718 Value 

Name Year (#) ($) (#) ($) (#) ($) 

Richard MacPherson 2023 - - - - - - 

2022 3,000,000 960,0000 - - - - 

John Pavlish 2023 - - - - - - 

2022 - - 500,000 59,900 50,000 9,938 

James Trettel 2023 - - - - - - 

2022 - - 500,000 59,900 500,000 99,379 

(5) | The amounts shown for 2023 and 2022 in the “All Other Compensation” column are compriscd of the following: 
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Perquisites and 

Life Insurance Auto Allowance Other Benefits 

Name Year 401k Match ($) Premiums ($) ($) (gy 

Richard MacPherson 2023 - 56,350 28,155 20,809 

2022 - - 25,809 13,552 

John Pavlish 2023 13,047 - - 25,215 

2022 12,200 - - 6,900 

James Trettel 2023 15,533 - - 6,000 

2022 12,200 - - 4,800 

(1) — The amount for cach of Messrs. MacPherson, Pavlish and Trettcl includes $6,000 for a home office allowance in 2023 and $4,800 for a home office allowance in 2022. 

The amount for cach of Messrs. MacPherson and Pavlish in 2023 also includes $14,809 and $5,075, respectively, for medical expense rcimburscment in 2023 and $8,752 

and $2,100, respectively, for medical expense reimbursement in 2022. In addition, the amount for Mr. Pavlish in 2023 includcs a gross up for taxcs of $14,140 in 

connection with the exercise of stock options. 

Outstanding Equity Awards as of December 31, 2023 

The following table scts forth certain information about the number of uncxerciscd nonqualificd stock options and uncarned stock awards held as of December 31, 

2023 by cach executive named in the Summary Compensation Table. There were no stock options cxercised during fiscal 2023 by such exccutives. 

Option Awards Stock Awards 

Number of Number of 

securities securities Number of Market value of 

underlying underlying shares or units shares of units 

unexercised unexercised options Option Option of stock that or stock that 

options (#) (#) Exercise Price Expiration have not vested have not vested 

Name exercisable unexercisable ($) Date [tia] ($) (1) 

Richard MacPherson 250,000 0.81 06/28/2024 1,500,000 1,380,000 

750,000 1.20 06/28/2024 - - 

1,500,000 0.27 06/28/2024 - - 

500,000 0.19 07/08/2025 - - 

500,000 0.58 12/14/2025 - - 

750,000 0.78 11/22/2026 - - 

John Pavlish 2,000,000 0.74 06/28/2024 - - 

1,000,000 0.45 06/28/2024 - - 

50,000 1.15 02/10/2027 - - 

600,000 0.27 06/28/2024 - - 

500,000 0.19 07/08/2025 - - 

500,000 0.58 12/14/2025 - - 

500,000 0.78 11/22/2026 - - 

500,000 0.21 05/3 1/2027 - - 

James Trettel 250,000 0.42 06/28/2024 - - 

500,000 1.15 02/10/2027 - - 

1,000,000 0.27 06/28/2024 - - 

500,000 0.19 07/08/2025 - - 

500,000 0.58 12/14/2025 - - 

500,000 0.78 11/22/2026 - - 

500,000 0.21 05/3 1/2027 - - 

(1) The market valuc of the stock awards that have not vested is calculated using the closing price of $0.92 of our common stock on December 29, 2023, the last trading day 

of 2023. 
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Other Bencfits 

Our executive officers arc cligible to participate in all of our employce benefit plans, such as medical and dental, our cmploycc stock purchase plan, and our 401(k) 

plan, in cach casc on the samc basis as other employces, subject to applicable law, should such bencfits cxist. Our 401(k) plan allows cligible employccs to defer a portion of 

their compensation before federal income tax to a qualificd trust. All employces who arc at lcast 21 ycars of age are cligible to participate in the 401(k) plan. The participants 

may choose from ninctccn investment options for the investment of their deferred compensation. In addition, we match 100% of cach participant’s salary deferral, for the first 

4% of their salary, with a cash contribution. For the ycars ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, we contributed $55,487 and $61,678, respectively, to the 401(\) plan. We also 

provide vacation and other paid holidays to all employces, including our cxccutive officers, which are comparable to those provided at peer companics. Certain other 

perquisites and benefits are provided to our cxccutive officers as reflected in the tables above. 

Policies Regarding Recovery of Awards 

Our board has not adopted a policy that requires us to make retroactive adjustments to any cash or cquity-bascd incentive compensation paid to cxccutive officers (or 

others) where the payment was predicated upon the achicvement of financial results that were subsequently the subject of a restatement. However, we may implement a 

clawback policy in accordance with the requirements of the Dodd-Frank Wall Strect Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010 and the regulations that will be issucd under 

that act. 

Tax and Accounting Treatment of Compensation 

Scction 162(m) of the Internal Revenuc Code places a limit of $1.0 million per person on the amount of compensation that we may deduct in any one year with 

respect to our Chicf Exccutive Officer and certain of our other cxccutive officers. Whilc the board of directors considers deductibility factors when making compensation 

decisions, the board also looks at other considerations, such as providing our cxccutive officers with compctitive and adequate incentives to remain with us and increase our 

busincss operations, financial performance, and prospects, as well as rewarding extraordinary contributions. 

We account for cquity compensation paid to our employces under the rules of FASB ASC Topic 718, which requircs us to estimate and record an cxpensc for cach 

award of cquity compensation over the service period of the award. Accounting rulcs also require us to record cash compensation as an expense at the time the obligation is 

accrucd. We have not tailored our cxccutive compensation program to achicve particular accounting results. 

Policies on Ownership, Insider Trading, Hedging, and 10b5-1 Plans 

We do not have formal stock ownership guidclincs for our cmployces or directors, because the board of dircctors is satisficd that stock and option holdings among our 

cemployces or directors, arc sufficicnt at this time to provide motivation and to align this group’s intercsts with those of our stockholders. In addition, we belicve that stock 

ownership guidclines are rarc in companics at our stage, which means that owncrship requirements would put us at a compctitive disadvantage when recruiting and retaining 

high-quality cxecutives. 
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We have established an insider trading policy which provides guidclines to officers, directors and cmployccs with respect to transactions in the Company’s sccuritics. 

The Company’s insider trading policy prohibits certain actions by such individuals rclating to buying and sclling common stock of the Company, and discourages certain other 

actions in other situations. Such individuals are authorized to cnter into trading plans cstablished according to Scction 10b5-1 of the Exchange Act with an independent brokcr- 

dealer. Under these plans, the individual must not exercise any influcncc over the amount of the sccuritics to be traded, the price at which they arc to be traded or the date of the 

trade. The plan must cither specify the amount, pricing and timing of transactions in advance or delegate discretion on these matters to an independent third party. Such plans 

provide a defense from insider trading liability. As of December 31, 2023, no director or named cxccutive officer had a trading plan in place. 

Stockholder Advisory Vote on Executive Compensation 

Our Company held an advisory vote on exccutive compensation in 2023 and intends to take such action annually. The Board intends to periodically reevaluate our 

executive compensation philosophy and practices in light of our performance, necds and devclopments, including the outcome of future non-binding advisory votcs by our 

stockholders. 

Director Compensation Table for Year Ended Deeember 31, 2023 

The following table scts forth information regarding the compensation for 2023 of cach non-cxecutive member of the board of directors: 

Fees 
Earned Stock Option 

or Paid in Awards Awards 

Name Cash ($) (gy) (9) Total ($) 
Christopher Greenberg 100,000 - - 100,000. 

David M. Kaye - - - - 

Troy Grant 37,500 - 30,527 68,027 

(1) — Represents the aggregate grant date fair value computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. For a discussion of valuation assumptions, sce Notc 10 to our 

consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023. There can be no assurance the amounts 

determined in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718 will ever be realized. The following table provides information concerning the stock options granted to the 

Directors for 2023: 

Stock FASB ASC 
Name Options (#) Topic 718 Value 

Christopher Greenberg - - 

David M. Kaye - - 

Troy Grant 125,000(1) 30,527 

(1) On May 26, 2023, Mr. Grant was granted a non-qualificd stock option to acquire 125,000 shares of the Company’s common stock exercisable at $0.41 per share, 

representing the fair market valuc of the common stock as of the date of grant. Fifty percent of the option shall vest and become cxercisable on November 26, 2023 and 

the remaining fifty percent shall vest and become exercisable on May 26, 2024. The option will expire five ycars after the date of grant. 

For 2023, Mr. Greenberg’s compensation for serving as Chairman of the Board was $100,000. As of December 31, 2023, $50,000 of Mr. Greenberg’s cash 

compensation remained unpaid. Mr. Kaye was not paid any cash compensation for scrvice on the Board in 2023. Troy Grant, who was appointed to the Board on May 26, 

2023, was paid $37,500 for his service on the Board during 2023. All directors are reimbursed for their reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with their 

dutics to the Company. 
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Effective as of January 1, 2024, Mr. Greenberg shall be paid $150,000 per ycar for serving as Chairman of the Board, and cach of Mr. Kaye and Mr. Grant shall be 

paid $75,000 annually for serving on the Board. 

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters. 

The following table scts forth certain information known to us regarding beneficial ownership of our common stock as April 16, 2024 by: 

cach person or group of affiliated persons known by us to be the beneficial owner of more than five percent of our capital stock; 

cach of our named ecxccutive officers; 

cach of our directors; and 

all of our cxccutive officers and directors as a group. 

The column entitled “Percentage of Shares Bencticially Owned” is calculated based on 94,369,392 shares of common stock outstanding as of April 16, 2024. 

We have determined beneficial ownership in accordance with the rules of the SEC, and the information is not necessarily indicative of bencficial ownership for any 

other purpose. Thesc rules generally attribute bencficial ownership of sccuritics to persons who possess solc or shared voting power or investment power with respect to those 

sccuritics as well as any shares of common stock that the person has the right to acquire within 60 days of April 16, 2024 through the exercise of stock options or other rights. 

These shares are deemed to be outstanding and bencficially owned by the person holding thosc options for the purpose of computing the percentage owncrship of that person, 

but they arc not treated as outstanding for the purposc of computing the percentage ownership of any other person. Unless otherwise indicated, the persons or entitics identified 

in this table have sole voting and investment power with respect to all shares shown as bencficially owned by them. 

Except as otherwise noted below, the address for persons listed in the table is c/o the Company at 1810 Jester Drive, Corsicana, Texas 75109. 

Number of Percentage of 

Shares Shares 

Beneficially Beneficially 

Name of Beneficial Owner Owned Owned (8) 

Richard MacPherson 16,367,947(1) 16.55% 

Christopher Greenberg 6,230,533(2) 6.55% 

John Pavlish 6,847,243(3) 6.84% 

James Trettel 4,286,935(4) 4.36% 

David M. Kaye 750,356(5) a 

Troy Grant 275,000(6) * 

Altera Core Capital Asscts Fund II, L.P., ct al 9,300,000(7) 9.85% 

All current directors and exccutive officers as a group (7 persons) 34,783,014 31.61% 

42



(1) 

(2) 

(G3) 

(4) 

(5) 

(6) 

(7) 

(8) 

Less than onc percent of the outstanding sharcs of common stock of the Company. 

Includes 11,817,947 shares owned by Mr. MacPherson and 4,550,000 shares which Mr. MacPherson has the right to acquire upon exercisc of options. 3,000,000 of such 

sharcs owned by Mr. MacPherson were issucd to him pursuant to a rctention stock bonus award granted on November 8, 2022. So long as Mr. MacPherson remains in the 

continuous employ of the Company, the sharcs shall vest according to the following: 25.0% shall vest six months from the date of grant, and another 25.0% shall vest on 

cach subsequent six-month anniversary of the date of grant so that the stock award is fully vested two ycars trom the date of grant. Any unvested sharcs shall be forfeited 

immediately when Mr. MacPherson is no longer in the continuous employ of the Company, unless duc to death, disability or a change in control. 

Includes 5,422,533 shares owned by Mr. Greenberg, 5,000 shares owned by Mr. Greenberg with his wife, 3,000 shares owned by Mr. Greenberg’s wife, and 800,000 

shares which Mr. Greenberg has the right to acquire upon excercise of options. 

Includes 1,097,243 sharcs owned by Mr. Pavlish and 5,750,000 sharcs which Mr. Pavlish has the right to acquire upon excercise of options. 

Includes 136,935 sharcs owned by Mr. Trettcl, 200,000 owned by Mr. Trettcl’s wife, and 3,950,000 sharcs which Mr. Trettcl has the right to acquire upon exercise of 

options. 

Includes 275,356 sharcs owned by Mr. Kaye and 475,000 sharcs which Mr. Kayc has the right to acquire upon exercise of options. 

Includes 150,000 shares owned by Mr. Grant and 125,000 shares which Mr. Grant has the right to acquire upon exercise of options. Docs not include 50,000 sharcs 

underlying 50,000 restricted share units (“RSUs”) which will vest onc ycar from the date of grant on January 15, 2025. 

Represents 9,300,000 sharcs owned and based solcly upon and according to information reported in filings made to the SEC, jointly filed by and on behalf of certain 

reporting persons identificd below (thc “Reporting Persons”). The Reporting Persons arc Alterna Core Capital Asscts Fund II, L.P., Altcrna Capital Partners LLC, 

Altera Gencral Partner II LLC, AC Midwest Energy LLC, Eric M. Press, Roger P. Miller, and Earle Goldin. The address for the Reporting Persons is 10 Corporate 

Drive, Suite 2204, Bedford, NH 03110. 

Applicable percentage ownership for cach stockholder is bascd on 94,369,392 sharcs of common stock outstanding as of April 16, 2024 plus any sccuritics that 

stockholder has the right to acquire within 60 days of April 16, 2024 pursuant to options, warrants, conversion privileges, or other rights. Bencficial ownership is 

determined in accordance with the rules of the Securitics and Exchange Commission and generally includes voting or investment power with respect to sccuritics. Shares 

of common stock that a person has the right to acquire benctficial ownership of upon the exercise or conversion of options, convertible stock, warrants, or other sccuritics 

that arc currently exercisable or convertible or that will become exercisable or convertible within 60 days of April 16, 2024 are decmed to be bencticially owned by the 

person holding such sccuritics for the purpose of computing the percentage of ownership of such person, but are not treated as outstanding for the purpose of computing 

the percentage ownership of any other person. 

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence. 

Other than the compensation agrcements and other arrangements described under Item 11. Exccutive Compensation and the transactions described below, since 

January 1, 2023, there has not been and there is not currently proposed, any transaction or scrics of similar transactions to which we were, or will be, a party in which the 

amount involved exceeded, or will excced, the lesser of (i) $120,000 or (ii) onc percent of the average of our total asscts for the last two completed 

any director, executive officer, holder of five percent or morc of any class of our capital stock, or any member of the immediate family of, or cntitics afi 

years, and in which 

iated with, any of the 

foregoing persons, had, or will have, a direct or indircct material interest. 
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On February 27, 2024, we entered into an Unsecured Debt Restructuring Agreement (the “Debt Restructuring Agreement”) with AC Midwest Energy LLC (“AC 

Midwest”) which replaced and superseded the Unsecured Note Financing Agreement and Reaffirmation of Guaranty entered into with AC Midwest on February 25, 2019, as 

amended on October 28, 2022 (the “Unsecured Note Financing Agreement”). 

Pursuant to the Unsccured Note Financing Agrcement, prior to February 27, 2024, AC Midwest was the holder of an unsccured note with a principal amount 

outstanding of $13,154,930.61 which was issued on February 25, 2019 (the “Unsecured Note”). The Unsecured Note was scheduled to mature on August 25, 2025 and bears a 

zero cash interest rate. Pursuant to the Unsecured Note Financing Agreement, AC Midwest was also entitled to a “non-recourse” profit participation preference cqual to 

$17,654,930.60 (the “Profit Share”). Prior to maturity, the outstanding principal, as well as the Profit Share, were to be paid from Net Litigation Procceds from claims relating 
to the Company’s intcllectual property, Net Revenuc Share, Adjusted Free Cash Flow and Equity Offering Net Proceeds (as such terms are defined in the Unsecured Note 

Financing Agreement). Any remaining principal balance duc on the Unsccured Note would be duc and payable in full on the maturity date. The Profit Share, however, if not 

paid in full on or before the maturity date would remain subject to the Unsecured Note Financing Agreement until full and final payment. 

Prior to February 27, 2024, there also remained outstanding to AC Midwest a principal balance of $271,686.10 duc under a secured noted of the Company issued on 

November 29, 2016 in the original principal amount of $9,646,686, which had a maturity date of August 25, 2025 (the “Sccured Note”). The Sccured Note had been issued 

pursuant to an Amended and Restated Financing Agreement and Reatfirmation of Guaranty, dated as of November 1, 2016, as amended on Junc 14, 2018, September 12, 2019, 

February 25, 2019 and October 28, 2022 (the “Restated Financing Agreement”). 

Pursuant to the Debt Restructuring Agreement, on February 27, 2024, we (i) paid AC Midwest $9,040,000 as a reduction in the outstanding principal balance of the 

Unsecured Note, (ii) issued to AC Midwest a new unsecured replacement note representing the remaining outstanding principal balance of the Unsccured Note in the principal 

amount of $4,114,930.60 (the “New Note”), and (iii) paid AC Midwest $275,625.55 representing the remaining principal balance under the Secured Note of $271,686.10 plus 

interest of $3,939.45. In addition, within 30 days, we would cither facilitate the private sale to third parties of certain shares of common stock of the Company held by AC 

Midwest for a purchase price of no less than $960,000, which amount shall be applicd as a ercdit against the principal balance duc on the New Note dollar for dollar, or pay AC 

Midwest $960,000 toward the principal balance duc on the New Note. The private sale of shares for the purchasc price of $960,000 was completed on March 11, 2024. Any 

remaining principal balance on the New Note shall be duc August 27, 2024 (the “Maturity Date”), which is six months from February 27, 2024. Until repaid in full, the New 

Note shall accrue interest at a rate cqual to SOFR plus 2.0% per annum. The New Note completely replaces and supersedes the Unsecured Note, which shall be of no further 

force and effect. 

In addition, pursuant to the Debt Restructuring Agreement, AC Midwest shall be cntitled to a profit participation preference cqual to $7,900,000 (the “Restructured 

Profit Share”). The Restructured Profit Share is “non-recourse” and shall only be paid trom Net Litigation Procceds (as defined in the Debt Restructuring Agreement) from 

claims relating to our intellectual property. Following the reccipt of any Net Litigation Proceeds, we shall prepay any remaining principal balance of the New Note and pay the 

Restructured Profit Share in an amount cqual to 75.0% of such Net Litigation Proceeds until the New Note and Restructured Profit Share have been paid in full. The 

Restructured Profit Share completely replaces and supersedes the terms and conditions of the Profit Share in the amount of $17,654,930.60 provided for in the Unsecured Note 

Financing Agreement, which shall be of no further force and cffect. The Restructured Profit Share, if not paid in full on or before the Maturity Date, shall remain subjcct to the 

terms of the Debt Restructuring Agreement. 

In addition to facilitating the private sale to third partics as described above, AC Midwest has granted the Company the cxclusive right until December 31, 2024 to 

facilitate the salc of all or a portion of the remaining balancc of the shares of common stock of the Company held by AC Midwest, which proceeds above a certain amount will 

be applicd as a credit against the Restructured Profit Share dollar for dollar. 

As a result of the repayment of the remaining principal balance under the Secured Debt, we and AC Midwest exccuted a Satisfaction and Discharge of Secured Debt 

confirming the canccllation of the Secured Note and that all of the obligations under the Restated Financing Agreement have been fully satisficd and discharged. 

AC Midwest beneficially owns, or controls or directs, directly or indirectly, 9.86% of the outstanding shares of our common stock. 

44



Kaye Cooper Kay & Rosenberg, LLP provides certain legal services to the Company and was paid $393,111 for the ycar ended December 31, 2023 for legal services 

rendered. David M. Kaye, a Director of the Company, is a partner of the law firm. 

On January 31, 2023, we entered into a License and Supply Agreement with Dakin Holdings Ltd., a company incorporated in Barbados (“Dakin”), cffective as of 

January 1, 2023 (the “Dakin Agreement”), pursuant to which Dakin has granted to the Company (i) a limited license to manufacture and produce for Dakin products (the “Dakin 

Products”) comprising certain intellectual property owned by Dakin as described bclow (the “Dakin IP”), and (ii) an cxclusive license to commercialize the Dakin IP in the 

United States. Dakin is a company owncd and controlled by Richard MacPherson, the Company’s Chicf Exccutive Officer and President. The Dakin Agrecment is for a term of 

ten years unless terminated carlicr under certain circumstances as sect forth therein. Under the Dakin Agreement, Dakin shall purchase from the Company 100% of Dakin’s 

requirements for the Dakin Products containing the Dakin IP for all sales of the Dakin Products outside of the United Statcs, subject to the availability of the products from the 

Company, at a pricing formula sct forth in the Dakin Agreement. The Company shall pay Dakin a license fee of $12,500 per month for a three-ycar period commencing as of 

the effective date, and pay Dakin a royalty on all salcs of the Dakin Products made by the Company in the United States. The Company has also agreed to provide Dakin with 

technical support as requested by Dakin at such technical support rates sct forth in the Dakin Agrecment subject to adjustment. The Dakin IP consists of a proprictary compound 

of materials cngincered to treat a boiler to improve the combustion process and thereby reducc overall cmissions, whilc improving boiler cfficicncy during the combustion of all 

types of fucls at power plants. 

Director Independence 

The Board consists of four members, three of whom are viewed as being independent within the meaning of Canadian National Instrument 58-101 —Disclosure of 

Corporate Governance Practices (“NI 58-101”). For this purpose, a director is independent if he or she has no direct or indirect “material relationship” with the Company, as 

defined in NI 58-101. A “material relationship” is a relationship which could, in the view of the Board, be reasonably cxpcected to interfere with the exercise of the dircctor’s 

independent judgment. An individual who has been an employce or executive officer of the Company within the last three years is considered to have a material relationship 

with the Company. Christopher Greenberg, David M. Kaye and Troy Grant arc independent for the purposes of NI 58-101. Richard MacPherson is not independent for the 

purposes of NI 58-101 as he is also an executive officer of the Company. 

In addition, although our sccuritics are not listed on any U.S. national sccuritics exchange, the Board has also determined that Christopher Greenberg, David M. Kaye 

and Troy Grant qualify as independent within the meaning of Scction 303A.02 of the NYSE Listed Company Manual. 

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services. 

Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm’s Fees 

The following table scts forth the fees billed or billable by Rosenberg Rich Baker Berman, P.A., our principal accountants effective as of Scptember 11, 2023, and 

Marcum LLP, our former principal accountants, for audit and non-audit services rendered to us relating to 2023 and 2022. These fecs are categorized as audit fecs, audit-rclated 

feces, tax fecs, and all other feces. The nature of the services provided in cach category is described following the table. 

Year Ended December 31, 

2023 2022 

Principal Accounting Fees 

‘Audit fees (1) $ 233,151 $ 178,870 
Audit-rclated fecs (2) $ 12,875 $ 0 

Tax fees $ 0 $ 0 

All other fees $ 0 $ 0 

Total aggregate fecs $ 246,026 $ 178,870 
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(1) ~~ The aggregate audit fecs billed or expected to be billed for professional services rendered by Rosenberg Rich Baker Berman, P.A., our principal accountants cffective as 

of Scptember 11, 2023, for the audit of our consolidated financial statements included in our annual rcport on Form 10-K and review of our intcrim consolidated 

financial statements included in quarterly reports, and other scrviccs normally provided in connection with statutory and regulatory filings was $131,000 for the ycar 

ended December 31, 2023. The aggregate audit fecs billed for professional services rendered by Marcum LLP, our former principal accountants, for the audit of our 

consolidated financial statements included in our annual report on Form 10-K and review of our intcrim consolidated financial statements included in quarterly reports, 

and other services normally provided in connection with statutory and regulatory filings was $102,151 and $178,870 for the years cnded December 31, 2023 and 2022, 

respectively. 

(2) The aggregate fecs billed for audit-related professional services rendered by Marcum LLP consisting of work performed in connection with transitioning of auditors and 

review of workpapers was $12,875 for the ycar ended December 31, 2023. 

All fees described above were pre-approved by the Board. 

Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures of the Audit Committee 

The audit committee has not sct any pre-approval policics and procedures as of December 31, 2023. 
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PART IV 

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules. 

(a) The financial statements identified bclow and required by Part IL, Item 8 of this Form 10-K arc sct forth above. 

(1) Financial Statements 

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firms 

Consolidated Balance Shect as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 

Consolidated Statements of Opcrations for Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit) for Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for Ycars Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

(2) Financial Statement Schedules 

All other schedules have been omitted becausc of the absence of the conditions under which they are required or becausc the required information, where material, is shown in 

the financial statements or the notes thereto. 

(3) Exhibits. 

Incorporated by 

Filed Reference 

Exhibit Description Herewith Form Filing Date 

3.1 Certificate of Incorporation and amendments thercto through November 25, 2014 10-K 03/20/2015 

3.2 Amended and Restated By-laws 8-K 03/20/2015 

4.1 Description of Sccuritics 10-K 05/14/2020 

10.1 Closing Agreement by and among Midwest Energy Emissions Corp., MES, Inc. and Energy & 10-Q 08/21/2017 

Environmental Rescarch Center Foundation cffective as of April 21, 2017 

10.2 Assignment of Patents by and between Energy & Environmental Rescarch Center Foundation and 10-Q 08/21/2017 

Midwest Energy Emissions Corp. dated April 24, 2017 

10.3 Amended and Restated Employment Letter Agreement between Richard MacPherson and Midwest 10-K 04/11/2019 

Encrgy Emissions Corp. dated January 29, 2019 

10.4 Employment Agreement between John Pavlish and Midwest Encrgy Emissions Corp. dated November 8-K 11/20/2014 

16, 2014 
10.5 Repurchase Option Agreement between Midwest Encrgy Emissions Corp. and AC Midwest Energy 8-K 11/02/2022 

LLC dated as of October 28, 2022 

10.6 License and Supply Agrecment among Dakin Holdings Ltd., Midwest Energy Emissions Corp. and 8-K 02/03/2023 

MES, Inc. dated as of January 31, 2023 

10.7 Midwest Energy Emissions Corp. Amended and Restated 2014 Equity Incentive Plan 8-K 07/06/2023 

10.8 Midwest Energy Emissions Corp. Amended and Restated 2017 Equity Incentive Plan 8-K 07/06/2023 

10.9 Form of Option Award Agreement (2017 Equity Incentive Plan) 10-K 04/17/2018 

10.10 Unsecured Debt Restructuring Agreement among Midwest Encrgy Emissions Corp., MES, Inc. and AC 8-K 03/04/2024 

Midwest Energy LLC dated as of February 27, 2024 

10.11 Unsecured Replacement Note dated February 27, 2024 8-K 03/04/2024 

10.12 Satisfaction and Discharge of Secured Debt among Midwest Energy Emissions Corp., MES, Inc. and 8-K 03/04/2024 

AC Midwest Energy LLC dated as of February 27, 2024 

14.1 Code of Ethics 10-K 05/15/2023 
21.1 Subsidiarics of the registrant 10-K 04/11/2019 

31.1 Certification by Principal Executive Officer, required by Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the 

Exchange Act 

31.2 Certification by Principal Financial Officer, required by Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the 

Exchange Act 

32.1 Certification by Principal Exccutive Officer, required by Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) of the 

Exchange Act and Scction 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code 

32.2 Certification by Principal Financial Officer, required by Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) of the 

Exchange Act and Scction 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code 

101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document 

101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document 

101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbasc Document 

101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document 

101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbasc Document 

101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document 

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101) 

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary. 

None. 
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SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Sccuritics Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly causcd this report to be signed on its bchalf by the 

undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 

MIDWEST ENERGY EMISSIONS CORP. 

Date: April 16, 2024 By: /s/ Richard MacPherson 

Richard MacPherson 

President and Chicf Exccutive Officer 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Sccuritics Exchange Act of 1934, this report has becn signed below by the following persons on bchalf of the registrant and in the capacity 

and on the dates indicated. 

Signature Title Date 

/s/ Richard MacPherson President, Chicf Exccutive Officer April 16, 2024 

Richard MacPherson and Dircetor (Principal Executive Officer) 

/s/ Fiona Fitzmaurice Chicf Financial Officer April 16, 2024 

Fiona Fitzmaurice (Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer) 

/s/ Christopher Greenberg Chairman of the Board and Dircctor April 16, 2024 

Christopher Greenberg 

/s/ David M. Kaye Director April 16, 2024 

David M. Kaye 

/s/ Troy Grant Director April 16, 2024 

Troy Grant 
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CORPORATE INFORMATION 

Directors 

Christopher Greenberg 

(Chairman of the Board) 

Founder, Greenberg Enterprises 

David M. Kaye 

Partner, Kaye Cooper Kay & Rosenberg, 

LLP 

Officers 

Richard MacPherson 

President and Chief Executive Officer 

James Trettel 

Executive Vice President of Operations 

Richard MacPherson 

President and Chief Executive Officer, 

Birchtech Corp. 

Troy Grant 

Chief Executive Officer, Elcora Advanced 

Materials Corp. 

John Pavlish 

Senior Vice President and 

Chief Technology Officer 

Fiona Fitzmaurice 

Chief Financial Officer 

Stockholder Information 

Availability of Proxy Statement and Form 10-K 

The Proxy Statement and the Annual Report on Form 

10-K are available at Birchtech Corp.’s website at 

www.birchtech.com and at the SEC’s website at 
www.sec.gov. Additional copies of the Proxy 

Statement or the Form 10-K may be obtained without 

charge by written request to Birchtech Corp., 1810 

Jester Drive, Corsicana, Texas 75109, Attention: 

Secretary. 

Market Information for Common Stock 

Birchtech Corp. Common Stock is traded in Canada 

on the Toronto Stock Exchange under the symbol 

“BCHT” and is quoted in the United States on the 

OTCQB operated by OTC Markets Group Inc. under 

the symbol “BCHT”. 

Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

Rosenberg Rich Baker Berman, P.A. 

Somerset, NJ 

Annual Meeting of Stockholders 

The annual meeting will be held on Monday, December 

30, 2024, at 10:00 a.m. Eastern Time virtually via the 

internet. The meeting notice and proxy materials were 

mailed to stockholders with this Annual Report. 

Birchtech Corp.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the 

fiscal year ended December 31, 2023 is included within 

this Annual Report. 

Transfer Agent for Common Stock 

Transfer Online, Inc., Portland, OR 

TSX Trust Company (Co-Transfer Agent in Canada), 

Toronto, ON, Canada
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